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ABOUT MINMETALS LAND

R 7 . B

Minmetals Land Limited is a subsidiary and the sole listed
real estate flagship of China Minmetals Corporation in
Hong Kong. Minmetals Land Limited’s principal business
includes real estate development, specialised construction
and property investment. Currently, its real estate
development business covers the Pan Bohai Rim, Yangtze
River Delta, Central China Region, Chengdu-Chongqging
Region and Pearl River Delta (including Hong Kong).
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

CORPORATE INFORMATION
2w B R

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. He Jianbo — Chairman

Mr. Liu Bo — Managing Director

Mr. Chen Xingwu — Deputy Managing Director
Mr. Yang Shangping — Deputy Managing Director

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. He Xiaoli
Mr. Huang Guoping

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny
Professor Wang Xiuli

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Yiu Yu Cheung (appointed on 14 June 2024)
Mr. Cheng Ka Hang, Francis (resigned on 14 June 2024)

LEGAL ADVISOR
Norton Rose Fulbright Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27th Floor, One Taikoo Place,

979 King's Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Company, Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

Chong Hing Bank Limited

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

China Zheshang Bank Company, Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Industrial Bank Company, Limited

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716,

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen'’s Road East,

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Victoria Place,

5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM 10,

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower,
79 Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: 2613 6363

Fax: 2581 9823

Email: info@minmetalsland.com

WEBSITE

http://www.minmetalsland.com

006

5B
MBI

£ gt
ML) S ol

ﬂH?H-
an
i
et

8
E

L3

+

Fhgae
Ex=gmgs
ERRmEE

\!
/

== IS

s
R
it

B
<t

S 5

B

it B

29

b
H_

M B=r
TR
Wyl
RE Y
o — i

Bhom HEHE
o

B
it
i

7|

<t

¥

St

S
=

D IR 18>

2ZE

8k
ol

| ey

B
San

S
|
4

|, %mﬁiﬁiﬁ'ﬁ:ﬁ}
Do /[ X
i
Rl

H
e
HEFR
%
S
=i
R TRNN
3

B > st
ol

i
o
o
e[

Rapelpen
I
el

B

B B4
S H B S B

i OB IDNE
1>

b2 > e

N
>

S|

08 8 DI S5

SN
ol 04 20 2]

(]
—~
FH
=%

5 5B RS S BB 5
i
B
el

e B0 o 2
SN AN N A T AN
I

N
>

mﬁﬁgi
e
ﬁ)lf\m S
mefil @t
Bhione v
attt
=)
™
o

BT
7 ik R

8
[0}
w

D M H TH

SH
]
~
b

-

1

NEI716E

EMMEE
Victoria Place,
5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,

Hamilton HM 10,

~

Bermuda
ERATEEXE
BENEE

R ERRE R 7957

B AR ARE 1818

EEE 2613 6363

{E& : 2581 9823

BE : info@minmetalsland.com

484t

http://www.minmetalsland.com



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
25 i

REVENUE TOTAL ASSETS (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
PN EE®ATE FE (BB %A
- < e :
i - 9.882,9: 53 41,03] : E - 357)
E ¢ o o’ ™ s E % ] /
o S 12,630,739 S 53,575,153 o S (525,686)
a4 3 - / 2 - / [ap 7 ” f
~cm / ~ / ~cm /
R E T g 5 R o ; RET B ;
$0 g 4 S 10,064,529 #0 8 S 67,387,025 $0 S 4 s (1,360,224)
H sl g - §|+| oAl
T E 7 Z & . %7 5T P
g.l & 12885638 Som 8 77,173,244 syl 78 : ..A31,so7
2Ty Ve C s+ . 2Ty by
S oy - / L 2% S S N S o Z /
S 7,661,646 S 68,387,737 =) 437,340
\_ {47/ 7 \_ {47/ 7 /i 7
NAVA PER SHARE I BASIC (LOSS)/EARNINGS I CORE (LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
BREEFEA PER SHARE EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY*
——] = N - 48 NTA
BREX(FE)BF ADARERE ARERD (BR)/BR)
< < < .
& 0] i 2 i (566,266)
o0 < E ¢ o0 E L ] < / 4
S 1.58 o S o S (43,566) ¥
a9 B 8 4 N ol g 159 i
= ~ ~ o ~ I—H\ - ~ El
3T B 2.0a 23+ 7 8 Wi 8 ]
BE+ 7 Ko Al B
£ 7 28 & s8N/ & .
=m0 . 299 g2+ < S ot & 356,369
I A s A s v/ /
- S 287 = é, 45778
\_ it 1777 \_ /i \_ 7
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=+—HLEFE Percentage
2024 2023 change (%)
—EoaE ZTE=F HIOLBE (%)
Basic loss per share for loss ERERERE AEML
attributable to equity holders of EEZSRERER
the Company (HK cents) (74l) (105.19) (30.34) 246.7%

Net debt (HK$ million)* EEFE(EEBT)" 18,817 19,802 ~5.0%

Net gearing ratio (%)** B &L E (%) 203.3% 138.0% +65.3%

*  Core (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company excludes allowance for ~ * AR BRERFE AREZL (BB), M8 EFE I
impairment of inventories, share of impairment of inventories of associates and joint BERE DHBERRLREERRNTERE E P
ventures, exchange losses, fair value changes on investment properties and RBX REVEZAFEZYREHEEFHBER Yy
impairment loss recognised under expected credit loss model. B TR EEIERE - E

**  Change in percentage points » BEDEMmE e

“ Net debt = (Total borrowings — Cash and bank deposits) fOBEEFE = (BREE - RERBOTER ﬁ

#  Net gearing ratio = Net debt woOFAaELE = BEFE E

Total equity AR

A Net asset value attributable to equity holders of the Company N RRBIRERB ARG ZEETE
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HONOURS AND AWARDS
SR HLAEIH

REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
FiERR

Minmetals Land Limited

I
 HEMERRATF
° 2024 Real Estate Outstanding PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
Enterprise Performance .
2024FEHES M ERE MREE
e 2024 Listed Enterprise Outstanding China Minmetals Tower
Performance (Real Estate G30+) HEREAE
\ ]
20245 T EEMRIE (MEG30+)
o Honorable Managed Property Award
. 2024 Chinese Real Estate Brand KK g e us
Reputation and Credibility Enterprise REEENRR
WU BEMEREEEN =% U Quality Water Supply Scheme for Buildings
— Fresh Water (Management System) (Gold)
o 2024 Influential Digital Development AEBEHKRTHE — AK(BRES) (D)
Enterprise T e it o
2020 FEEE IR CRRLE < g Ui
aX Al AaAT Al =1 \ 3

o 2024 Chinese Real Estate Brand
Influential Enterprise LKF29

20247 B E S H R e o Quality Water Supply Scheme for Buildings
v ¢ — Fresh Water (Management System) (Gold)
ANEBEHKRAE — RK(BERFH) (&)
° Universal Design Award Scheme (Certificate of
i _;'Merit)
 BAR R (R0 A )
~+ Montego Bay
| RERR

Certificate of Five Stars Gym Room For The

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

0 47 1 2 B

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EoNFE = T —E —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T FHET FHT FHT
Results E
Revenue WA 9,882,956 12,630,739 10,064,529 12,885,638 7,661,646
Operating (loss)/profit s (B518), % F (2,625,562) 592,573 (414,827) 1,193,649 652,373
Finance income B UL A 217,336 184,386 178,863 249,115 222,799
Finance costs BF T B AR (534,689) (477,416) (138,144) (163,076) (69,471)
Share of results of DB E REIEE
associates (823,337) (209,869) (786,422) (264,007) 4,469
Share of results of joint DIREE QR HEE
ventures 59,678 33,889 137,773 48,253 (2,260)
(Loss)/profit before tax BrRELAT (B518), %% (3,706,574) 123563 (1,022,757) 1,063,934 808,410
Income tax expense FiEHiAx (41,823) (649,249) (337,467) (432,127) (371,070)
(Loss)/profit for the year RFEE (BE)%F (3,748,397) (525,686)  (1,360,224) 631,807 437,340
(Loss)/profit attributable to: (&), & FISRER :
Equity holders of the RABIREREA
Company (3,520,690)  (1,015518)  (1,362,468) 89,209 112,370
Holders of perpetual KABRTERS
capital instruments A — — 45,197 164,996 220,578
Non-controlling interests  JEF2E A% A% B4 %5 (227,707) 489,832 (42,953) 377,602 104,392
Assets and liabilities EEREBE
Non-current assets EMEBEE 5,400,538 6,492,438 7,244,734 8,123,710 7,700,506
Current assets mBEE 35,630,382 47,082,715 60,142,291 69,049,534 60,687,231
Total assets BEBT 41,030,920 53,575,153 67,387,025  77,173244 68,387,737
Equity attributable to equity ZANA RIRRERF A
holders of the Company NP3 1,608,836 5,287,069 6,819,529 10,020,461 9,598,951
Perpetual capital KAERTE
instruments — — — 2,448,182 3,947,539
Non-controlling interests FEIZE PR AR R 7,648,133 9,060,576 9,992,569 10,649,268 8,863,517
Total equity gt 9,256,969 14,347,645 16,812,098 23,117,911 22,410,007
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE 5,751,906 8,530,242 17,753,100 14,860,560 15,928,050
Current liabilities meBE 26,022,045 30,697,266 32,821,827 39,194,773 30,049,680
Total liabilities BERE 31,773,951 39,227,508 50,574,927  54,055333  45977,730
Total equity and liabilities  # % & B E 4258 41,030,920 53575153 67,387,025  77,173244 68,387,737
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

f-,-f-‘;;;. 2 T
GROUP PROPE”R'TI ‘

L ;{ E*;j

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's projects breakdown was listed as below: '
RZEBEZWNF+ZA=+—H AEBEEEZEXKET :

Suzhou

Percentage
Construction Share of
Location i 2h Site Area Floor Area Land Bank Land Bank
1 £
WEmE HAEEEE T i %S Bt

sg.m. sg.m. sg.m.

(FFAXK) (7 K) (FAK)
Pan Bohai Rim IR G H R 2,270,000 5,226,000 2,057,000 35.7%
Yangtze River Delta k=AM 812,000 2,225,000 200,000 3.5%
Central China Region E R 2,419,000 5,978,000 1,045,000 18.1%
Chengdu-Chongqing Region A 81 0 /& 665,000 1,631,000 1,204,000 20.9%

Pearl River Delta “h=fAE

(including Hong Kong) (BIEBE) 1,303,000 2,926,000 1,255,000 21.8%
Total #et 7,469,000 17,986,000 5,761,000 100%




Fortune Garden it X 40l

Location . Xibeiwang Town, Haidian District,
3 B Beijing, the PRC

o 1 T [ 4G 5
Usage . Residential
B T=
Site area : Approximately 139,000 square
A EE metres

#7139,000°F 75 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 414,000 square
HBIEEMIE metres

#1414,000F 75 K
Group's interest C51%
REBATEER
Construction . Completed
completion date B®T

BT A

Harrow Town M 3& /N E

Location . Jiangxintun Town, Xianghe County,

ih B Langfang City, Hebei Province, the
PRC
gimt%@i}‘iﬁiﬁﬂ%ﬁ%?ﬂ&

Usgage : Residential

R F=

Site area . Approximately 550,000 square

R EE metres

#9550,000F 75 K

Const/{gction floor area
MBIEEMEIE

. Approximately 1,285,000 square

metres
#71,285,000°F J5 >k

Group's interest

AREE B P S 7 5

: 50%

Expected construction
com Jetion date
FEHRR T A B

: Land plot No. 3: under planning

E=HLE - REIH

Beijing Chao Yang One 1t ZH[E =5 Minmetals International F B ZE&E % K=

Location : Wangsiyingxiang, Chaoyang
i Bh District, Beijing, the PRC

B R EA 5 = T 46
Usage . Residential
Rz T=
Site area : Approximately 49,000 square
A EE metres

#149,000°F 75 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 189,000 square
MRIREEE metres

#7189,000°F 77 K
Group's interest . 40%
REBFEER
Construction . Completed
completion date BE%T

% T AH

Platinum Bay T 7% . $55#

Location . Liaoning (Yingkou) Coastal

i 2 Industrial Base, Yingkou City,
Liaoning Province, the PRC
BRI S O MR (E0)H%
sy -8

Usage : Residential

Rz =

Site area . Approximately 396,000 square

A4 TH AR metres
#7396,000F 75 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 377,000 square

BEEMEE metres
#9377,000°F 77 K

Group's interest : 100%

RNEBFEER

Construction . Completed

completion date B%T

%A

Location . At east of Yingbin Main Road and

3 B south of Tuochang Road, Tanggu
District, Tianjin, the PRC
REREMELRODEREUR
K Be 5B A m

Usage . Residential and commercial

Rk TEREE

Site area . Approximately 21,000 square metres

b 82 [ 1R #)21,000%F 75 2K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 183,000 square

REEMEE metres
#9183,000°F 77 K

Group's interest : 100%

REBEMEER

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

% T 3 Ef

013 —

ZE - HFR
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GROUP PROPERTIES

Location

HE

Neo-Metropolis 7~ 3 3

. Yixingbuzhen, Bei Chen District,

Tianjin, the PRC
FRXEWILRES #IEHE

. Residential

E=E

Site area

AR TE 18

: Approximately 1,115,000 square

metres
#91,115,000°F J5 2K

Construction floor area

. Approximately 2,778,000 square

Academic Royale 1% - 2 X &3

Location . At Tian He Road, Jianye District,
24 Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
H BT #R A f R 2 R RO B
Usage : Residential
B =
Site area . Approximately 136,000 square
AR E & metres
#7136,000F 75 K

Construction floor area

: Approximately 482,000 square

FEHIR T H &

KRTHH

HBIEEMIE metres HBIEEEE metres
.............................. M12778000F 7K #9482,000F 75 K

Group's interest 49% Group's interest : 100%

REBATEER RNEBATIEER

Expected construction 4Q 2031 Construction . Completed

completion date —E=—FENE completion date B%T

Location . At south of Hongjing Main Road,

1 2 Science Park, Jiangning District,
Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, thﬁ PRC
b G B L 2 H B L
SREUE

Usage : Residential

R F=

Site area : Approximately 179,000 square

A EE metres
#9179,000F 73 2K

Location : At Zhong Ling Jie, Xuanwu District,

b B Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
TR IHE PR LR REEE

Usage : Rfesidential

Az F=

Site area : Approximately 91,000 square

R EE metres

#791,000F A K

Construction floor area

. Approximately 203,000 square

AR IE metres
#7203,000F 75

Group's interest : 100%

REBEFEER

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

% T HE]

Sello Royale HLi#E - hE & Enchanté Oasis T 9% « &5 i /&

Location . At the junction of Shuanglong Main

1 B Road and Xuelindong Road,
Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC
PENT AT EREEAE
B EAMRER R A2 SR

Usgge : Residential

ke =

Site area . Approximately 95,000 square metres

It 2% T 1R #195,000°F 75 K

Construction floor area

: Approximately 270,000 square

Construction floor area
ST fE

: Approximately 255,000 square

completion date
% T A H

completion date
®T

7

MBIEEMEBE metres R F metres
#9270,000°F 75 K #9255,000F 77 2K
Group's interest : 100% Group’s interest 1 100%
NS E PG 2 AN PG HE
Construction : Completed Construction : Completed
= ®T




Majestic Mansion & I f§

Location . At the junction of Yanshan Road

b B and Shuiximen Jie, Gulou District,
NanJlng Jlan su Province, the PRC

BUT &R & e R S8 [ L B B

Kﬁﬁkmxﬁ

Usage : Residential and commercial

A& FEREE

Site area : Approximately 43,000 square

A4 TE AR metres
#943,000%F 75 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 233,000 square

IR metres
#9233,000F 77 2K

Group's interest 1 34.1%

REBFIEER

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

¥ T HE]

Enchanté Cove F & « Wi 5 1L Enchanté Park T 5% « 515 5Z 1

Location . At the junction of Fanggian Main

3 B Road and Wushi Road, Jiangning
District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC. o
*mgﬁéﬁﬂﬂgﬁﬁmﬁﬁ
TS E K2 R

Usgge . Residential

A& T=

Site area . Approximately 68,000 square

A EE metres
#168,000F 75 2K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 148,000 square

MIBREMEE metres
#9148,000°F 77 K

Group's interest : 100%

REBMGEER

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

% T A H

Jiang Shan Da Jing T Il K35

Location

HE

Usage
i
Site area

AR 18

Construction floor area

. At the junction of Guangming

Road and Lixin Road, Pukou

District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,

the PRC
BT 8% éﬁ?\/ﬁﬂﬁj’:ﬂﬂ

ﬁiﬁ%
. Residential

EE

: Approximately 83,000 square

metres

#983,000F 7 K

: .Approximately 285,000 square

Location . East of the Nanjing Jiangning

3B high-tech park Zhengfang Main
Road and south of Shimeng Road,
Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC
P BT84 ﬁ/?\/lmliﬁ%ﬁ.IE
FHRBIAR - 5B

Uszgge : Residential

A& =

Site area : Approximately 61,000 square

A% TE AR metres
#961,000°F 75 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 181,000 square

BIEEEE metres
#7181,000F 77 K

Group’s interest : 100%

RNEBEEER

Construction . Completed

completion date BRI

%A

Suzhou City Valley & /& 5% =

Location : South of Min Sheng Road and
B West of Xing Pu Road, High Trade
Zone, Suzhou Industrial Park,
Suzhou, Jlan su Province, the PRC
o BT %% MﬁﬁMIilE
ﬂ,\@ﬁﬂzﬁ - BB
Usage . Residential
55375 F=
Site area : Approximately 56,000 square
R EE metres

#56,000F 77 2K

Construction floor area
ST iE

: Approximately 168,000 square

MIREMEE metres REEMIE metres
#9285,000°F 77 K #7168,000F 75 K

Group's interest 1 39.8% Group’s interest 1 55%

REBAFEER RNEBEEER

Construction . Completed Construction : Completed

completion date B%T B®T

% T H Ef

completion date
®

7

—T-FR

TEEERRAA
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GROUP PROPERTIES

LIRS

Changsha Wanjing Yayuan R B Z HE

Location . East of East Nine Road, North of

1 & Wang Xian Road, West of East Ten
Road, South of Te Li Road, Changsha
CitHunan\Pro\vin_\c_e, the PRC
PEMEE RS TR BE K
PASR ~ ELBAIALE « SRR EAFE -
FFZ B LA

Usgge . Residential

A iE =

Site area . Approximately 137,000 square

AT metres
#7137,000°F 75 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 310,000 square

RIEEEIE metres
#9310,000°F 77 K

Group's interest © 51%

AN PTG

Expected construction  : 4Q 2025

completion date

TR T A A1

—E-_RFENF

LOHAS International Community

L. EEERHE

Scotla

Location . At Yuntang Village and Yuetang

i B Village, Muyun Town, Changsha,
Hunan Provincq, the PRC
PEREE RS T ERHEERE
& AR

Usgge : Residential

A& e

Site area : Approximately 333,000 square

R EE metres

#7333,000F 5 2K

Construction floor area

: Approximately 442,000 square

Location At Gaoyun Road, Muyun Town,
hBh Changsha, Hunan Province, the PRC
PEDREE RS T EZHES K
Usage . Residential
A& F=
Site area : Approximately 643,000 square
A EE metres
#7643,000°F 75 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 1,084,000 square
HBIEEMEIE metres )
#91,084,000F 75 K
Group's interest : 100%
NEE GRS
Construction . Completed
completion date BRI

BT A

BIEEEE metres
#7442,000F 75 K

Group’s interest 1 100%

AN ST P A5 HE 28

Construction . Completed

completion date BT

%A

016

Qin Royale & « jbE £ 3

Location : At Fu Yuan West Road, Kaifu

Hh 2 District, Changsha, Hunan
Province, the PRC
FPEEE RS TRERET
gy

Usgge : R\es_igemial\and commercial

B FERPEE

Site area . Approximately 150,000 square

AR TR metres

#)150,000 75 2K

Construction floor area

: Approximately 570,000 square

HBIEEEIE metres
#9570,000F 75 2K

Group's interest 1 100%

NEBE G ER

Construction . Completed
B®T

completion date
3

7




Changsha Minmetals Plaza & ) A& [E 5

Location

HE

: Within the central business unit of
Xiangjiang Riverbank area, south of
Baisha Road, in between
Xiangjiangzhong Road and Shuyuan
Road, Tianxin District, Changsha,
Hunan Province, the PRC
R A =S TR DB TR D —
BER TR B B AR - AT B
N EB B 2

: Commercial

&)

Site area

I 8& T A8

: Approximately 22,000 square metres
#)22,000%F 75 K

Construction floor area
MIEEMEE

: Approximately 192,000 square metres
#1192,000F 75 K

Group's interest 1 100%
REBEMEER

Expected construction 2Q 2026 -
completion date —EBEIRFEF

FEHR T H 5

Realm of Landscape & 5 i

Location
2

il

. At No. 79, Section 2, Xiangjiang
North Road, Kaifu District,
Changsha, Hunan Province, the

PRC
FEMEAE R TREBEMRT
b ZER799%

Xiangtan Scenery Cove #E « EHE k%

Usgge : Residential
Mz F=
Site area . Approximately 87,000 square
HEEE metres
#787,000%F 5 K

Construction floor area
prbs

MIEEMEE

: Approximately 311,000 square
metres
#9311,000F 75 2K

Group’s interest

AR EE B P A5 7 2

: 255%

Expected construction
com Jetion date
TEER T HE

. Phase 1: completed;
Phase 2: under plannin
—HiR R T —HRE P

Location : At No. 28 Xuefu Road, Economic and

i B Technological Development Zone,
Xiangtan, Hunan Province, the PRC
FP B A A R T AT B 1 A 2
[ 22 T 2K 28 5%

Usage : Residential

Rz F=

Site area : Approximately 428,000 square metres

b B8 [ 15 #7428,000F 75 K

Construction floor area : Approximately 1,104,000 square

4B AR metres )
#71,104,000F 75 2K

Group's interest : 51%

REEFIE R

Expected construction : 2Q 2027

completion date

FEHIR T B &

T FEF

Greenland Centre #%ith F1 /0x

Location . At No. 319, Section 1, Furong

1 2 Middle Road, Kaifu District,
Changsha, Hunan Province, the
PRC
BB E KD RRERE
HE —ER3195%

Usgge : Commercial

MiE 5

Site area : Approximately 23,000 square

A EE metres

Enchanté Crest T iE . W EHE

Location

HE

. At the junction of Songjiagangdong

Road and Huayun Road,
Panlongcheng Economic
Development Zone, Huangpi District,
Wuhan, Hubei Province, the PRC
A B B R T B [ AR BRI AT
5 7 B i R R ol B B EE R R AR R

. Residential
- ==

==

Site area

. Approximately 61,000 square metres

#923,000 F 75 K it A2 [ 15 #161,000%F 75 2K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 259,000 square Construction floor  : Approximately 180,000 square metres
4R A TR metres i area #]180,000F 75 3K
#9259,000F 75 K MBIR R R
Group's interest : 255% Group's interest : 100%
REBEFEER REBEFEER
Construction . Completed Construction . Completed
BRI BE®T

completion date
% T A

completion date
% T A H

ZE - HFR
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Taian Scenery Cove =% - B KF

Wuhan Scenery Cove H EERKF

Location . Changcheng Road, Angao New

24 District, Taian, Shandong Province,
the PRC o
REWREFETEEE R
Ik B

Usage . Residential

ke =

Site area . Approximately 270,000 square

AR ETE metres
#9270,000F 75 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 699,000 square

MBI ETHE metres
#7699,000F 77 K

Group's interest © 51%

REBAEER

Construction . Completed

completion date B%T

% T A

Minmetals Chai Da Mu Plaza T 7% 4¢ 3% K &5

T A

% T A A

Location : Between Third Ring South and Location . Wusi West Road, Haihu New
It 25 Fourth Ring South, Wuhan, Hubei 24 District, Xining, Qinghai Province,
Provipce, thefBC . the PRC .
B A R T = SR TR GEEETENHEL
PR 2 M usiigie3
Usgge . Residential Usgge . Commercial
Rz F= Rz %
Site area . Approximately 62,000 square Site area . Approximately 152,000 square
R EE metres ) AR EE metres )
#962,000°F 77 2K #9152,000F 77 2K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 215,000 square Construction floor area  : Approximately 464,000 square
4R SR 1R metres i 4R SEE IR metres )
#9215,000F 77 2K #9464,000F 77 2K
Group's interest : 100% Group's interest © 51%
REBE PTG R NEFMIE#ER
Construction : Completed Construction : Completed
completion date B®T completion date B®T

Taian Scenery Centre R Z LI E R EH

West Begonia 1% - 7 R JE E

FEEHIR T B A

TEIR M T = HiR R

# T HE]

Location : Changcheng Road, Angao New Location . Wenjiajie Road, Qingyang District,

b B District, Taian, Shandong Province, b B Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the
the PRC o PRC \ o
o B LR TR T R 4T B )| A A B S R
Yl R XK A8

Usage . Commercial Usage : Residential

i 5 i =

Site area . Approximately 51,000 square Site area . Approximately 22,000 square

AR metres AR E T metres
#951,000°F 75 K #922,000%F 75 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 148,000 square Construction floor area : Approximately 80,000 square

WIEEEE metres ) BIEEEE metres )
#9148,000F 77 K #780,000°F 75 K

Group's interest © 51% Group's interest : 100%

AN 52 | P A HE A 52 | P A HE

Expected construction  : Phase 2: completed; Construction . Completed

completion date Phase 3: under planning completion date B®T

018




Dayi Shaqu project R& A S W RIER

Chengdu West-Lake Future City FX #B 78 34 & 28 35

Location . Eastern new district of Dayi
24 County, Chengdu City, Sichuan
Province, the ERC N
HREI DY) R ED R & SRR EBET
&
Usage . Residential and commercial
A& (EESYNEHE S
Site area . Approximately 516,000 square
AR EE metres
#7516,000F 15 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 1,176,000 square
REREME metres
#91,176,000F 5 K
Group's interest : 100%

REE FTL I

Expected construction
completion date

FEHRT B

: Phase 6 in 2Q 2025
BN _RFFE

Chen du Xlndu La

nyue Xian Huayuan

= 16 B

Location . Shaqu Subdistrict, Dayi County,
i Bh Chengdu City, Sichuan Province,
the PRC )
EPI@ 1Bk E RSB RE
Usage . Residential
B iz =
Site area : Approximately 44,000 square
AR S metres
#744,000F 75 2K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 114,000 square
MIEEME metres
#9114,000F 75 K
Group's interest : 100%

REE PG o

Expected construction
completion date

FEEA % T A H

: Under planning

BT

Chengdu Xindu Guiyu

Mingdi F &0 57 &8 4 55

Location : No.7 Community, Tuojiang, No.7
Community, Hancheng Village,
Xindu Town, Xindu District,
Chengdu Sichuan Province, the
l@ 11 PP T 37 & [ 7 2R 61
AT JEI T4
Usage : R\emﬁdent\al
fitkes =
Site area . Approximately 44,000 square
AR E 1 metres
#944,000%F 75 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 140,000 square
RREMEIE metres
#7140,000F 75
Groups interest, : 51%
RNEBATIEER
Construction Completed
B®RT

completion date
%

7

Location : No.5 Community, Huamei Village,

b Bh Dafeng Town, Xindu District,
Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the
PRC
Bl PR ER TR BT AR IR K
HEZN A

Usage . Residential

Rz F=x

Site area : Approximately 39,000 square

AR EE metres

#939,000F 77 K

Construction floor area

EqLi

: Approximately 121,000 square

metres

#7121,000F 5 K

Group's interest

AER B PG #E i

© 51%

Expected construction
completion date

FEE % T A E

. Phase 1: completed;

Phase 2: 2Q 2025
—HIE T
ZH T RFEZ

019 —
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Hallstatt See T H& - 15 j8 32 4%

Location : Mai Tian Ling, Boluo County,
3 B Huizhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
PR BN T E R R A
Usage : R:esidential
R & =
Site area . Approximately 918,000 square
R AR metres

#7918,000F 75 K

Construction floor area

HEEER

: Approximately 1,549,000 square

metres
#71,549,000F 75 K

Group's interest

A B AT (E s

: 100%

Expected construction
completion date

FEHIR T B &

. High rise of Phase V in 4Q 2025

%ﬁﬁﬁﬁggﬁ
ZERFENE

Foshan Academic Royale f# |l T i - EX &3

Location . Lujingdong Road, Chancheng
b B District, Foshan, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
R R A G LB R AR
B
Usage . Residential
A& (Eas
Site area : Approximately 43,000 square
AR metres
#743,000°F 75 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 214,000 square
IR metres
#9214,000F 77 K
Group’s interest : 100%
NEBEFEER
Construction . Completed
completion date B®T

¥ T HE]

Greenery Terrace E#l &

% T B EH

Location . Xingnan Main Road, Nancun

i B County, Panyu District,
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province,
the PRC N
B ERE RN T E S
HEEAE

Usage : Residential

A& F=

Site area : Approximately 17,000 square

R EAE metres
#917,000°F 75 2K

Construction floor area : Approximately 29,000 square

BIEEMmE metres )
#929,000°F 75 2K

Group's |ntere§v : 100%

REEFIGER

Construction : Completed

completion date B®T

Langyun Garden E MBI EEE

Location . At Airport Expressway, Baiyun

24 District, Guangzhou, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
TREEREEMNTAEEKS
SRYN

Usage . Residential

A& =

Site area . Approximately 57,000 square

AR E A metres
#957,000°F 75 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 130,000 square

WBIEEEE metres
#7130,000F 77 K

Group's interest 10%

NEBAE#ER

Construction . Completed

completion date B%T

% T A

Regent Heights T % 18 & & |L /¥

Location : Maogang Road, Huangpu District,
i B Guangzhou, Guangdong Province
the PRC

EF‘IF‘%% BN TS R X
Usage : R@sidential
A& =
Site area . Approximately 21,000 square
A4 TH AR metres

#921,000F 7 2K

Construction floor area

. Approximately 72,000 square

% T A

MIREEE metres
#972,000%F 75 2K

Group's interest C51%

REBEMEER

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

Guangzhou River Skyline & i T X[

Location : Complex on phase Il of metro line
2 no. 13, Baiyun District,
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province,
the PRC
HEERAEEMNT Egﬁlitmﬁ
13ﬁﬁvif,ﬁﬁﬁuﬁlﬁ%lﬁm a8
Usage © Residential and commercial
fizhes EEREE
Site area . Approximately 77,000 square
A4 TE AR metres
#977,000°F 75 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 350,000 square
MBIEEEE metres
#9350,000F 77 K
Group’s interest 1 45.9%
AN S T P A HE 2R
Expected construction  : 4Q 2026
completion date T RFENE

JEHEA % T A &

020



ParcOne BB . =E &

The Greenville & 1 fF

Location : Changling Road, Huangpu District, Location : Maluan Subdistrict, Pingshan
B Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, B District, Shenzhen, Guangdong
the PRC N » Province, the\PRC e
TEEREEMTERRRSE EERERITILREEE
iz bEl
Usage : Residential Usage : Residential and commercial
& = & EEREE
Site area . Approximately 72,000 square Site area . Approximately 31,000 square
A5 TH AR metres A2 T3S metres
#972,000°F 73 K #931,000°F 75 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 258,000 square Construction floor area  : Approximately 178,000 square
MBIEEMIE metres BIEEMIE metres
#)258,000°F 75 K #7178,000F 75 K
Group's interest ©51% Group's interest ©51%
7N 55 B P oG 28 7N B PR oG HE 2R
Construction . Completed Construction . Completed
completion date 2% T completion date 2% T

% T A H

% T A

Nan’an Project % 8 H

Location . Xiaxi Village, Yingdu Town, Nan‘an
I B City, Quanzhou, Fujian Province,
the PRC e
B REA RN R TR A
B R A
Usage : Industrial
& T%
Site area . Approximately 56,000 square
AR EE metres
#956,000°F 75 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 81,000 square
WBIREHIE metres
#781,000°F 75 K
Group’s interest 1 70%
NEBEFEER
Construction . Completed
completion date B®T

¥ T HE

Montego Bay Bf B R =

Location : 18 Shung Shun Street, Yau Tong,
24 Kowloon, Hong Kong
BRNEHEREA185
Usage . Residential
R =
Site area . Approximately 11,000 square
AR E A metres
#711,000F 75 2K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 65,000 square
REEME metres
#765,000°F 75 K
Group's interest : 100%
REBAIEER
Construction . Completed
completion date B®T

% T A

MAJOR
INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES
FERBEWE

China Minmetals Tower P Bl T & KB

Location : 79 Chatham Road South,

b 2h Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
ERENERDPHEHZFBER T
L5k

Usage . Commercial

J3:F75 [EES

Lease term : Medium term

TH & HR h HA

LKF 29

Location : 29 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong

2 Kong o
BERPREFEF =%

Usage : Commercial

A& X

Lease term . Long term

THEHR R
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
B R &

Dear Shareholders,

In 2024, the overall China’s real estate market was under pressure, with
variations in product profiles across cities and the market'’s liquidity
remained bleak, making it a difficult year for real estate companies. The
real estate industry has entered into the most difficult stage after four
years of correction. China's property market has shown signs of
stabilization and uptick, fueled by multiple measures from both the
supply and demand sides rolled out at the end of 2024. However,
given the impact brought about by this round of sea change in the
market landscape, a recovery for the property market may take longer.
Looking back on the last year, the Group has been pursuing progress
while ensuring stability, promoting stability through progress, and
strictly controlling operational risks, so as to effectively respond to the
market uncertainties, and laid a foundation for passing through the
industry cycle despite the significant challenges of economic downturn
and unprecedented operational difficulties. In 2024, the Group's
consolidated revenue decreased by 21.8% year-on-year to $9,883
million; net loss for the year has been widened year-on-year to
HKS$3,748 million (2023: HKS$526 million); loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company was HK$3,521 million (2023: HK$1,016 million);
and core loss attributable to equity holders of the Company* was
HKS566 million (2023: HK$44 million). The Board of Directors does not
recommend the declaration of a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: no dividend), in order to retain more cash to
meet the challenges of an uncertain market and for future growth.

* “Core loss attributable to equity holders of the Company” excludes allowance for
impairment of inventories, share of impairment of inventories of associates and joint
ventures, exchange loss/gain, fair value changes of investment properties and

impairment loss recognized under expected credit loss model.

024

EREHARE
ZEEF ‘:F'.%ﬁﬂ?m A RIR A -
WhERTLESL  TERBERETLE

HEMWEDERG - 1&%%%&%&%?&%—& °
FEENF  FEHETEMNARD LTS ARK
fo TETPUFR MR T — R E R
BFHER - BOEMEMISIERKEE - BiEHTT
X¥RBEEMERNER  FHEMSRE
DEREMIESERE - BIEE—F - MELE
TITHIERE PR BT FT R BRI AE & W3 - K
EEESEPRE - DUERE  BRITEER
% BREE T HISMTEEN  B5TEH
ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ’m;o —ToF o AEEGAK
A98831EH T  [FILL TFE21.8% : F N FE1E
AL BEMBEREV8EBT(ZE_=F:
526 L) ARRRERF B AELEE
BBAMEAT(ZZEZ=F 1 1016EB L) &
’“THﬂéHﬁAF’éTEﬁL@Eﬁ%%S661%537_1
—ECZF044EBT) cEREER
KZZEZWMF+—A=+— EIJtiJ*Z?KHﬁ
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& EETHMSBkBMBEERANE -
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Although China’s property market is still in the midst of turbulence, the
government has shown unwavering determination and confidence in
stabilization and reviving the real estate market. The unprecedented
regulatory policies have brought additional vigour to the market, and
the market has posted some positive changes, which have provided
the industry with new growth opportunities. Looking forward to 2025,
policy setting in respect of real estate is expected to remain
accommodative. 2025 is the final year of China's 14th Five-Year Plan
and the preparatory year of the 15th Five-Year Plan, the Central
Economic Work Conference has set the tone of “stabilising the property
market”, and the market expectation is projected to improve by
enhanced policies. Overall, the market will be wavering at the bottom
in the short run, despite the high inventory will take time to digest
with ongoing oversupply situation, coupled with the destocking
pressure from product iteration, second-hand housing and social
housing supply. However, against the backdrop of a low base, the
transaction volume declines are expected to narrow gradually and get
back to a growth track, achieving property market stabilisation and
rebound ultimately.

Out with the old, in with the new. Minmetals Land will focus on “Live,
Hold and Go" as main lines of effort for the new year, albeit it is still a
year of pressure, difficulties and challenges, and thrive against the
industry headwind.

HEATEEHEDHDHRERRZH B
FFEERERARLEELEESE  NEE
AIBRAERREZE SN MHRBER
BERE(  BITREHRTHOBEEEE - RE
—ZEo0F BHETEBRRIDBEBERS
RRAE - —T-AFER[THAIREKRE
ZFE BREITERIBERARHBZF -+
RREBEIEEZETHBEET]  SEBK
MABEHEHISEBIEE - BEVRE - B
MG NBEBRE  SENBEFNHREH
b BN KORRNEHE MEEMRE
R-ZFEMREEHEYEZEFHERM
B BEREHESR THEAKIRRERE
BEFXRELELEOERER  KKER
FiEMS LB

EmCE - FRREMAR - N —F BEDRE
AEN - R - BB ITE — 5 - R
ERADETE UBE EGEMERIE
ER EITRRRPEEAT o
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First of all, we must ensure “survival’, putting destocking and risk
prevention as a top priority, and attempting every possible means to
increase revenue as well as decrease expenditure and losses. In
addition, the Group will strictly adhere to the bottom line of capital
security, strive to recover the balance sheet, and ensure that the no
default on its debt, no delivery with unfinished project and no
conservative development. Market transaction activities have been close
to the bottom over the past year with signals of stabilisation have
gradually emerged, the industry may gradually come out of the trough
in 2025. The Group will capture the opportunities brought by policy
and market stabilisation to facilitate sales activities and cash collection,
laying a solid foundation for weathering the cycle. Furthermore, the
Group will make efforts to improve cash flow and safeguard capital
resources, actively reduce liabilities and ensure the continuity of its
borrowings. In the meantime, the Group will continue to push forward
with cost-cutting and efficiency enhancement, with a plan to reduce
non-productive expenditures by 10% as compared to that of the
previous year, in order to achieve its expected operating targets.

Secondly, we must ‘hold out’, replenishing new high-quality projects in
a timely manner, accelerating the development of diversified
businesses, carrying out internal synergies and management service,
increasing the proportion of light-asset businesses, and accelerating the
formation of a new business landscape. Minmetals Land will stick to the
strategic transformation goal of an urban integrated operator, and
proactively integrate into the parent company’s multi-industry chained
development model with a strategic business portfolio of one core, two
wings and three supports, so as to provide strategic support for pulling
through the cycle. Firstly, we will endeavour to enhance our expertise
to further enhance our real estate development business; secondly, we
will step up our efforts to expand property management business as
soon as possible; thirdly, we will improve our operational capabilities
and be professional in commercial management; and fourthly, we will
intensify the industry-city business by establishing benchmark projects.

026
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Last but not least, we will focus on ‘go further’, by actively build a new
real estate development model, and endeavour to seize the new
development opportunities arising from the industry’s restructuring.
Minmetals Land will adhere to the parallelism between incremental
construction and inventory operation, fully implement the requirements
of combining development and operation, complementing monism
and pluralism, taking both short-term and long-term into account,
pairing light assets with heavy assets, and placing equal emphasis on
the market and policies. The Group will undertake innovation in forms,
technology, product on its own initiative, improve the quality of
operation, build up core competitiveness, providing strong support for
sustainable development and accelerating the establishment of the
Group's new development model.

This year will be a year with both opportunities and challenges.
Minmetals Land will meet the challenges with resilience, pull through
the cycle with spirit of innovation, and stride towards the bright future
with true grit.

RREZERIESE] BEBEREEHER
IR - BAOIETEARMERNEE -
IBWERBRFEEERAGFEELLT
PHEEHRAEEELES  —TRZ A
7 EHERHRE HEERSEERRL -
MSRBRL ENENR - TEFRREAIF
BRI - EmEF  RBAHKEEE - BER
DS RAREERERANXE M
RET AREMEZRRFRN -

Fe— o BRI - TEE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o B g

OPERATION REVIEW
Overview

In 2024, the downturn in China’s real estate sector entered its fourth
year, with both sales and investment, dropping by double digits.
During the year, facing complicated environment with ongoing market
downturn, the Group focused on cash flow management, insisted on
steady operation with stringent control of operational risks. During the
year, the Group achieved consolidated revenue of HK$9,883 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 21.8%; the core loss
attributable to the equity holders of the Company' amounted to
approximately HK$566 million. Taking into account the provisions for
impairment loss relating to real estate development projects and fair
value changes of investment properties, which are non-cash in nature,
the Group recorded a net loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company of approximately HKS$3,521 million for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: HK$1,016 million). The above-mentioned
provisions for impairments made during the year were intended to
reflect the latest market conditions amidst fragile property market
sentiment.

Note 1:  “Core loss attributable to equity holders of the Company” excludes provision for
impairment of inventories, share of impairment of inventories of associates and
joint ventures, exchange gains and losses, fair value changes of investment
properties and impairment loss recognised under expected credit loss model.
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Business Development

(1)

Real Estate Development
Contracted Sales

In 2024, the central government responded decisively by
continuously enhancing policy to stabilise the property market.
These actions, addressing both the supply and demand sides to
stabilise the real estate market, began with a proposal at the
meeting of the Political Bureau of the Central Committee in April
to “absorb existing property inventory and optimise the supply of
new housing”, followed by efforts in September to “promote the
stabilisation and recovery of the property market,” and an
emphasis in December on ‘stabilising the property market”.
However, while some cities have shown signs of stabilisation,
overall uncertainty in the market remains relatively high. The

market as a whole was still in the process of bottoming out, with
a challenging path toward stability.

EBBREBEN

(-) FHERE

o>

SHRIHE

“TNF PARARBMEBRREE
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BRI e S Y B

(2)

032

The contracted sales of the Company together with its
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in 2024 decreased by
37.9% year-on-year to RMB7.02 billion (2023: RMB11.30 billion)
whilst the gross floor area (“GFA”) contracted for sale decreased
by 24.1% year-on-year to 421,000 square meters (2023: 555,000
square meters). The Group'’s contracted sales were mainly derived
from the real estate development projects in Tier 1 and core Tier
2 cities.

The contracted sales breakdown was listed as below:

ARARERENBRR - 58 Q7 R
M“Tz_;f_mﬁfm’lﬁéﬁﬁﬁhzi
TRE379%E702BETTARB(ZE ==
FIBETARE)  GHHEERE
AAEE(AEmmEDIRT T %241%
421,000 F K (ZZF = =4 : 555,000
FHK) AEEAENHEEEETERS
—B RO 2 FHEREIEE -

BHHEREBKLT

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1t-BLEE

2024 2023
—EomE -

Contracted Contracted Contracted Contracted

amount GFA amount GFA

Location 1t 2k EHNEE AHEBEEE ANEE AYNBEREE

(RMB million) (sq.m.) (RMB million) (sq.m.)

(AR®EBEER) (FrXK) (AREBET) (EAXK)

Pan Bohai Rim RAEHE 2,359 150,388 3,955 162,121

Yangtze River Delta R=-AE 702 34,407 2014 67,023

Central China Region EdiE 1,190 94,348 1,540 132,194

Chengdu-Chongging Region P 686 49,645 1,238 86,483

Pearl River Delta K=AiE

(including Hong Kong) (BREERE) 2,078 92,051 2,549 107,126

Total @t 7,015 420,839 11,29 554,947
Specialised Construction (=) BEEZEFE

In 2024, the Hong Kong property market remained in the
doldrums with intensified market competition and a significant
shrinking market capacity. In the face of the challenges, the
Group insisted on stable operation, optimised its organisational
structure and management processes, as well as strengthened its
technology and core competitiveness to ensure long-term
development.
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(3)

During the year, settlement management of the Montego Bay
project in Yau Tong and the A3 project of SkyCity at Hong Kong
International Airport served as a focus of specialized construction
business, optimising the resources allocation and maintaining
financial stability. At the same time, the Group proactively
adjusted its strategy to expand into the government public works
market to minimise risks arising from market fluctuations and
enhance counter-cyclical capacities.

Although no new projects were launched during the year, the
Group still maintained its competitive advantage with optimized
management model, profound technical accumulation and
prudent risk management, and was well prepared for the market
recovery to ensure sustainable business growth.

Property Investment

The Group's property investment business primarily comprises
two commercial office buildings in Hong Kong, namely China
Minmetals Tower in Tsimshatsui and LKF29 in Central. As at
31 December 2024, LKF29 recorded an occupancy rate of 75.3%
(2023: 91.8%), decreased by 16.5% year-on-year; while China
Minmetals Tower underwent further renovation and replanning
of office space for leasing in 2024 to enhance its market
competitiveness with an occupancy rate of 86.9% (2023: 91.9%),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 5.0%.

(=)

FR - EXREXBREBERNE
REBHSMARBAEBENGEEE E%
BILEREE  REVBKIEE - R

AEEEGAEHE  AEBNAET
BHS  BRETSKRBERNORER 52
FHHUREARE S o

HRFRREHERZ M - EREEL
MEERN  REMRMER 2R
RgEE  AREDEREHFES I

RS B AT - RETSTHE
HE -

WERE

REBMMEREEBTEBREURE
BRMEBEEANE  BMURARDEAF
B ABEAERFRALKF29 - RZF =M

F+-A=1+—H - LKF29Z B XRIZE
T#165% @ HHE /753 (ZF ==
F:018%) MARABARER-_ZT =
MEFEETBEREFRESFEAS

FRERE  RAETSHFEN - FAML
M RAZF T 5.0% @ HE X %86.9% (=

LT~ =4F 1 91.9%) o

033

ZE - HFR

TEEERRAA



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRI e S Y B

Land Bank

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's total developable GFA (“Land
Bank”) amounted to 5,761,000 square meters. The composition of the
Group's Land Bank was listed as below:

Tt

RZE-_WNF+-_A=+—H HAEEEHE
AFEmgEmmEE (TR E]) As761 8
Tk AEE T EBARDT

Percentage share

During the year, the Group recorded a management service income of
RMB2.4 million under the entrusted management service agreement, of
which China Minmetals entrusted the Company with the management
of its non-listed assets within its real estate development segment,
including real estate development projects in Beijing, Tianjin, Shenyang,
Liaoning, Jiangsu, Hunan and Guangdong.

034

City Tier 39T 4% 5l Land Bank of Land Bank
1L
T B BAL

('000 sg.m.)

('000%F 75 K)
First tier cities — R 1,739 30.2%
Second tier cities W 2,069 35.9%
Third tier cities =BT 1,953 33.9%
Total wmEt 5,761 100.0%
Percentage share
Location ih B Land Bank of Land Bank
15 b 1%
T S BoOk

('000 sg.m.)

("'000F 75 K)
Pan Bohai Rim R R 2,057 35.7%
Yangtze River Delta R=AR 200 3.5%
Central China Region i@ 1,045 18.1%
Chengdu-Chongging Region PS8 b [ 1,204 20.9%
Pearl River Delta (including Hong Kong) w=AE (BREEE) 1,255 21.8%
Total #zt 5,761 100.0%

Entrusted Asset Management ELEEER

FA - ARERBEZFEEERS WHEES240
BTAREZEERBEA - ZRERGHE
TEAIBESEEHNEEREK D MANIEL
MEEZREARAER XEEEBELRN
R REBE - BEE IH O HERER
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’s revenue was primarily derived from three business
segments, namely real estate development, specialised construction
and property investment. The Group’s consolidated revenue in 2024
amounted to HK$9,883 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
21.8% as compared to HK$12,631 million last year.

The Group'’s consolidated revenue breakdown was listed as below:

it %5 1 B8

'ON
AEEHRAEERARCERR FE2
ERMERA=EEY - —T-NFE A%

B A WA B883EB I BEFM1263]
BEATTIEFE TFE21.8% °

AREBSEERAZERIAT

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-MmE —E-=F

Percentage Percentage
share of share of Year-on-year
HK$ million revenue HKS million revenue change

(10N [ELON

BHEER BAL BEET BAL RES

Real estate development FHEZER 9,832 99.5% 12,308 97.4% ~20.1%
Specialised construction HEREE 1 - 272 2.2% -99.6%
Property investment MERE 50 0.5% 51 0.4% -2.0%
Total et 9,883 100.0% 12,631 100.0% -21.8%

Due to the decrease in the scale of real estate projects recognised
during the year, the Group’s revenue from the real estate development
business decreased by 20.1% to HK$9,832 million (2023: HK$12,308
million) as compared to last year and accounted for 99.5% of the
Group's consolidated revenue. Gross profit margin of the real estate
development business decreased by 11.0 percentage points to 6.5%
(2023: 17.5%) as compared to last year, mainly due to various sales
strategies for real estate development business had been adopted in
response to market conditions, including adjustments in sales prices to
promote the sales of the projects that resulted in more real estate
development projects with lower gross profit margins were recognised
during the year.

Since projects on-hand have almost reached the completion stage and
the absence of new projects were undertaken during the vyear,
specialised construction business recorded a massive drop in revenue.
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Revenue from the property investment business decreased by 2.0% to
HK$50 million (2023: HK$51 million) as compared to last year,
accounting for 0.5% of the Group's consolidated revenue. The revenue
from the property investment business is mainly derived from two
commercial buildings in Hong Kong. Gross profit margin of the
property investment business increased by 0.2 percentage points to
65.7% (2023: 65.5%) as compared to last year.

The Group's overall gross profit margin decreased to 6.1% from 17.2%
as compared to last year, mainly due to the gross profit margin of the
products recognised from the real estate development business during
the period was lower than that of last year.

Other Income

The Group's other income decreased by 17.3% year-on-year to HK$86
million (2023: HK$104 million), mainly due to the significant year-on-
year decrease in consulting fees from fellow subsidiaries.

Fair Value Changes on Investment Properties

The Group recorded a fair value loss on investment properties of
HKS$187.0 million in 2024 (2023: HK$2.3 million), mainly due to the weak
demand for office and retail space during the year and the continued
pressure on the market rental levels for both renewed and newly
leased properties.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

The Group's selling and marketing expenses increased by 28.6% to
HKS$535 million (2023: HK$416 million) as compared to last year, mainly
due to the sales commissions and related sales and marketing
expenses are charged to profit or loss during the year as a result of the
delivery of the Montego Bay in Hong Kong during the year.

Administrative and Other Expenses

The Group’s administrative and other expenses decreased by 17.1% to
HK$488 million (2023: HK$589 million) as compared to last year, mainly
due to the Group's stringent measures to reduce non-core and
non-essential operating expenses.

036

WER B EFIMARF TE2.0%ZE 05088 7T
TEZ=F051EET) - (AERERA WK
AHI05% © MEZREEBRAEZEZREEHEHD
MEEERNE MEREXEBEMNERIRF £
FHO2EBE DB E657% (ZFE - =4F 1 655%) °

Kﬁl”ﬁ%ﬂéﬂwﬂﬂﬁim 72% TR E
1% FTEHRNFARMEZEREBEAENE
uu%ﬂ%ﬁiiﬁiﬁﬁ@l

HAb WA

AEBEMNEMB AT FNE173% 2086185
T(ZEZ=F:104E8T)  TEHRNKA
RZRKMB AR ZHEB ZABIRE KRB AT
@(o
REVMERAALERE
AEBE_ZE_NFEHREBREVERIR
EEIs7EAL(ZE =4 : 230887L) -

TEARFABFTREBBERKS  EE
KETAEMENTSESKFREXERE -

HEREHEER

AEBNHEE R EHERIZF LT 286%ZE535
BAET(ZZTE_=F416(88L)  TEHN
FEERNERFRFARN  EHHEME N
REEHEREHERNFRERRIIA
B o

THREMEX
AEEMNITEEHMASTIZT TE171% %2488

BAET(ZE-_=F :58EFEB1L) TEHR
AEBBREEFIFERORIENBLERS -



Provision for Impairment of Inventories

During the year, prices of some of the Group's projects declined to
varying degrees amid the sluggish real estate market. The Group made
an impairment provision of HK$1,741 million (2023: HK$503 million) for
inventories with indications of impairment.

Impairment loss recognised under expected credit
loss model, net

The Group made an impairment provision of HK$366 million for other
receivables with indications of impairment, mainly arising from the
expected credit loss on other receivables associated with several joint
ventures and associates (2023: HK$174 million).

Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs charged to the statement of profit or loss
increased by 12.2% to HK$535 million (2023: HK$477 million) as
compared to last year, mainly due to the declining interest
capitalisation rate as a result of the completion of some projects during
the year.

Share of Results of Associates

The Group's share of loss of associates increased by 291.9% to HK$823
million (2023: HK$210 million) as compared to last year. The loss was
mainly due to the associates made a provision for the impairment of
inventories with indications of impairment, which resulted in an
increase in the proportionate share of loss by the Group.

Share of Results of Joint Ventures

The Group's share of profit of joint ventures increased by 76.5% to
HKS60 million (2023: HK$34 million) as compared to last year, mainly
attributable to the recognition of revenue by certain joint ventures of
the Group.

Loss and Core Loss Attributable to Equity Holders of
the Company

In view of the above, the Group’s net loss was HKS$3,748 million (2023:
HKS$526 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 612.5%. The
loss attributable to equity holders of the Company was HK$3,521
million (2023: HK$1,016 million), representing a year-on-year increase of
246.6%. Core loss attributable to equity holders of the Company was
HKS566 million (2023: HK$44 million). The basic loss per share was
HK105.19 cents (2023: HK30.34 cents).
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Financial Position

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's total assets decreased by 23.4%
to HKS$41,031 million (2023: HKS$53,575 million) whilst net assets
decreased by 35.5% to HK$9,257 million (2023: HKS$14,348 million). The
decrease in net assets was mainly attributable to the loss attributable
to equity holders of the Company of HK$3,521 million as well as the
capital reduction and dividend distribution to shareholders for joint
projects totalling HK$1,011 million during the year.

The contract liabilities, which mainly represent pre-sale proceeds
received by the Group that will subsequently be recognised as the
Group's revenue when presold properties are completed and delivered
to buyers. During the year, the Group’s contract liabilities decreased by
71.1% to HKS$1,648 million (2023: HK$5,707 million), which was mainly
due to the Group's recognised revenue exceeding the receipt from new
contracted sales during the year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's gearing ratio (total liabilities to
total assets) was 77.4% (2023: 73.2%). The gearing ratio, net of contract
liabilities and deferred revenue, was 76.4% (2023: 69.9%). The net
gearing ratio (net debt to total equity) was 203.3% (2023: 138.0%). The
increase in net gearing ratio was mainly due to the loss attributable to
the equity holders of the Company of HK$3,521 million during the year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year, the Group's working capital was mainly derived from
cash flows generated from business operations and borrowings.

For offshore financing, the Group entered into a 2-year club loan
agreement of HKS$2.6 billion with certain banks in January 2024 and
issued a total of RMB1.0 billion 366-day credit enhancement bonds
from March to April 2024, the proceeds of which were used to replace
the existing Hong Kong dollar borrowings. In terms of onshore
financing, the Group entered into serval construction loans in the first
half of 2024. The Group proactively adjusted its borrowing structure to
increase the proportion of RMB borrowings and reduce the size of
offshore borrowings, and actively reduced the size of borrowings to
effectively safeguard the Company’s capital.

Total borrowings of the Group amounted to HK$21,683 million as at
31 December 2024 (2023: HK$23,317 million). The Group will continue
to optimize its borrowings portfolio and step up its borrowings
reduction.
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The maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings was as follows:

AEE 2B PERMOT

31 December 2024
—E-_mME+=A=1+—H

31 December 2023
—E-=F+-A=1+—H

Percentage Percentage

share of share of

HK$ million borrowings HKS million borrowings

fEfER fEfE R

BBET BoL BEET ERiyd

Within one year —&ER 16,295 75.2% 15,223 65.3%
In the second year E_F 4,316 19.9% 2,077 8.9%
In the third to fifth year F-FEERF 743 3.4% 6,017 25.8%
More than five years FFEMNE 329 1.5% — —
Total Foy 21,683 100.0% 23317 100.0%

The currency profile of the Group’s borrowings was as follows:

AEBZEREEBEROT

31 December 2024

31 December 2023

—E-mE+=-A=+-AH “ECZH+-A=1—H
Percentage Percentage
share of share of
HK$ million borrowings HKS million borrowings
R 1=
BE#BT BR BEET ERiss
Hong Kong Dollar BT 8,785 40.5% 11,271 48.3%
Renminbi ARE 10,521 48.5% 7,359 31.6%
United States Dollar =Y 2,377 11.0% 4,687 20.1%
Total st 21,683 100.0% 23317 100.0%
The Group was in the progress of obtaining waivers from banks for NEEIER

non-compliance with the financial covenants of certain facility
agreements with bank borrowings amounting to HK$9,878 million,
which also caused cross defaults to other bank borrowings amounting
to HKS$1,762 million as at 31 December 2024. Non-compliance with the
financial covenants and causing cross defaults give the banks the
unconditional right to demand repayment at any time. In accordance
with HKAS 1, the non-current portion of the aforementioned
borrowings, which have not been given waivers before 31 December
2024, amounting to HKS$8,174 million have been reclassified to current
liabilities as at 31 December 2024. As at the reporting date, the Group
has not received any loan repayment notice from banks to repay the
aforementioned borrowings.
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During the year, the finance cost recognised in profit or loss amounted
to HKS$535 million (2023: HKS$477 million) after deducting of
capitalisation of HK$674 million (2023: HK$S886 million) into properties
under development.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's cash and bank deposits
(excluding restricted cash and bank deposits) amounted to HK$2,822
million (2023: HK$3,411 million), of which 76.9%,19.1% and 4.0% (2023:
93.7%, 5.9% and 0.4%) were denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong
dollar and United States dollar respectively. The unutilised banking
facilities of the Group as at 31 December 2024 amounted to HKS$4,089
million (2023: HK$6,996 million).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND INTEREST RATES

Exchange Rate Risk

The Group's principal business is located in Mainland China where
revenue is primarily denominated in Renminbi and external financing is
primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollar. The Group is exposed to
exchange rate risk in transactions that are denominated in a currency
other than Hong Kong dollar, the reporting and functional currency of
the Company. The Group has been closely monitoring the fluctuation
in Renminbi exchange rate and has considered necessary measures to
minimise the impact arising from exchange rate fluctuation including
adjustment to the proportion of borrowings in foreign currencies and
utilisation of foreign exchange hedging instruments such as forward
foreign exchange contracts or capped forward contracts.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk resulting from
fluctuation in interest rates. Most of the Group’s borrowings bear a
floating rate and therefore, an increase in interest rate would raise the
Group's finance costs. In order to mitigate the interest rate risk, the
Group entered into an interest rate swap contract in which the Group
would receive interest of one-month HIBOR and pay monthly interest at
a fixed rate based on the notional amount of HKS$S0.8 billion. As at
31 December 2024, 41.3% (2023: 27.6%) of the Group's borrowings
bears interest at a fixed rate, while the remaining balance bears interest
at a floating rate.

As at 31 December 2024, save as disclosed above, the Group did not
have/held any financial instruments for hedging or speculative
purposes.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 December 2024, certain assets of the Group were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group and mortgage
loan facilities to the purchasers of the Group’s properties, and these
pledged assets of the Group included:

inventories with carrying amounts of HK$4,265 million (2023:
HKS$13,515 million);

ii. property, plant and equipment with carrying amounts of HK$312
million (2023: HKS$272 million); and

iii. investment properties with carrying amounts of HK$317 million
(2023: HKS274 million).

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to purchasers of the Group'’s properties amounted to
HK$4,681 million (2023: HKS$7,051 million). Such guarantees will
terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of the property ownership
certificate (generally within one year after the purchasers take
possession of the relevant properties); or (i) the repayment of
mortgage loans by the purchasers. After taking into account the net
realisable value of these properties and the low default rate, the
Directors consider that the fair value of the financial guarantee at initial
recognition and subsequently at the end of subsequent reporting
period is not significant.

EMPLOYEES

The total number of staff (including the Directors) of the Group,
decreased 7.0% to 1,017 (2023: 1,094) as at 31 December 2024. The
Group will continue to adopt a remuneration policy in line with market
practice where it operates. The total remuneration and benefits for the
Directors and staff of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to HK$392 million (2023: HK$425 million).
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Directors and the management of the Company are committed to
and responsible for the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices. The Board has put in place a corporate governance structure
for the Company which is principally responsible for setting directions,
formulating strategies, monitoring performance and managing risks of
the Group. The respective Board committees oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs and perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year ended
31 December 2024, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules, except for deviations from code provisions B.2.2 and C.2.1.

Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. While pursuant
to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the
“Group”) include real estate development, specialised construction and
property investment. As a leading real estate developer, the Group
strives to provide high quality and reliable products and services and to
create value for stakeholders through innovative and sustainable
development.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs. The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company, however, are delegated to the management

of the Company.

The Board comprises nine members as at the date of this Annual

Report, the composition of which is set out below:

EEg

B an T

EXCRAAERERARRZEE  IK
BREARANEEARAZER  MARF
EEABRERHITARBZEEERE
TBREEEE -

RAFEHRAY  EFSMNREFAR - F15

Sustainable
Development
Executive Remuneration Nomination Committee
Name of Directors Designation Committee  Audit Committee  Committee Committee ARERE
EEps B HITERE EREEE FMERE REZEE ZEg
Mr. He Jianbo Chairman & Executive Director C M C C
8% 5 4 IRRMTES
Mr. Liu Bo Managing Director & M M
Executive Director
El)bit ERREBRNTES
Mr. Chen Xingwu Deputy Managing Director & M M
Executive Director
BRER 4 EZPBLERHNES
Mr. Yang Shangping Deputy Managing Director & M
Executive Director
BETEE ESFRLBRINES
Ms. He Xiaoli Non-executive Director
NERL FUMTES
Mr. Huang Guoping Non-executive Director
RS FNiTES
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy Independent Non-executive Director M M M
Mep B BUFNTES
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny Independent Non-executive Director M C M
BEMBZRL BUFRTES
Professor Wang Xiuli Independent Non-executive Director C M M

FEBHE

C: Chairman M: Member
C:EBM:KE

BUFHTES
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Biographical details of Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management'’s Profile” in this Annual Report. To
the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships amongst members of
the Board.

The Company has complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules
to have at least three Independent Non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of members of the Board and with at
least one Independent Non-executive Director possessing appropriate
accounting and financial management expertise and professional
qualifications.

The Company received written confirmations from each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors confirming their independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

All Independent Non-executive Directors hold directorships in no more
than seven listed companies (including the Company) and would be
able to devote sufficient time and attention to perform their duties.

Each of the Non-executive Directors (except Mr. Huang Guoping) and
Independent Non-executive Directors, have entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years. Mr. Huang
Guoping as a Non-executive Director, has no fixed term of service with
the Company. All Non-executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting at least once every three
years in accordance with the Bye-laws.

Every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, are
subject to retirement by rotation in the manner as set out in code
provision B.2.2 of the CG Code save for the Chairman and the
Managing Director of the Company where they are not required to do
so pursuant to the Private Company Act 1981 of Bermuda under which
the Company is incorporated.

The Directors acknowledge that they have a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company and commit themselves to
spend sufficient time to perform their duties. They are also aware of
their collective and individual responsibility to Shareholders. As such,
they have taken active interest in the Company’s affairs and obtained
thorough understanding of the business of the Company.
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Deviating from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, Mr. He Jianbo, an
Executive Director of the Company, serves as the Chairman of the
Board. He is responsible for the overall strategic direction of the Group,
management of the Board as well as organising the management of
the Company for strategic planning and business operations thereby
enabling more effective implementation of long-term strategies. It is
believed that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
as major decisions have been made in consultation with the Board,
which comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors and two
Non-executive Directors offering their experience, expertise,
independent advice and views from different perspective.

The Company has established “Mechanisms Ensuring Independent
Views Available to the Board” for Directors to seek independent
professional advice in the discharge of their duties and responsibilities,
and to ensure that independent views and input are available to the
Board. The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanisms annually.

The Company enables the Directors, upon request, to seek advice from
independent professional advisers at the Company's expense in the
process of discharging their duties. The Company has also arranged for
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of legal
action against Directors arising from corporate activities.

During the vyear, a total of four Board meetings and two general
meetings were held. Notice of regular Board meetings is given to all
Directors at least fourteen days in advance. The attendance of Directors
at the above meetings in 2024 is as follows:
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Number of meetings attended/held

HEBITEERE

Board Meeting General Meeting
Name of Directors EENA ES5g BRAE
Mr. He Jianbo Al 818 % &£ 4/4 2/2
Mr. Liu Bo 2Rt 4/4 2/2
Mr. Chen Xingwu PR S I 5 A 4/4 2/2
Mr. Yang Shangping DR e 4/4 0/2
Ms. He Xiaoli fal/NEX LT 4/4 2/2
Mr. Huang Guoping EEHFEE 4/4 2/2
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy Nl e 4/4 2/2
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny EoWMES =+ 3/4 1/2
Professor Wang Xiuli T HBEX 4/4 2/2
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, the newly appointed Director receives a
comprehensive induction package and training covering the Company’s
constitutional documents, internal policies, guidance and procedures as
well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a
Director to ensure that he/she is thoroughly aware of his/her
responsibility under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulations.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments or updates to
the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other regulatory
regimes. The Company provides monthly reports to Directors which
contain updates on business development and financial information of
the Group. During the year, the Company arranged in-house training
sessions on board functions and responsibilities for the relationship
between independent non-executive directors and executive directors,
conducted by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development.
The individual training record of Directors for the year ended
31 December 2024 is set out below:

ESCFERIIRER

EMAEEZER FEESKESFENA
BERLE  BREARRABERXMN R
HBIREE - I MR ARERESE KR &
REEERESESTEMARTAETZER
AT (R L 78 20 W R L 7 7 AR A1) K L At 4
EEROITZEE

BEoN - EEIREMEE N EWAA - ARES
FRREMBERAPINERTREHNER -
ARRNEFARNEFREAKERNED
EREMBEEMZRE - RAFEAR - RNQF]
NEZFTHEELES2ENESRENAMESE
VIMTERERTESTH ET SRR
BEEMAREEIIRIE -

FREEEHELHEBBETEXHERE - RE
E_Z-_NF+_A=Z+—HILFE &=
E2EILET

Attending

expert briefings,

Briefings & seminars &
updates on conferences
business and/or reading

operations & materials of the

compliance seminars
matters HEZEFEE
FHEKEER WMIEkwiE
RESHEZE®R & SHBE
Name of Directors BEE REHER mErEms
Executive Directors: BITES
Mr. He Jianbo Al &I % A= v/ v/
Mr. Liu Bo 2Rt v v
Mr. Chen Xingwu PR B S 4 v v/
Mr. Yang Shangping 158 e v/ v/
Non-executive Directors: FHITES:
Ms. He Xiaoli A/ NBz+ v/ v
Mr. Huang Guoping HE T AL v/ v
Independent Non-executive Directors: B EHITESE :
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy MR B S A v v/
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny ‘UM B L L v/ v/
Professor Wang Xiuli T AR v v/
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has established a set of guidelines as its own “Rules and
Procedures for Directors and Relevant Employees of the Company in
respect of Dealings in Securities of the Company” (the “Rules for
Securities Transactions”) on terms no less exacting than those
contained in the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiries, all the Directors have confirmed
in writing that they have complied with the Rules for Securities
Transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2024,

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial
statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and its results and cash flows for the relevant financial period.
The Directors are also responsible for the timely publication of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024, the Directors confirmed that the consolidated financial
statements had been prepared in accordance with the statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable, and the
consolidated financial statements had been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Directors confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, they are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement made by Ernst & Young, the independent auditor of the
Company, about their reporting responsibility on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” in this Annual
Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group and, through the Audit Committee, for reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems annually, so as to protect Shareholders’
interest and safeguard the Group’s assets. The Board has authorised the
management to design, implement and maintain its risk management
and internal control systems by clearly defining responsibility, authority
and accountability. Under the guidance of the Audit Committee, the
Internal Audit Department of the Company monitors the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting independent
reviews.

The Board acknowledges that effective risk management and internal
control are essential for business growth and sustainability of the Group
in the long-term. The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

A. Risk Management Framework

The Group adopts a “top-down” and “bottom-up” approach
whereby the three lines of defence of business units, the
management and the Internal Audit Department working
together to identify, assess and manage significant risks at
corporate, operational and functional aspects.

Each business unit and its management team are responsible for
managing its own risks in the course of daily operations. It
requires the identifying, measuring and monitoring of the
management measures of individual risk to ensure that it is
within the risk appetite of the Group. It also requires the
implementation of risk management plans as recommended by
the Internal Audit Department and the Audit Committee to
address those significant risks that may affect business
operations.
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The Audit Committee together with the Internal Audit
Department and management regularly monitor and update the
Group's risk profile and appetite. By reviewing business and
operation reports from Internal Audit Department and the
management, the Audit Committee assists the Board to oversee
the risk management and internal control systems on an
on-going bases and review its effectiveness with the Internal
Audit Department.

Under the direction of the Audit Committee, the Internal Audit
Department follows a risk-oriented approach to furnish annual
internal audit plan. The Internal Audit Department performs
internal audit works and furnishes report findings to the Audit
Committee that provide the Audit Committee with independent
and objective assessment on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The
major internal audit works of the year include audit reviews of
operations, controlling mechanism, legal compliance and
compliance of internal rules and regulations. Special attention
was given to matters involving significant risks or changes.

Internal audit reports are presented at the Audit Committee
meetings. Major findings and recommendation are followed up
and reported to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. Minutes
of the Audit Committee meetings are then tabled at Board
meetings to report the Audit Committee’s findings on risk
management and internal control issues such as changes in the
nature and extent of significant risks since the last review, those
newly identified significant risks that require the attention of the
Board, and the recommendation or opinion on management'’s
response thereto.

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information in accordance with its “Policy on Disclosure of Inside
Information” to ensure that inside information remains
confidential until such time as it is disclosed and disseminated in
an efficient and consistent manner.
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B. Significant Risks and Control Measures B. EXAERREZEER

EXE b FE R R K AR 15 A B
Bl e BEARERFAZEXNERER
Mz AMEERERSAET

Significant risks have been identified through the process of risk
identification and assessment. A summary of the significant risks
of the Group together with the relevant internal control

N 050

measures imposed during the year is listed below.

a.  Market Risk 5 E B
Market risk is the key challenge of the Group. All of the MiZRBREREEmMYEN —IHE
Group's residential and commercial property development KER - REBMBREANMHE
and investment in Mainland China are subject to risks EREEHETFRRIEE X5
associated with the PRC property market such as policy BEREE . HRE T BEL
change, demand-supply rebalance, change in general EARRE R EE HKIEREF
economic conditions and availability of financing which BEEmSRBREEMTE X
may pose an adversely affected on the Group's financial SUARENMGREERRE
and operation condition. AT FE o

b.  Operational Risk EERE

Operational risk is another significant risk identified by the
Group during the year. The events of default caused by
purchasers and strategic partners together with human
error and system inadequacies or failure can have an

EBERRAAKRENFEFANELHN
A—REAER - KBEPERE
BUEXBBRANRETR KR
ABRRREFETREIKR

.

o~

s impact on the Group's operations, resulting in financial AR e A RERN L ERRIEHA

S loss, litigation, and reputational damage. FE SIMPBEL  EEFD
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< ¢.  Review of Risk Management and Internal Control EBREERABEEZ 2B
Systems
The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the EFZEERERZEERIAR
effectiveness of the Company's risk management and AEREERABEERFNE
internal control systems. The Audit Committee instructs Mt BREEGETIAER
the Internal Audit Department to carry out independent TR EE NN HERERE
reviews to assess the effectiveness of the risk management RN EL 6 R T8y B R o
and internal control systems.

o

w

[

S

-

o

z

<

-

wv

-

<<

-

w

=

Z

=



The management of the business units annually review
and update their risk registers to ensure that effective
controls are in place. They also conduct self-assessment on
internal control annually and confirm that appropriate
internal control policies and procedures have been
established and are being properly followed. Having regard
to the Group's risk appetite (i.e. the extent of risk the
Group is willing to take in pursuit of its strategic and
business objectives), the Audit Committee reviews the
following with reference to the assessment made by the
management and the Internal Audit Department to assess
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems:

a. the provision of timely and comprehensive
information to the Audit Committee and the Board
to enable effective assessment of the monitoring
measures within the Group such as the reliability of
financial reporting, the compliance with applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the effectiveness of
risk management;

b. reviewing internal audit reports to ascertain the
efficiency in rectifying internal control deficiencies
and status of the implementation of
recommendation provided by the Internal Audit
Department; and

C. reviewing management reports to assess the key
business risk and the management’s response to
changes in the Group’s business and external
environment.

The Audit Committee initiates or as delegated by the
Board, directs independent investigations of significant
internal control deficiencies and reviews the findings and
the management’s feedback thereon.

Based on the assessments made by the management and
the Internal Audit Department and taking into account the
audit work performed by the independent auditor, the
Board and the Audit Committee consider that no
significant areas of concern in respect of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems were identified
during the year of 2024.

Based on the review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems performed
during the year, the Board considers such systems to be
effective and adequate.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

EEEZE

1%

Audit Committee A. BEZZEE
All the members of the Audit Committee are Independent EZLZEGNEHRBYFNTES
Non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is principally BEFZBEARN  VHAEE 20K
responsible for reviewing () the effectiveness of the financial P SR AR Fr DA I BB B 38 RN A B BS 4 & 4
reporting procedures and risk management and internal control ZHEBME (VB ZEMZEE - R
systems of the Group; (i) the appointment of independent HETHESEMIESS  R>iNFTE RSB
auditor and the efficiency and quality of their work; and (i) all B REUREEBHZERENRE
internal audit reports as well as management feedback on such BR -
reports.
The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year. The EZZEERNFAETTZREH &
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee is as KEEFERZBERAT :
follows:

Attendance
Members of the Audit Committee BEREEBERE HEIR "
Professor Wang Xiuli — Chairman EFEBHE — X% 3/3
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy PRAR B SR A& 3/3
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BEMB T 3/3
The major tasks accomplished by the Audit Committee during EZZEENFANTRAEZTERMR
the year are summarised as follows: mr

a. reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, the
independent auditor’s letter to the management and the
annual results announcement, and made recommendation
on such financial statements, report and announcement to
the Board for approval;

b. reviewed the interim financial information of the Group for
the six months ended 30 June 2024 and the interim
results announcement, and made recommendation on
such financial information and announcement to the
Board for approval;

C. reviewed the management recommendation furnished by
the independent auditor and the response from the
management;
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d. reviewed the audit strategy for the year ended 31
December 2024 provided by the independent auditor and
made recommendation to the Board for the independent
auditor’'s appointment, remuneration and terms of
engagement on audit services for the year ended
31 December 2024,

e. reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the
independent auditor for non-audit services;

f. reviewed with the management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group;

g. oversaw the implementation of the Group’s risk
management framework and assisted the Board in
conducting independent evaluation of the effectiveness of
the Group's financial reporting procedures and risk
management and internal control systems;

h. ensured that the management has fulfilled its duty to
establish and maintain effective risk management and
internal control systems including adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff working in the
Group's accounting and financial reporting function;

reviewed the top-tier risks of the Group and recommended
actions to mitigate those risks;

j. furnished opinions to the management on risks associated
with significant matters of the Group;

k. reviewed internal audit reports prepared by the Internal
Audit Department, provided guidelines for internal audit
planning and reporting, and ensured that the internal
audit function was provided with adequate resources to
discharge its responsibility; and

reviewed the changes (where applicable) to the procedures
for monitoring connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions and the whistleblowing
mechanism.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the
Company at www.minmetalsland.com.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of the Chairman of the
Board and all the Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee is principally responsible for the review
of the remuneration mechanism and incentive scheme of the
Directors and senior management, and the establishment and
maintenance of a reasonable and competitive remuneration
package to attract and retain Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee was authorised by the Board to
determine the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and
senior management and make recommendation to the Board for
the remuneration of Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year.
The attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee
is as follows:

B. F¥MZES

FHEZEEeREREREFE IR EE
BIFATES HIZBARENE
ELRBEEEAB ZH MM R/
g BURERAERARF N ZHH
BAGSE  ARSIMRBEZERGEE
BEAE-

VPR SRET O RRETNTES
EEEEEABNIHIMNGE LRI
TEENFHRNESSRHES

FHZEENFARITT —REH " &
REHFEEZZBRMAT

Attendance
Members of the Remuneration Committee FMEEERE R E
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny — Chairman BoWHZE — R 1/1
Mr. He Jianbo A &I % & /1
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy A B S 1/1
Professor Wang Xiuli FHEBEHIX /1

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and
approved the proposals for the 2023 annual bonus and the 2024
annual salary adjustment.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange at
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company at www.minmetalsland.com.
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Nomination Committee C.

The Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman of the
Board and all the Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee is principally responsible for formulating
policy on nomination of Directors and leading the process of
identifying and nominating candidates suitably qualified to
become Board members. It reviews the structure, size and
composition of the Board and makes recommendation to the
Board on re-appointment of Directors as well as succession plan
for the Chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the
Company. The Nomination Committee also reviews the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the equality of its performance. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diverse perspectives, which include
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, integrity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Nomination Committee has the
primary responsibility for the implementation of such policy and
review its effectiveness on an annual basis.

The Board also values diversity (including gender diversity) at all
levels of the Group. Details of the Group’s gender ratio, together
with relevant data, can be found in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year.
The attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee is
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as follows:

Attendance
Members of the Nomination Committee REEZEEHRE HEIRE
Mr. He Jianbo — Chairman gk e — £5% 1/1
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy MR A 1/1
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BN 1/1
Professor Wang Xiuli FHEBEHE 1/1
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During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and
the Company at www.minmetalsland.com.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consists of all executive Directors. The
Executive Committee is principally responsible for the daily
operations of the Company, including but not limited to,
approving transactions and/or expenses in the ordinary course of
business of the Group, loans or bank facilities to be granted to
the Group and the operations of bank accounts, etc.

Sustainable Development Committee

The Sustainable Development Committee consists of the
Chairman of the Board, the Managing Director and a Deputy
Managing Director. The Sustainable Development Committee is
principally responsible for the Group’s sustainability-related
matters, including formulating sustainability strategies, identifying
and managing sustainability risks, enhancing sustainability
performance, and conducting sustainability reporting, etc.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is collectively responsible for determining the
Company's corporate governance policy and performing the
following duties:

a. to develop and review policies and practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and compliance with legal and

regulatory requirements;

b. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct of the
Company; and
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C to review the Company's compliance of the CG Code as
well as the disclosures made in the Company’s Corporate
Governance Report.

During the vyear, the Board has reviewed the position on
compliance with the CG Code, and approved the Corporate
Governance Report contained in the Company's 2024 Annual
Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ernst & Young, the
independent auditor of the Group, received approximately
HK$3,380,000 (2023: HK$3,490,000) for audit services, and approximately
HKS$770,000 (2023: HK$790,000) for non-audit services which include the
review of the 2024 Interim Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheng Ka Hang, Francis resigned as Company Secretary of the
Company on 14 June 2024. The Board has appointed Mr. Yiu Yu
Cheung as Company Secretary of the Company and alternate to the
authorised representatives of the Company to Mr. He Jianbo and
Mr. Chen Xingwu with effect from 14 June 2024. He is an associate
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. He is also a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant.
Mr. Yiu has participated in professional training activities for more than
15 hours in 2024.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening special general meetings on
requisition and putting forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
share capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at
general meetings of the Company have the right to request the
Directors to convene a special general meeting of the Company.
The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
and must be signed by the requisitionist and deposited at the
registered office of the Company.

If the Directors fail to duly convene a meeting within 21 days of
the date of deposit of the requisition, the requisitionist, or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights
of all requisitionist, may themselves convene a special general
meeting of the Company.

Enquiries from Shareholders
The Company’s website provides email address, postal address,

fax number and telephone number by which enquiries can be
made to the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTMENT COMMUNITY

The Company attaches great importance to communicating with
Shareholders and the investment community (which refers to the
Company'’s potential investors and research analysts who report on and
analyse the Company’s position and performance).

Corporate information is communicated to Shareholders and the
investment community by way of the Company’s announcements,
corporate website, meetings with Shareholders and general investor
relations activities.
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The Company believes that effective communication with investment
community is essential for promoting their understanding of the
Group’s business development. The Company releases property sales
update by way of announcement and press release on a regular basis.

A. Publication of announcements and corporate
website

The Company maintains its corporate website at
www.minmetalsland.com where announcements, financial
reports, press releases and update information of the Group are
available. It serves as a key channel for Shareholders and the
investment community to access reliable and timely information
about the Company. Shareholders would raise enquiries or
provide feedback via the designated section on the Company's
website.

The following corporate information is posted on the Company's
website as soon as it has been released by the Company to the
website of the Stock Exchange:

— announcements, notices and circulars

— annual reports and interim reports

—  Amended and Restated Bye-laws

— list of Directors and their role and function

—  terms of reference of the committees of the Board

—  procedures for election of Directors by Shareholders

AARRBHEFTEANALTRBERZER B
BORETHASBEEBRRCEEHE -
A RTE B DS R E R R B R 8
B e
A. FHIBEAERATHEIE
X A R OB B E A R H U
www.minmetalsland.com 3 A & ~ 81 7%
WE HERABEASESZHER
BB RIEE AT EERSARRSE
Bl EERE - REINAIFBBAND A

BUERMWE ARMREERARER
BRe

AR A AT ROR VAR B RER A
Bk % - BEEDNE BB A A WA -
— D% RERAX

—  ERRPHRE

—  EETREFERMA

— EExEHHEA

Ly
=

H

ap
BE

BevBEaEE

&

— EBEFEEHT

ES
— BREREZEFRF

059 —

ZE - HFR

IR EBRLA



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

N 060

The Company believes that regular and effective communication
with investment community is essential to enhancing corporate
governance and in particular, to their understanding of the
Company’s business development. The Company endeavours to
maintain regular meetings and dialogues with the investment
community through participation in investor conferences, analyst
and media briefings, non-deal road shows and investors’ and
shareholders’ visits.

The Company adopted the Shareholders Communication Policy
in 2021 with the aim of enhancing long-term shareholder value
through regular communication with its Shareholders, both
individual and institutional Shareholders. With the Shareholders
Communication Policy, the Company sets out the framework to
promote effective communication with Shareholders so as to
enable them to actively engage with the Company and exercise
their rights as Shareholders in an informed manner. During the
year, the Board reviewed the implementation of shareholders
engagement and communication activities. The Board considered
that the Shareholders Communication Policy has been effectively
implemented.

1 EE R A

B. General meetings of Shareholders B. REKE
Shareholders are encouraged to attend general meetings in RAAREBREFRELERRERE - 0
person or to appoint proxies to attend and vote on their behalf R EE  MAlZIRRBRRELFEIL
if they are unable to do so. They are welcome to raise questions REERE - KRAREGDRRERREA
and comments at general meetings, which members of the SLREARERER FFENELR
Board and independent auditor of the Company are delighted to PNEIBYZEMESHNE FEIZERE Y
answer. 2R e
Shareholders are informed of the voting procedures of general REAEEFSRBRRBERRERNSH
meetings by the chairman of the general meeting. The Company R RIET 0 AR R I E R R AR R K
also provides Shareholders with sufficient and timely information CHH  HELZENFAER UK
concerning the date, location and agenda of general meetings HEMIRERE il @ 2 BHEER -
and other information regarding issues to be decided at general
meetings.
The Company ensures votes cast are properly counted and RARZEBLEZEEBERREASH
recorded. Independent scrutineers are appointed to count the BETE UTHRRIEZEAERERT
number of votes cast at general meetings. The Company B MIEELERAERRERRSEITE
announces and publishes, on the same day of the general PN ) R Bt 22 P 4R B A o
meeting, the poll voting results on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange.

C. Investor relations activities C. REEBRTE
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WHISTLEBLOWING AND ANTI-CORRUPTION
POLICY

In accordance with code provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the Company
has adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing Policy”). The
Whistleblowing Policy provides guidance and reporting channels for
employees and the relevant third parties who deal with the Group to
report any suspected impropriety in any matter relating to the Group
directly and confidentially to the designated person in the Human
Resources and Administration Department. The nature, status and
outcome of complaints received under the Whistleblowing Policy are
regularly reported to the Audit Committee.

In accordance with code provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the Company
has adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-Corruption Policy”). It
sets out the guidelines and minimum standards of conduct, all
applicable laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption and
anti-bribery, the responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to assist
the Group in defending itself against corrupt practices and to report
any reasonable suspicion of fraud and corruption or any attempt to do
so to management or through an appropriate reporting channel. The
Group will not tolerate any form of fraud or corruption among all
employees and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on
behalf of the Group and in its dealings with third parties.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents (i.e. the
Bye-laws) during the year.
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DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S PROFILE
Y SR ¢ YN R ]y

DIRECTORS
BEE

Mr. He Jianbo
177 81 3% % &

Chairman

TE

Mr. He Jianbo, aged 55, was appointed as an Executive Director and Managing Director of the
Company in December 2007 and is currently the Chairman of the Board. Mr. He is responsible for the
overall strategic direction of the Group and organising the management for the strategic planning and
business operations of the Company. Mr. He is a Senior International Business Engineer in the PRC and a

Chief Senior Economist in the PRC, a Vice President of the China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce and

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

a member of the Political Consultative Conference of Dongcheng District, Beijing, the PRC. He graduated
from the Peking University in 1992 with a Bachelor's Degree in Economics and holds a Master's Degree
in International Finance from Peking University and a Master's Degree in Business Administration from
Saint Mary's University, Canada. Mr. He joined China Minmetals in 1992 and had served the positions of
director of general administrative office, director of strategic planning division and a member of the
strategic planning committee of China Minmetals. Mr. He has extensive experience in real estate

development, corporate management, strategic planning and investment.
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Mr. Liu Bo
2R EHE

Managing Director
EEAEKE

Mr. Chen Xingwu
BRE R &

Deputy Managing Director
S $ | 48 4% 18

Mr. Liu Bo, aged 60, acts as the General Manager of the Company
since January 2019 and was appointed as an Executive Director
and the Managing Director of the Company in March 2020. Mr. Liu
holds a Master's Degree in Engineering from the Architecture and
Engineering Faculty of Xi'an University of Architecture and
Technology and is a qualified professorate senior engineer in the
PRC. He is also an expert of the expert committee of the China
Construction Industry Association and a deputy director/an expert
of expert group (committee) of the construction project
management and constructor division branch of the China
Construction Industry Association. Mr. Liu joined China
Metallurgical Group Corporation (“MCC Group”) in 1988 and was
the chief economist of MCC Group and Metallurgical Corporation
of China Ltd. He had served senior management positions in
various subsidiaries of MCC Group for constructional design, and
development and promotional of construction and technology
works. He has extensive experience in land development and city
complex’s EPC general contracting construction (including the EPC
contracting construction of the Singapore Universal Studio
project). Mr. Liu has participated in the development and research
works in various technological research and has obtained various
patents and technological awards in the PRC. Mr. Liu was granted
a special government grant by the State Council in 2011 in
recognition of his distinguished contribution to the development
of constructional technology in the PRC.
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Mr. Chen Xingwu, aged 55, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of the Company in June 2018 and an Executive Director
and a Deputy Managing Director of the Company in November
2018. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics from the
University of International Business and Economics and is a
qualified Accountant and an International Business Engineer in the
PRC. Mr. Chen joined China Minmetals in 1991 and has been
serving various departments and subsidiaries of China Minmetals
group in international trade, international merger and acquisition
finance and corporate management. Mr. Chen has extensive
experience in strategic financing and investment, and corporate
financial management.
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Mr. Yang Shangping
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Deputy Managing Director
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Ms. He Xiaoli
fANBLZ L
Non-executive Director
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Mr. Yang Shangping, aged 51, was appointed as an Executive
Director and a Deputy Managing Director of the Company in June
2017. Mr. Yang holds a Bachelor's Degree in Civil Structural
Engineering from Tongji University and a Master's Degree in
Business Administration from Fudan University. Mr. Yang joined the
Company as the general manager of a real estate development
company of the Company in Nanjing in 2007 and is now
responsible for the strategic investment and design management
divisions of the Company. He had participated in project works for
China Overseas Holdings Ltd. and Shanghai Vanke Co., Ltd. for
over 10 years. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in project
management, strategic investment, sales and marketing and
costing management.
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Ms. He Xiaoli, aged 57, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company in February 2002 and a Deputy Managing Director
of the Company in December 2009. She was re-designated as a
Non-executive Director of the Company in November 2018.
Ms. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics (majoring in
Accounting) from North China University of Technology and a
Master's Degree in Business Administration from the University of
South Australia. She is a qualified PRC Chief Senior Accountant
and a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. He was the head
of business division and the deputy minister of accounting
information division of the finance department of the former
China National Nonferrous Metals Industry Corporation. Ms. He was
also the supervisor of Minmetals Development Co., Limited, the
director of China Minmetals H.K. (Holdings) Limited, the chairman
of the supervisory board of Minmetals Finance Co., Ltd. and the
director of Hunan Non-Ferrous Metals Holding Group Ltd. She is
currently a chairman of the supervisory board of Minmetals New
Energy Materials (Hunan) Co., Ltd. Ms. He has extensive experience
in corporate finance and investment, capital market operations
and financial management.
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Mr. Huang Guoping, aged 62, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company in February 2022. Mr. Huang holds a
Bachelor's Degree in engineering (majoring in non-ferrous metal
metallurgy) from Central South Institute of Mining and Metallurgy
(now known as Central South University). Mr. Huang joined China
Minmetals in 2000 and has been serving in various subsidiaries of
China Minmetals for non-ferrous metal metallurgy, trading and
corporate management businesses. Mr. Huang was a part-time
external director and supervisor of China Minmetals and a director
and the chairman of China Minmetals Rare Earth Co., Ltd. He is
currently a director of Minmetals Development Co., Limited.
Mr. Huang has extensive experience in non-ferrous metal
metallurgy and business management.
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Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy, aged 77, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
September 2015. Mr. Lam graduated from the University of Hong
Kong. He also holds a Master's Degree in Science of Management
from the Stanford Graduate School of Business. He joined the
Hong Kong Government as Administrative Officer in 1970 and had
worked in areas like housing, environmental protection, land
administration, procurement, financial services and large
infrastructure projects including Hong Kong International Airport,
etc. He had served as the CEO of the Airport Authority and the
Managing Director of the Urban Renewal Authority and a member
of the Lantau Development Advisory Committee and the Country
and Marine Parks Board. Currently, he is a director of Life
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Education Activity Programme and a court member and an
Billy ' adjunct professor of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
M B EE Mr. Lam, a Justice of Peace since 2004, was awarded the Golden

Independent Non-executive Director Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR Government in 2008.
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Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny, aged 72, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in April
2018. Ms. Law graduated from the University of Hong Kong with
an Honours degree in Science. She holds a Master's degree in
Public Administration from Harvard University and was named a
Littauer Fellow. She also holds a Master's degree in Education
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Before retiring from
the civil service in 2007, Ms. Law was the Commissioner of the
Hong Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption. During
her 30 years in the civil service, Ms. Law has worked in many
fields, including medical and health, economic services, housing,
land and planning, home affairs, social welfare, civil service,
transport and education. Ms. Law is currently an independent
non-executive director of China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited,
Nameson Holdings Limited, China Taiping Insurance Holdings
Company Limited and New World Development Company Limited
(all listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange). She was an external
director of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, an
independent non-executive director of CLP Holdings Limited, a
member of the Executive Council of the Government of the
HKSAR and the HKSAR Deputy to the 11th and 12th National
People’s Congress of the PRC. Ms. Law was awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star and the Grand Bauhinia Medal in 2003 and 2017
respectively by the Government of the HKSAR in recognition of
her distinguished service to the community. She is also a Justice
of Peace since 2008.
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Professor Wang Xiuli, aged 59, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in July 2022.
Professor Wang holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics from
Renmin University of China, a Master's Degree in Management
from the University of International Business and Economics and a
Doctorate Degree in Economics from the University of
International Business and Economics. She is also a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Professor Wang
has been teaching at the University of International Business and
Economics since 1988 and is currently a professor at the Business
School of the University of International Business and Economics.
Professor Wang has extensive experience in financial accounting,
corporate financial statements analysis and internationalisation of
accounting standards.

Professor Wang Xiuli 5

IFBAR '

Independent Non-executive Director Professor Wang is currently an independent director of Zhongke
BUFATES Cambrian Technology Co., Ltd. (listed on Shanghai Stock

Exchange). She was an independent director of Minmetals
Development Co., Ltd., Three Squirrels Co., Ltd., Ecovacs Robotics
Co., Ltd. and Guoxin Health Insurance Service Group Co., Ltd..
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Mr. Dai Pengyu
BBEFxx

Deputy General Manager
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Mr. Lei Feilong
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Deputy General Manager
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Mr. Dai Pengyu, aged 42, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of the Company in March 2020. Mr. Dai holds a
Bachelor's Degree from Xi'an University of Architecture and
Technology, majoring in business administration. Mr. Dai joined
the Company in 2007 and has been serving senior management
positions in various real estate development subsidiaries of the
Company in central, eastern and southern China. Mr. Dai is now
responsible for the operational management department and
marketing management department of the Company. Mr. Dai has
extensive experience in real estate operation management and
marketing.
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Mr. Lei Feilong, aged 42, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of the Company in August 2024. Mr. Lei holds a
Bachelor's Degree of engineering in Civil Engineering from
Zhejiang University and a Master's Degree of engineering in Civil
Engineering from Tsinghua University and is a qualified senior
engineer in the PRC. Mr. Lei joined China Minmetals in 2010 and
had served as a general manager in charge in Jiangyin region of
the Company, a deputy general manager in charge of the
Company's regional company in southern China and a general
manager of Minmetals (Shantou) Yuedong Logistics New City
Development Co., Ltd, a general manager of urban development
division (Industrial Research Institute) of the Company and a
general manager of Minmetals Industrial Investment Development
Co., Ltd. Mr. Lei is now responsible for urban, entrusted
construction and cost procurement of the Company. Mr. Lei has
extensive experience in investment and expansion operations of
industrial projects, development management of real estate
projects, industrial strategic planning and investment promotion
and operations.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
LR e

The Board would like to submit the Annual Report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are real estate development,
specialised construction and property investment. Details of the
principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 115 of this Annual Report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: N/A).

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy that sets out the principles
and guidelines in relation to the distribution and payment of dividends
to the Shareholders.

The Board has the discretion to declare or propose dividends to the
Shareholders subject to the limitations under the Companies Act of
Bermuda, the Bye-laws and applicable laws, regulations and accounting
standards. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account, among other things, the financial performance, cash flow
position, business requirements of the Company and the market
conditions.

The Board may declare the payment of an interim dividend or propose
a final dividend which will be subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at annual general meeting. Under special circumstances
such as a temporary reduction in profit or changes in business
environment, the Board may, at its discretion and after due and careful
consideration, distribute a special dividend to the Shareholders.
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Dividend payout would be in the form of cash or scrip or a
combination of both.

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion
on the Group’s corporate strategy, future business development,
possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” as well as the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 24 to 27 and pages 30 to 41 of this
Annual Report respectively.

The financial risk factors and management of the Group are set out in
Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

No significant events affecting the Group have occurred since the end
of the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the “Financial Highlights” on
page 7 of this Annual Report.

To promote sustainability, the Group strives to maintain a balance
between its real estate development business and the ecological
environment. The Group treasures green design and eco-friendly
construction that involves the use of materials and processes that are
resource-efficient and environmentally responsible throughout the life
cycle of property development. Details of the Group's performance in
environment preservation are set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report for the year.

The Group acknowledges the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements. During the year under review, the Group had
complied with the requirements under the Companies Act of Bermuda,
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Listing Rules, the SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
relevant rules and regulations of places which it has operations.
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The Group's success depends on the support of key stakeholders, such
as employees, customers and Shareholders.

Employees

Employees are an important and valuable asset to the Group. The
Group rewards and recognises the contribution of staff by offering
competitive remuneration package and standardised performance
appraisal system to provide incentives. The Group has a thorough
career development programme to promote career development and
progression by providing appropriate training and opportunities for
career advancement within the Group.

Customers

The Group's principal customers are the purchasers of its real estate
development projects. The Group has established property
management subsidiaries in Mainland China and Hong Kong to provide
customers with professional and caring property management services.

Shareholders

The Group strives to enhance corporate value to Shareholders. It is
poised to foster business development to achieve sustainable business
and earnings growth and reward Shareholders through stable dividend
payouts taking into account capital adequacy levels, liquidity positions
and business expansion needs of the Group.

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 28 and Note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.
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Particulars of the Group's major properties held for investment and
properties under development are set out on pages 12 to 21 of this
Annual Report.

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2024,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda,
amounted to HK$819,474,000 (2023: HK$849,336,000).

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 9 of this Annual
Report.

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 7 June 2013 to
recognise and acknowledge eligible persons for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group.

No share options have yet been granted by the Company pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as follows:

Any directors or any employees of any company of the Group
and any advisers of, consultants of, contractors to any company
of the Group or any person who has any relationship (whether
business or otherwise) with any company of the Group or any
person whom the Directors consider, in their sole discretion, has
contributed or will contribute or can contribute to the Group.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme is 333,785,270, representing approximately 9.97%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
Annual Report.
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No share options under the Share Option Scheme may be
granted to any eligible person, which, if exercised in full, would
result in the total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon the exercise of the share options already granted or to be
granted to such eligible person under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such new
grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of such new grant. Any grant of further share
options above this limit shall be subject to the requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The Directors may in their absolute discretion determine the
period during which a share option may be exercised and notify
each grantee, save that such period shall not be later than 10
years from the date on which the Directors make an offer of the
share option subject to the provisions for early termination as
stipulated in the Share Option Scheme.

The offer of a share option made in accordance with the Share
Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 business days from
the date on which the offer is made and the amount payable on
acceptance of the share option is HKS10.

The subscription price shall be determined by the Board at the
time of grant of the relevant share option and shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price per Share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the relevant share option; (i) the amount equivalent to the
average closing price per Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant share option; or (i)
the nominal value of a Share.

The Share Option Scheme expired on 6 June 2023.
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The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Annual Report
are:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Jianbo

Mr. Liu Bo

Mr. Chen Xingwu
Mr. Yang Shangping

Non-executive Directors

Ms. He Xiaoli
Mr. Huang Guoping

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny
Professor Wang Xiuli

Mr. Chen Xingwu, Mr. Huang Guoping and Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
will retire by rotation at the AGM in accordance with Bye-law 111(A) of
the Bye-laws. Mr. Chen Xingwu and Mr. Huang Guoping, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy has informed the Board of his decision to
retire and will not seek re-election at the AGM and will retire from his
office as an independent non-executive Director at the conclusion of
the AGM.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company
and any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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There is no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the business of the Group, to which the Company and any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the Directors or an entity
connected with him is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly, which was entered into during the year or subsisted at any
time during the year.

The Bye-laws provides that each Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of
relevant legal actions against the Directors and officers of the Company
during the year.

No contract for management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year.

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors since the date of 2024 interim report of the
Company are as follows:

1. Mr. Yang Shangping is now responsible for the design
management division and ceased to be responsible for the
urban development division of the Company.

2. Ms. He Xiaoli was appointed as a chairman of the supervisory
board of Minmetals New Energy Materials (Hunan) Co., Ltd.

3. Ms. He Xiaoli ceased to be the supervisor of Minmetals
Development Co,, Ltd. and the director of Minmetals HK.

4. Changes in Director's emoluments during the year are set out in
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The interests of Directors in competing businesses that are required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules as notified by
the relevant Directors are as follows:

Mr. He Jianbo, being the Chairman of the Board and an executive
director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings,
Liaoning Industrial Park and Minmetals Real Estate.

Mr. Liu Bo, being an executive director and the managing director of
the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings.

Mr. Chen Xingwu, being an executive director and a deputy managing
director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings
and Minmetals Real Estate.

Mr. Yang Shangping, being an executive director and a deputy
managing director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals
Land Holdings.

All of Minmetals Land Holdings, Liaoning Industrial Park and Minmetals
Real Estate are companies established under the laws of the PRC.
Minmetals Land Holdings is engaged in real estate development,
construction contracting and sub-contracting, property management,
surveying and design of construction projects, project investment,
provision of technical services, investment consultancy and corporate
management consultancy. Liaoning Industrial Park is engaged in the
development of Minmetals (Yingkou) Industrial Park. Minmetals Real
Estate is engaged in real estate development and operation,
construction, property management, real estate agency, real estate
advertising and exhibition and other real estate related business.

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny, being an independent non-executive
director of the Company, is also an independent non-executive director
of New World Development Company Limited which is a listed
company in Hong Kong and principally engaged in property
development, property investment and other investment businesses.

In the event that the Board decides that there is a conflict of interest
between the Group and the aforementioned companies, the Directors
with a conflict of interest will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolutions.
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual Report, none of
the Directors or their respective associates (as if each of them were
treated as a controlling shareholder under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules) had any competing interests in a business which competes or is
likely to compete with the business of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (i) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or (iii) were required, pursuant to the Model
Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long Position in Shares

Name of Directors

BEEnA

Mr. He Jianbo
TR o

Mr. Yang Shangping
%

Ms. He Xiaoli
A/ NEZ L

Nature of interest

EEME

Personal

@A

Personal

EPN

Personal

EA

B EXATIREEIN  RAFHREH  HBEES
IWEEBCHEA(BUORSFEEHRE/ L
MR EBI0R T Z IR A B N) R E A
SEXBBENAAEBRRFZEGTHES
EGEER -

RZZEZ_NF+A=+—H EBERAR
AIEBITHRABRAR A KE T A EE
(EFEAEMBEEE+RI2ESE) 2D
MBI D B A ()RR B %&%f%%
FTAHXFEELEEN\DHBERNEAD

%Zﬁm&_ﬁwﬁﬁﬁwﬂﬁ&%ﬁMH
BRBEXEEREERAER 2R A
B) R ARBEFALBEEIE=a1 1
TR Z R TE R AR GBI e B R M 2 A sk
KB immm#tmﬁWWﬁ@%ﬁh
SFAMEARNB B2 ES RARNT

REBRGzHFR
Approximate
percentage of total
Number of issued Shares
Shares held HERITRA

B zRNBE ABEZHBNEIL

2,040,000 0.06%
1,846,667 0.06%
783,333 0.02%
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
had any personal, family, corporate or other interests or short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as at 31
December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age, was
granted or had exercised any right to subscribe for any equity or debt
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO) during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option” and “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above, the Company had no other outstanding
convertible securities, options, warrants or other similar rights as at 31
December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there were no repurchase or exercise of
options and convertible securities during the year.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the
laws of Bermuda.
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As at 31 December 2024, according to the register of interests kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO, the following entities had
interests and short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO:

R-ZE-WME+-A=+—H BEAQF
REAFRMEENE=E=1Tt NIE2HTE7TF
BvEmERMatE THEERARRRK
DRABRERO P HEEIRBESRPEKRYE
THEBE-RE=ZDBERAARBEEZ#

P Y N
wm KA

Approximate percentage
of total issued Shares

Interest in Shares HERITRMEOER
IR 10 RE 28 ZHHABEDE

Long position  Short position  Long position  Short position
Name of Shareholders BRERE 55 KE e KA
China Minmetals o R 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
CMCL AERD 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
CMNH hiER BER 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
CMN hiEAERn 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
Album Enterprises BB 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
Minmetals HK BERTE 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
June Glory June Glory 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
Note: June Glory is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Minmetals HK, which in turn is owned as  Bi3E : June Glory BE B AB 2 2 EWB AT HEAEL

to approximately 39.04%, 38.95% and 22.01% by CMCL, Album Enterprises and Top
Create Resources Limited respectively. Aloum Enterprises and Top Create Resources
Limited are wholly owned by CMN, which in turn is owned as to approximately
99.999% and 0.001% by CMNH and CMCL respectively. CMNH is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CMCL. CMCL is owned as to approximately 88.4% by China Minmetals.
Accordingly, each of China Minmetals, CMCL, CMNH, CMN, Album Enterprises and
Minmetals HK were each deemed to have an interest in the 2,071,095,506 Shares
held by June Glory.

RARERG - ZHE%E KTop Create Resources
Limited %> B % B H #939.04% ~ 38.95% %% 22.01% %
#E o B2 KTop Create Resources Limited fi T B
BeRHE2ERe  TRGCRHOIEAREER
fi& N AERR 7 5 Bl A H 4999.999% 52 0.0019% AR HE ©
ARACERATRBRNZ2EWBRAR : MHAE
AR A AR 488.4%HE - Bt - PEATE
ARG  ABEEEER ABAek  EFN
EREBRAES BHE AR une Glory#HAE 2
2,071,095,506 i% f& 17 R B #E %5 ©
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During the vyear, the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately
49% (2023: 56%) of the total purchases of the Group. Purchases from
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 15% (2023: 21%) of
the Group's total purchases. None of the Directors, their close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) and any Shareholders (who
to the best knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group's five
largest suppliers during the year.

During the year, the percentage of the revenue from sales of goods or
rendering of services attributable to the Group's five largest customers
combined was less than 30% (2023: less than 30%) of the total revenue
of the Group.

The connected transactions conducted by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

1. A loan framework agreement dated 26 April 2021 was entered
into by Guangzhou Kuangmao (an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company) with Shengshi Guangye (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and holder of 51% of
the equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao) and Xiefeng
(holder of 49% of the equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao)
for the provision of loans to its shareholders based on the same
terms and conditions and in proportion to their respective
shareholdings in Guangzhou Kuangmao (“Kuangmao
Agreement”). The Kuangmao Agreement expired on 25 April
2024.

A supplemental loan agreement dated 24 June 2024 was
entered by Guangzhou Kuangmao with Shengshi Guangye and
Xiefeng pursuant to which Guangzhou Kuangmao agreed to
extend the term of the loans provided to Shengshi Guangye and
Xiefeng to 25 April 2027 in a total principal amount of
RMB969,000,000 and RMB931,000,000 respectively (‘Kuangmao
Supplemental Agreement”). Save as aforesaid, all other terms of
the Kuangmao Agreement (as amended and supplemented by
the Kuangmao Supplemental Agreement) remain in full force and
effect.

080

RERN AEEBRAAHEFRERMEBET
ZEDL AR EEBERTENN(ZF
ZEF56%) BRAREE BEREASE
B ERENI5% (T =4 21%) - RF
" wﬁﬁﬁ§$\ﬁv2%mw%AiE%
B EMBRADSKAERMBKRRBESAER A
PNAEIS% A EB BT ANE ) fE A R E
BIEMER -

RER XEBRARAEFAHKMGHEEER
FIRERENWAZADL - THRAKRNEE
WA BEER30% (Z T - =4F : THBiB30%) °

REBEE-_ZFT-_NEF+_A=1t—HILFE"
AEBMETZHERISHBUOT :

RoT-—EWMA=+x8 - BMNEX
(BARRBIZEEIIZENBAR) EHEK
HEXE (AARRZEEL2ENBAR
EHAREIMNERS %) R L (AE
PN 40% IR R A A ) AT L B FUESE
W - A E IR LA R R AR - A
MR ERBEINEX 2 IRELLOIRHEE
HK(BEHE])  BEBRER T =

MWEMA=-+HHER-

EA_Y_PIIEE/\H ‘f’@E J#J‘Hﬁ’;%ﬁ
R EERBLI BRI
Bt BINEXRED BB EER
1 L2 T ER 4 &9 2K & 4258 /5 969,000,000 70
AR 12931,000,0007C A R E 8 & A
@LE% E_+FEWMA-—+HB (R
) o B EXFTE SN - B
% T E MG (RIRXH
FHERT 7)) AR TRMAREM °



Xiefeng holds 49% equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao and
is therefore a connected person of the Company at subsidiary
level under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transaction
contemplated under the Kuangmao Supplemental Agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company.

A loan framework agreement dated 26 April 2021 was entered
into by Shenzhen Kuangrun (an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company) with Shengshi Guangye (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and holder of 51% of
the equity interest of Shenzhen Kuangrun) and Shenzhen Runtou
(holder of 49% of the equity interest of Shenzhen Kuangrun) for
the provision of loans to its shareholders based on the same
terms and conditions and in proportion to their respective
shareholdings in Shenzhen Kuangrun (“Kuangrun Agreement”).
The Kuangrun Agreement expired on 25 April 2024.

A supplemental loan agreement dated 24 June 2024 was
entered by Shenzhen Kuangrun with Shengshi Guangye and
Shenzhen Runtou pursuant to which Shenzhen Kuangrun agreed
to extend the term of the loans provided to Shengshi Guangye
and Shenzhen Runtou to 25 April 2027 in a total principal
amount of RMB618,120,000 and RMB593,880,000 respectively
("Kuangrun Supplemental Agreement”). Save as aforesaid, all
other terms of the Kuangrun Agreement (as amended and
supplemented by the Kuangrun Supplemental Agreement)
remain in full force and effect.

Shenzhen Runtou holds 49% equity interest of Shenzhen
Kuangrun and is therefore a connected person of the Company
at subsidiary level under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
transaction contemplated under the Kuangrun Supplemental
Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the Company.
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The continuing connected transactions conducted by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

A financial services framework agreement dated 2 February
2021 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Finance (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals) whereby Minmetals Finance would
provide current and fixed deposit services, loan services
and settlement services to the Company and its
subsidiaries in Mainland China for a term of three years
from 20 April 2021 to 19 April 2024 (“2021 Financial
Services Framework Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2021
Financial Services Framework Agreement, the annual cap
on the maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits
(including accrued interests) to be placed by the Company
and its subsidiaries in Mainland China with Minmetals
Finance for each of the three years from 20 April 2021 to
19 April 2024 was RMB3,000,000,000. The provision of the
deposit services by Minmetals Finance to the Company
and its subsidiaries in Mainland China and the aforesaid
annual cap were approved by the independent
Shareholders at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 19 March 2021.

The maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits
(including accrued interests) placed by the Company and
its subsidiaries in Mainland China with Minmetals Finance
for the period from 1 January 2024 to 19 April 2024 under
2021 Financial Services Framework Agreement was
RMB1,381,488,160 (2023: RMB2,995,992,355).

The 2021 Financial Services Framework Agreement expired
19 April 2024.
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(ii)

A financial services framework agreement dated 19 April
2024 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Finance for the renewal of 2021 Financial
Services Framework Agreement whereby Minmetals
Finance would provide current and fixed deposit services,
loan services and settlement services to the Company and
its subsidiaries in Mainland China for a term of three years
from 20 April 2024 to 19 April 2027 (“2024 Financial
Services Framework Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2024
Financial Services Framework Agreement, the annual cap
on the maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits
(including accrued interests) to be placed by the Company
and its subsidiaries in Mainland China with Minmetals
Finance for each of the three years from 20 April 2024 to
19 April 2027 was RMB3,000,000,000. The provision of the
deposit services by Minmetals Finance to the Company
and its subsidiaries in Mainland China and the aforesaid
annual cap were approved by the independent
Shareholders at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 27 August 2024.

The maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits
(including accrued interests) placed by the Company and
its subsidiaries in Mainland China with Minmetals Finance
for the period from 20 April 2024 to 31 December 2024
under 2024 Financial Services Framework Agreement was
RMB1,312,725,101 (2023: N/A).
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A loan framework agreement dated 26 April 2021 was entered
between Guangzhou Kuangmao (an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company), Shengshi Guangye (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and holder of 51% of
the equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao) and Xiefeng
(holder of 49% of the equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao)
pursuant to which Guangzhou Kuangmao may during the term
commencing from 26 April 2021 to 25 April 2024 provide loans
by way of entrustment loans or directly provide loans to
Shengshi Guangye and Xiefeng (or their respective direct holding
company, or designated fellow subsidiaries in the PRC) based on
the same terms and conditions and in proportion to their
respective shareholdings in Guangzhou Kuangmao on an
unsecured interest-free basis ("Kuangmao Agreement”).

The caps amount of the loans to be provided by Guangzhou
Kuangmao to Shengshi Guangye and Xiefeng (or their respective
direct holding company, or designated fellow subsidiaries in the
PRC) for the period from 26 April 2021 to 25 April 2024 were
RMB969,000,000 and RMB931,000,000 respectively.

As at the date of the Kuangmao Agreement, Guangzhou
Kuangmao was an insignificant subsidiary of the Company as all
relevant ratios pursuant to Rule 14A.09(1) of the Listing Rules
based on the financial statements of Guangzhou Kuangmao for
the period from 12 December 2018 (date of incorporation) to 31
December 2018 and for the two years ended 31 December 2019
and 2020, respectively were less than 10%. Xiefeng was therefore
not regarded as a connected person of the Company pursuant to
Rule 14A.09 of the Listing Rules and the transactions
contemplated under the Kuangmao Agreement did not
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Based on the unaudited financial information of Guangzhou
Kuangmao and the Company for the year ended 31 December
2021, the relevant ratio (as defined under Rule 14A.09(1) of the
Listing Rules) of Guangzhou Kuangmao exceeded 10% for the
year ended 31 December 2021, and thus Guangzhou Kuangmao
has ceased to be an insignificant subsidiary of the Company
under Rule 14A.09(1) of the Listing Rules and Xiefeng shall
become a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary
level under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.60 of the Listing Rules, the Company is
required to comply with the applicable reporting and disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules regarding
such continuing connected transactions. As the Board has
approved the continuing connected transactions of the
Company and the Independent Non-executive Directors have
confirmed that the terms of the Kuangmao Agreement are fair
and reasonable, on normal commercial terms and in the interest
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole, Kuangmao
Agreement is subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and Shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

The loans provided by Guangzhou Kuangmao to Xiefeng for the

period from 1 January 2024 to 25 April 2024 under Kuangmao
Agreement were RMB931,000,000 (2023: RMB931,000,000).

The Kuangmao Agreement expired on 25 April 2024.
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A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2022 was entered into
between Brightway Asset (a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) as the landlord
("“Tenancy Agreement 1"), details of which are set out
below:

Premises . 9th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong with a GFA of
approximately 5,793 square feet
("Premises 1")

Term . two years from 1 June 2022 to 31
May 2024 (both dates inclusive)

Rent : HK$208,548 per calendar month
(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-
conditioning charges)

Rent-free period : 2 months

Service, : HKS$30,702.90 per calendar month
management
and air-
conditioning
charges
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The annual caps for the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges payable by Brightway Asset in
respect of Tenancy Agreement | for the period from 1
June 2022 to 31 December 2022, for the year ended 31
December 2023 and for the period from 1 January 2024
to 31 May 2024 were HKS$1,674,757, HK$2,871,011 and
HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of the annual rent
and service, management and air-conditioning charges
receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement | were less
than 5%, Tenancy Agreement | was subject to annual
review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges paid by Brightway Asset to
Texion for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 May 2024
under Tenancy Agreement | was HKS$1,196,255 (2023:
HK$2,871,011).

The Tenancy Agreement | expired on 31 May 2024.
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(ii)

A tenancy agreement dated 12 July 2024 was entered into
between Brightway Asset as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord in respect of Premises | (“Tenancy Agreement 1),
details of which are set out below:

Term two years from 1 June 2024 to 31
May 2026 (both dates inclusive)
Rent HK$173,790 per calendar month

(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-
conditioning charges)

Rent-free period 2 months

Service, HK$33,773.19 per calendar month
management (subject to maximum 20% upward
and air- adjustment)
conditioning
charges

The annual caps for the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges payable by
Brightway Asset in respect of Tenancy Agreement Il for the
period from 1 June 2024 to 31 December 2024, for the
year ended 31 December 2025 and for the period from 1
January 2026 to 31 May 2026 were HK$1,500,225,
HK$2,571,814 and HKS$1,071,590 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate
sum of the annual rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges receivable by
Texion under Tenancy Agreement Il were less than 5%,
Tenancy Agreement Il was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted
from circular, independent financial
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

advice and

The aggregate sum of the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges paid by
Brightway Asset to Texion for the period from 1 June
2024 to 31 December 2024 under Tenancy Agreement I
was HKS$1,294,503 (2023: N/A).

(i)
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A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2022 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory (a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as
the landlord (“Tenancy Agreement IlI"), details of which are
set out below:

11th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong with a GFA of
approximately 5,793 square feet
("Premises I1")

Premises

Term . two years from 1 June 2022 to 31
May 2024 (both dates inclusive)

Rent : HKS$208,548 per calendar month
(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-
conditioning charges)

Rent-free period 2 months

Service, : HKS$30,702.90 per calendar month

management
and air-
conditioning
charges

The annual caps for the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges payable by Minmetals
Cheerglory in respect of Tenancy Agreement Il for the
period from 1 June 2022 to 31 December 2022, for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and for the period from 1
January 2024 to 31 May 2024 were HKS$1,674,757,
HK$2,871,011 and HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate
sum of the annual rent and service, management and air-
conditioning charges receivable by Texion under Tenancy
Agreement Il were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement Il
was subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.
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(i)

The aggregate sum of the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges paid by Minmetals Cheerglory
to Texion for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 May
2024 under Tenancy Agreement Il was HK$1,196,255
(2023: HK$2,871,011).

The Tenancy Agreement Il expired on 31 May 2024.

A tenancy agreement dated 12 July 2024 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory as the tenant and Texion
as the landlord in respect of Premises Il (“Tenancy
Agreement IV"), details of which are set out below:

Term two years from 1 June 2024 to 31
May 2026 (both dates inclusive)
Rent HKS$173,790 per calendar month

(exclusive of government rates and
management and air-
conditioning charges)

service,

Rent-free period 2 months

Service, HK$33,773.19 per calendar month
management (subject to maximum 20% upward
and air- adjustment)
conditioning
charges

The annual caps for the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges payable by
Minmetals Cheerglory in respect of Tenancy Agreement IV
for the period from 1 June 2024 to 31 December 2024, for
the year ended 31 December 2025 and for the period
from 1 January 2026 to 31 May 2026 were HKS$1,500,225,
HKS$2,571,814 and HK$1,071,590 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate
sum of the annual
management and air-conditioning charges receivable by
Texion under Tenancy Agreement |V were less than 5%,
Tenancy Agreement |V was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted
from circular,

rent and maximum service,

independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders' approval requirements under

the Listing Rules.

(i)
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The aggregate sum of the rent and maximum service,

management and air-conditioning charges paid by

Minmetals Cheerglory to Texion for the period from 1

June 2024 to 31

December 2024 under Tenancy

Agreement IV was HKS$1,294,503 (2023: N/A).

A tenancy agreement dated 1

June 2022 was entered into

between Minmetals HK (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord
("“Tenancy Agreement V’), details of which are set out

below:

Premises

Term

Rent

Rent-free period

Service,
management
and air-
conditioning
charges

19th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong with a GFA of
approximately 5,793 square (“Premises

")

two years from 1 June 2022 to 31
May 2024 (both dates inclusive)

HK$208,548 per calendar month
(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-

conditioning charges)
2 months

HK$30,702.90 per calendar month
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The annual caps for the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges payable by Minmetals HK in
respect of Tenancy Agreement V for the period from 1
June 2022 to 31 December 2022, for the year ended 31
December 2023 and for the period from 1 January 2024
to 31 May 2024 were HKS$1,674,757, HK$2,871,011 and
HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of the annual rent
and service, management and air-conditioning charges
receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement V were
less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement V was subject to annual
review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and service, management
and air-conditioning charges paid by Minmetals HK to
Texion for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 May 2024
under Tenancy Agreement V was HKS$1,196,255 (2023:
HK$2,871,011).

The Tenancy Agreement V expired on 31 May 2024.
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(ii)

A tenancy agreement dated 12 July 2024 was entered into
between Minmetals HK as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord in respect of Premises Ill (“Tenancy Agreement
VI"), details of which are set out below:

Term . two years from 1 June 2024 to 31
May 2026 (both dates inclusive)

Rent : HKS$173,790 per calendar month
(exclusive of government rates and
service, management and air-
conditioning charges)

Rent-free period 2 months

Service, : HK$33,773.19 per calendar month
management (subject to maximum 20% upward
and air- adjustment)
conditioning
charges

The annual caps for the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges payable by
Minmetals HK in respect of Tenancy Agreement VI for the
period from 1 June 2024 to 31 December 2024, for the
year ended 31 December 2025 and for the period from 1
January 2026 to 31 May 2026 were HK$1,500,225,
HK$2,571,814 and HKS$1,071,590 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate
sum of the annual rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges receivable by
Texion under Tenancy Agreement VI were less than 5%,
Tenancy Agreement VI was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted
from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges paid by
Minmetals HK to Texion for the period from 1 June 2024
to 31 December 2024 under Tenancy Agreement VI was
HKS$1,294,503 (2023: N/A).

(i)
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A tenancy agreement dated 12 July 2024 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord (“Tenancy Agreement VII"), details of which are set out
below:

Unit 1201 of 12th Floor, China Minmetals
79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong with a
GFA of approximately 1,629 square feet

Premises
Tower,

Term . two years from 1 June 2024 to 31 May 2026
(both dates inclusive)

Rent . HK$48,870 per calendar month (exclusive of
government rates and service, management
and air-conditioning charges)

Rent-free period 2 months

Service, HK$9,497.07 per calendar month
management (subject to maximum 20% upward
and air- adjustment)
conditioning
charges

The annual caps for the rent and maximum service, management
and air-conditioning charges payable by Minmetals Cheerglory in
respect of Tenancy Agreement VII for the period from 1 June
2024 to 31 December 2024, for the year ended 31 December
2025 and for the period from 1 January 2026 to 31 May 2026
were HK$421,866, HK$723,198 and HKS$301,333 respectively. As all
the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum
of the annual rent and maximum service, management and air-
conditioning charges receivable by Texion under Tenancy
Agreement VIl were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement VII was
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges paid by Minmetals
Cheerglory to Texion for the period from 1 June 2024 to 31
December 2024 under Tenancy Agreement VII was HK$359,699
(2023: N/A).
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A tenancy agreement dated 7 July 2023 was entered into
between MMG (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord (“Tenancy
Agreement VIII"), details of which are set out below:

Premises . Unit 1208 of 12th Floor, China Minmetals
Tower, 79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong with a
GFA of approximately 1,840 square feet

Term . three years from 1 July 2023 to 30 June
2026 (both dates inclusive)

Rent . HKS$66,240 per calendar month (exclusive of
government rates and service, management
and air-conditioning charges)

Rent-free period : 2 months

Service, : HKS$9,752 per calendar month
management (subject to maximum 20% upward
and air- adjustment)
conditioning
charges

As at the date of Tenancy Agreement VIII, as all the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of the annual
rent and maximum service, management and air-conditioning
charges receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement VIII were
less than 0.1%, Tenancy Agreement VIII was fully exempt from all
disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A81 of the Listing Rules, the transactions
contemplated under Tenancy Agreement VIII shall be aggregated
with a series of the similar tenancy agreements. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of
the annual rent and maximum service, management and air-
conditioning charges receivable by Texion under a series of
tenancy agreements were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement VIII
was subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.
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The annual cap for the rent and maximum service, management
and air-conditioning charges payable by MMG in respect of the
Tenancy Agreement VIII for the period from 1 July 2023 to 31
December 2023, for each of the two years ending 31 December
2024 and 2025 and for the period from 1 January 2026 to 30
June 2026 were HK$467,655, HKS$935,309, HK$935,309 and
HKS$467,655 respectively.

The aggregate sum of the rent and maximum service,
management and air-conditioning charges paid by MMG to
Texion for the period for the year ended 31 December 2024
under Tenancy Agreement VIII was HK$857,366 (2023: N/A).

A property management services framework agreement dated 28
September 2022 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Properties Hunan (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, which is owned as to 51% and 49% by the
Company and 23rd Metallurgical respectively) whereby
Minmetals Properties Hunan would provide property
management services to the Group for the period from 28
September 2022 to 27 September 2025 (“Minmetals Properties
Hunan Framework Agreement”).

The annual cap for the property management services fees
payable by the Group to the Minmetals Properties Hunan in
respect of the Minmetals Properties Hunan Framework
Agreement (including but not limited to pre-delivery property
management services provided by Minmetals Properties Hunan
to the Group included in the pre-delivery property management
service contracts entered into by the Company on 31 January
2022) for the period from 28 September 2022 to 31 December
2022, for each of the two years ending 31 December 2023 and
2024 and for the period from 1 January 2025 to 27 September
2025 were RMB33,090,000, RMB29,290,000, RMB28,610,000 and
RMB17,350,000 respectively. As all the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the property management services fees
payable by the Group under Minmetals Properties Hunan
Framework Agreement were less than 5%, Minmetals Properties
Hunan Framework Agreement was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular,
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

independent financial advice and independent
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The aggregate sum of property management services fees paid
by the Group to Minmetals Properties Hunan for the year ended
31 December 2024 under Minmetals Properties Hunan
Framework Agreement was RMB25,109,426 (2023: RMB7,601,489).

A conditional construction contracting agreement dated 17 April
2023 was entered into between the Company and China
Minmetals whereby the Group may from time to time invite
member(s) of the China Minmetals Group to tender and award
construction contracts, subject to successful tender as
construction contractors in respect of the existing and future real
estate development projects of the Group in Mainland China and
Hong Kong for a term of three years from 19 April 2023 to 18
April 2026 (“Construction Framework Agreement”).

The Construction Framework Agreement and the annual caps
were approved by the independent Shareholders at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 6 June 2023 whereby
the total contract sums which may be awarded by the Group to
member(s) of the China Minmetals Group shall not exceed the
annual caps below:
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The aggregate contract sum awarded by the Group to
member(s) of the China Minmetals Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 under Construction Framework Agreement was
RMB42,494,159 (2023: RMB879,860,751).
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An engineering consultancy services framework agreement dated
13 June 2023 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Land Holdings (an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of China Minmetals) whereby the Group would
provide engineering consultancy services to Minmetals Land
Holdings and its subsidiaries (“Minmetals Land Holdings Group”)
for the engineering and construction projects bidden and won
by Minmetals Land Holdings Group for the period from 13 June
2023 to 12 June 2026 (“Consultancy Agreement”).

The annual caps for the engineering consultancy services fees
payable by Minmetals Land Holdings Group in respect of
Consultancy Agreement for the period from 13 June 2023 to 31
December 2023, for each of the two years ending 31 December
2024 and 2025 and for the period from 1 January 2026 to 12
June 2026 were RMB15,000,000, RMB20,000,000, RMB20,000,000
and RMBS5,000,000 respectively. As all the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the engineering consultancy services fees
payable by Minmetals Land Holdings Group under the
Consultancy Agreement were less than 5%, the Consultancy
Agreement was subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

No engineering consultancy services fee was paid by Minmetals
Land Holdings Group to the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 under Consultancy Agreement (2023:
RMB1,886,792).

A property management services framework agreement dated 28
September 2023 was entered into between the Company and
China Minmetals whereby the Group would provide property
management services to China Minmetals Group for the period
from 28 September 2023 to 27 September 2026 (“China
Minmetals Framework Agreement”).

RZEZ=FHA+=H ' ARQaHA
BHEEKR(RTPEOLB BEELE
B A T)ﬁT_LIiF HHH)]HE?FQNI Tﬁ)u%z
Eliqu/\i/\ﬂ"f’ HEIf - steh
hEMEEREARBAR (REE
R & §D$MZI&MIEEW£%
HEEREBIRME TI2EARE ([
IEANE

*ETFW’EWJ% ﬁﬁ)%im?% & &= E gt =
i/\HTL _¥:_¢+—
H + =NI-ESE ai_g_mi)&
ZECRAF+ZA=FT—HILWREFE
&;7;/\¢ )EJ E!:l:;é;/\i/\
A+ZA BN TARSEE 2 T2
AR AR B A E LR 5 5l A15,000,000
T AR 20,000,000 ARE -
20,000,000 A R # }5,000,0007T A E
B o MR AGETE T AR EZER
SRRz IRZRARGEATE
BRBD LR D% BAHRAEE
FLEMHRABEFTERRN  BHREAE
ZHE - BERRET EMARABEB
B BB E R KRB IREAE AR

.
E e

BiEZARE  REE_ZT-_MF+=
A=+—HItFE ﬂhﬁéiﬁ?% fEEE
WESHIBEAREETASEE(Z
T =% 18867 NTARKE) -

RZZB-_=ZFAA-1+N\B AnrH
PRI L MEEERGER B E
Bt AEEBAIR-_ZE-_=FNAA_-+
NBERE-_Z-_XFAA-T+LEH
B A EAREEERE Y EEE RS
(MPERRERBR] -



The annual caps for the property management services fees
payable by China Minmetals Group to the Group in respect of
the China Minmetals Framework Agreement for the period from
28 September 2023 to 31 December 2023, for each of the two
years ending 31 December 2024 and 2025 and for the period
from 1 January 2026 to 27 September 2026 were RMB9,000,000,
RMB48,260,000, RMB49,550,000 and RMB37,600,000 respectively.
As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the property
management services fees payable by China Minmetals Group
under China Minmetals Framework Agreement were less than
5%, China Minmetals Framework Agreement was subject to
annual review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of property management services fees paid
by China Minmetals Group to the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 under China Minmetals Framework Agreement
was RMB30,653,768 (2023: RMB6,243,994).

The related party transactions except those with joint ventures,
associates and persons connected with insignificant subsidiaries as
disclosed in note 37(a) to the consolidated financial statements also fall
under the definition of connected transaction or continuing connected
transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules, and the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the above continuing
connected transactions (“Continuing Connected Transactions”) have

been reviewed by the Independent Non-executive Directors who have

confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions were carried

out:

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Company
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties; and
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(c) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company's independent auditor, Ernst & Young, was engaged to
report on the Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
"Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
‘Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected
Transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 82 to 99 of this Annual
Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The transactions set out in paragraphs 1, 8, 9, 10 and 11 of the section
“Continuing Connected Transactions” above are considered as contracts
of significance under paragraph 16 of Appendix D2 of the Listing Rules.

1. Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as the
guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the
grant of general banking facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$150,000,000 (“Facility 1") on 26 October 2017. Facility | is
subject to annual review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility |, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest shareholder of the Company maintaining
(directly or indirectly) not less than 31% shareholding interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of the aforesaid condition, all amounts due under Facility | shall
be immediately due and payable and the Bank shall not be
required to make any further advances under Facility | to Condo
Hong Kong.
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The Company as the borrower and certain banks as lenders (the
“Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for the granting by
the Lenders to the Company of a 4-year term loan facility (the
"Facility II") in an aggregate amount equal to HK$3,500,000,000
on 17 June 2022 (the “Facility Agreement II").

Pursuant to Facility Agreement Il, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall own beneficially
(directly or indirectly) not less than 51% of the issued shares of
the Company and have management control over the Company.
A breach of any of the aforesaid conditions would constitute an
event of default and the Lenders may (i) cancel all commitments
under Facility Agreement II; and/or (ii) demand that all or part of
the loans together with accrued interest and all other amounts
accrued under Facility Il be immediately due and payable; and/or
(i) demand that all or part of the loans under Facility Il be
payable on demand.

The Company as the borrower and certain financial institutions as
lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for the
granting by the Lenders to the Company of a 3-year term loan
facility (the “Facility IlI") in an aggregate amount equal to
HK$970,000,000 on 3 February 2023 (the “Facility Agreement [II").

As one of the conditions of Facility lll, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall, amongst
other things, beneficially (directly or indirectly) own not less than
51% of the issued shares of the Company and have control over
the Company. Upon a breach of any of the aforesaid conditions
would constitute an event of default and Lenders may (i) cancel
all commitments under Facility Agreement IlI; and/or (i) demand
that all or part of the loans together with accrued interest and all
other amounts accrued under Facility Il be immediately due and
payable; and/or (iii) demand that all or part of the loans under
Facility Ill be payable on demand; and/or (iv) exercise any or all
of its rights, remedies, powers or discretions under the Facility
Agreement lIl.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the “Bank”) for a revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount
of RMB1,000,000,000 on 29 May 2023 (“Facility IV").
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As one of the conditions of Facility IV, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall maintain,
directly or indirectly, 51% of the issued share capital of the
Company and maintain control over the Company. Upon a
breach of any of the aforesaid conditions, Facility IV is repayable
in full amount on demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower and certain banks as lenders (the
"Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for the granting by
the Lenders to the Company of a 2-year term loan facility (the
"Facility V") in an aggregate amount equal to HK$2,600,000,000
on 16 January 2024 (the “Facility Agreement V").

As one of the conditions of Facility V, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) not less than 51% of
the issued share of the Company and have management control
over the Company. Upon a breach of any of the aforesaid
conditions would constitute an event of default and Lenders may
(i) cancel all commitments under the Facility Agreement V; and/
or (ii) demand that all or part of the loans, together with accrued
interest, and all other amounts accrued under the Facility V be
immediately due and payable; and/or (i) demand that all or part
of the loans under the Facility V be payable on demand.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the "Bank”) for a revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount
of HK$700,000,000 on 16 May 2024 (the “Facility VI").

As one of the conditions of Facility VI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest shareholder of the Company, and maintain,
directly or indirectly, 51% of the issued share capital of and
control over the Company. Upon a breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions, the Facility VI is repayable in full amount on
demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the “Bank”) for a revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount
of HK$1,500,000,000 on 25 July 2024 (the “Facility VII").
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As one of the conditions of Facility VIl, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) at least 51% interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, the Facility VI is repayable in
full amount on demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the “Bank”) for a revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount
of HK$1,800,000,000 on 25 July 2024 (the "Facility VIII").

As one of the conditions of Facility VIll, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) at least 51% interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, the Facility VIl is repayable in
full amount on demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the “Bank”) for a 364-days revolving loan facility in an aggregate
amount of HK$780,000,000 on 24 December 2024 (the "Facility
IX").

As one of the conditions of Facility IX, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) at least 51% interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, the Facility IX is repayable in
full amount on demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower and a bank as lender (the “Lender”)
entered into a facility agreement for the granting by the Lender
to the Company of a 3-year term loan facility (the “Facility X") in
an aggregate amount equal to RMB1,000,000,000 on 17 February
2025 (the "Facility Agreement X").

As one of the conditions of Facility Agreement X, China
Minmetals, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company,
shall beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) not less than 51%
of the issued shares of the Company and has management
control over the Company. Upon a breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions would constitute an event of default and
Lender may (i) cancel all commitments under Facility Agreement
X; and/or (ii) demand that all or part of the loans under Facility X
be payable on demand.
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Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other disclosure
obligations under Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this Annual Report, based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Company has maintained sufficient public float of the
issued Shares as required under Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed with the
independent auditor the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and has also discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control, and financial reporting matters
including the review of the accounting practices and principles
adopted by the Group.

Ernst & Young was appointed as the independent auditor of the Group
by Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 27 May 2021
upon the retirement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu at the conclusion of
the annual general meeting held on the same date. Ernst & Young
retires and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution
for re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the independent auditor of the
Group is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The consolidated financial statements as contained in this Annual
Report have been audited by Ernst & Young.

By order of the Board
He Jianbo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
T8 3 % S e

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of Minmetals Land Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Minmetals
Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 115 to 283, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

BEEXEER

FAREZXEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANERNMERAEERSRETERE

Valuation of investment properties

RENMEMEE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's investment properties
were measured at fair value amounted to HK$2,661 million.
Decrease of HKS$187 million in fair value of investment
properties was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year then ended.

RZE-_MF+=_A=+—H  BEERQAAENE
I B Y2 F2,661,0000008 7T o I E W ERQ B D
187,000,000 8 TLENBIEZ B ILFE 2 iraEm KRR

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter because the valuation process is based on
an estimation of future results, a set of assumptions and a
determination of key inputs, which are judgmental. Any
changes to these inputs may have a significant impact on
the fair value. Management determined the fair value of the
Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2024 with
the assistance of an independent external valuer.
BHARKREMRHEEINREREZER  RARMGE
BIETIARKEE 2B —EBRRNEEZETEZBA
BEREAR FHREEBERABMNE - 258 ASE
ZEMEBEAREH AR EENEATE - ERELES
UHNBEEMZ BT EE EREREVENR_-T
ZHEFTZA=T—HZARE"

Details of the investment properties and the related key
estimation uncertainty are set out in notes 15 and 3,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.
BERAREMENREBAFEZMTTHAMEERZFBED R
RiRE B RRM 15 K3 -

Our procedures in relation to management's valuation of
investment properties mainly included:

B EEBUREMREERTZIEFIEREUTSE
HRRR

1. Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the external valuer engaged by management;
B EEREMZENIINBEERM AR - B
REHM

2. Obtaining a copy of the valuation report prepared by
the external valuer and discussing with the external
valuer to obtain an understanding of the basis of
determination of valuation; and
HAERIS BN ER R A ERE - I
fRERMBR T REERETEERE A

3. Assessing, with the assistance from our internal valuation
specialists, the models and assumptions used in valuing
the investment properties and obtaining the market
evidence that the external valuer used to support the
key inputs.

EHRMANABEEIROBE T FHREMERMA
BRI E AR 2% - I ER SN B il (B A A 2R 2
FARBABBOTISER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

BEEXEER

HAREZXEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANERNMEREERSRETEE

Revenue from sales of properties

HEWMRWA

Revenue from sales of a property is recognised when the
completed property is transferred to the customer, being at
the point that the customer obtains the control of the
completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is probable.
HEMERATDNETYXEBREZEFK (AIEFREG
BRI EGIREN BESEEFREMNKENRE R AT
WER R ME 2 By ) TERR ©

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised revenue from sales of properties of
approximately HK$9,372 million.
BHE-_T_WNFF+_A=+—HLFE B5E®BR
8555 1) 25 WA #99,372,000,00078 7T

We identified the revenue from sales of properties as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the amount and
volume of sales transactions recognised during the year and
there is judgement involved in determining the appropriate
point at which to recognise revenue from sales of
properties.
HRFARRNHEER S CENBEENEEM - HMK
MEHEWARTE SEAREFFE L EERETHERY
FHERARNEE K EE RS N H 6 -

Details of revenue from sales of properties are set out in
notes 5 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

ERHEENEBAFBTENGRA M ERRME R -
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Our procedures in relation to revenue from sales of properties
mainly included:

HPMEENERARTZRFEEZRE

1. Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and testing
the key controls over revenue recognition on a sample
basis; and
TR FIELEBMENRERABIZEANETE
YR AN

2. Selecting property sales transactions on a sample basis
and:

BEMEKEMEHERS WA

(1) reading the signed sale and purchase agreements
to obtain an understanding of the relevant terms
of the timing of property delivery and title
transfer;

BECRZEE DS W TRYEIMNEREK
FREENBRGNK

(2)  obtaining evidence regarding the property
delivery and title transfer;

REMERXNRERERNERE

(3)  reviewing the relevant supporting documents in
relation to the property delivery to buyers prior to
the year end, to assess whether the revenue has
been recognised in an appropriate period; and
FEHFARATRE KXY ENEREE AT
NEHE AR R BE#EE AR #R - M

(4) reconciling the monetary amounts of recorded
transactions and related payments to those in the
signed sale and purchase agreements.
KERERINEE 2 ERBRANREDEE

BEEmEHER-



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) ERFZSE @
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
FRER BN BMNELNAHRARERBRETEE
Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale
BRPMERFFELHENENTERFE
Properties under development and properties held for sale Our procedures in relation to net realisable value of properties
at the end of each reporting period are stated at the lower under development and properties held for sale mainly
of cost and net realisable value. included:
REBREPRERTPVERFELEDRZAANENE BAREEERPYERFELEDEAERFERITLZ
BFETHREE AR - BFeE:
Net realisable value of properties under development is 1. Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and testing
determined by reference to estimated selling price in the the key controls over cost budgeting for estimated
ordinary course of business less estimated costs to costs to completion;
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the TR ABEYARGEH T IR AR ATEENEE
sales. Net realisable value of properties held for sale is PR
determined by reference to estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 2. Assessing the reasonableness of estimated selling prices
necessary to make the sales. by comparing the management’s estimated selling price
BRAMENIERFEIZE B EEBBEP MG to the recent average contracted selling price in the
EERMETT IR A RETIEE MR ETRAERE same project or the prevailing market price of fff
BEHEMHEMAIERFEDN2E R BEBBEFR M comparable properties with similar type, size and ‘E‘[
SAEBRETTHEMTNMEAKAERE - location; B
BRBEREEGANEBRIHEREENEATH |
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

MEEREE

HAREZXEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNELNMEERERERETREE

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale (Continued)

BRIVERSFEHEVEN TSR FEE)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's properties under 3.

development and properties held for sale amounted to
HK$24,699 million. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group recognised impairment losses of HKS$1,741
million on properties under development and properties
held for sale.

RZZBE_MOFE+_A=+—H BEXENZEERDE
R 35 1E & ) 3 5 24,699,000,00078 70 - BIE =T ZU4F
TZA=+—BIEFE X EEERBERDPYERSE
& ¥ 2 W SRR (B 5 $811,741,000,000 7T ©

We identified the net realisable value for properties under
development and properties held for sale as a key audit
matter as a significant management estimate is required in
assessing the net realisable value.

ARG ERFETEEAEREME - KM HA
BRPYELFELEDEN TR FEERBRER
ESE

Details of net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale are set out in
notes 20 and 3, respectively, to the consolidated financial
statements.
BERPDERBELEMENTTERFEFBES RIER
e SRR 20,3

Assessing the reasonableness of estimated costs
necessary to make the sales by comparing with the
average historical expense rate of the Group, and
reviewing the supporting documents of the
adjustments that management made according to
historical data; and

FhE SEEEMNBETHERETHER  FEE
ITHEMBNMETRANEEY  TEHEEER
BREEEETARNIFEXH &

Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated costs to
completion by comparing the latest estimated costs to
completion to the budget approved by management
and examining the supporting documents such as
construction contracts, internal correspondence and
approvals.
BBHNREFRA T IKNAREEREL ENTES
AREFEXM (NEEAR - REBEAKRE
B)AFERATIKEAETREE °



OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Kwok Yin.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

m/—flilj: ﬁi%

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZT_WF+_A=+—BIFE

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
B 5 FEx FHE T
REVENUE A 5 9,882,956 12,630,739
Cost of sales HERA (9,277,654) (10,458,171)
Gross profit EX 605,302 2,172,568
Other income H At g A 6 86,147 103,892
Fair value changes on investment REMERAREE
properties 15 (187,044) (2,284)
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHER (535,115) (416,249)
Administrative and other expenses THREMAS (487,540) (588,659)
Allowance for impairment of inventories 1 & J&i (B % &5 7 (1,741,066) (503,034)
Impairment losses recognised under BHEEEBRRAET
expected credit loss model, net R EEIEFE 10 (366,246) (173,661)
Finance income iR ON 8 217,336 184,386
Finance costs BA TS R 8 (534,689) (477,416)
Share of results of associates DAGEEE N R EE 17 (823,337) (209,869)
Share of results of joint ventures DG E QAL 18 59,678 33,889
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBLAT (B518), R F 7 (3,706,574) 123,563
Income tax expense SR> 1 (41,823) (649,249)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEEBE (3,748,397) (525,686)
(Loss)/profit for the year KEER (BB TaF
attributable to: BR:
Equity holders of the Company RAERERE A (3,520,690) (1,015,518)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 IR AR R A 2 41(b) (227,707) 489,832
(3,748,397) (525,686)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AR TGREFEAELZ
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BREE - Bl
COMPANY, IN HK CENTS
Basic and diluted ERREE 13 (105.19) (30.34)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

A A 1H 2R S KL fth 2 W 25 5%

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZT_WF+_A=+—BIFE

2024 2023
—E-F —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FER FHET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR REEFE (3,748,397) (525,686)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE Hitt2E X H
Other comprehensive expense that may REMEAIREEN D IEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in EnzH EMEEZH
subsequent periods:
Currency translation differences N =R (350,694) (366,903)
Fair value loss on hedging instruments 3R <& R ¥R Ry H T A
in cash flow hedges ZAREEE 26 (2,303) (28,861)
Share of other comprehensive expense D {hEt& AR E M2 M
of associates X 17 (26,386) (30,840)
Share of other comprehensive expense S fh&a & A alEME2HE
of joint ventures X 18 (7,174) (4,347)
(386,557) (430,951)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) BREBETEENHDEE
that will not be reclassified to profit or BEzHEME2EmEA
loss in subsequent periods: (X H) :
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets & @ H fh 2 U5 1%
at fair value through other ARBEFEZHBEE
comprehensive income FTEA 2 A Bk
(E518) 19 55,515 (222,309)
55,515 (222,309)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR ZAFEERBAEMEEX H
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (331,042) (653,260)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR ZNEE R HE T H4AE
THE YEAR (4,079,439) (1,178,946)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ AEEE2E(ZH) WA
income for the year attributable to: #AFEFBER :
Equity holders of the Company RAFREFEA (3,678,233) (1,532,460)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR IR SR fE (401,206) 353,514
(4,079,439) (1,178,946)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A B AR DL

31 December 2024 —ZZPFE+=-—A=+—H

2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=%F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
B 5 FEx FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment LER =& 14 696,812 677,511
Investment properties ‘A 15 2,661,098 2,806,263
Interests in associates NN R X 17 1,125,206 2,028,924
Interests in joint ventures REERE 2 s 18 329,267 333,897
Financial assets at fair value through ZEREMEEANSZEARE
other comprehensive income AECHMBEE 19 234,634 179,119
Other financial assets Ho & E 26 106 —
Other receivables H b e Uk 3R I8 17,682 7,775
Deferred tax assets wL?R HEE 30 335,733 458,949
Total non-current assets IERBEELTE 5,400,538 6,492,438
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 20 24,699,194 33,601,789
Prepayments, trade and other receivables TE{45IE « & 5 & E fh E UL
IA 21 7,166,458 8,821,507
Prepaid income tax TERT RTS8 760,980 729,270
Contract assets BHEE 22 68,397 191,082
Contract costs A HIRK AR 23 68,707 222,274
Other financial assets Hir & E 26 — 2,409
Cash and bank deposits, restricted ZPRHIEE & RIRITER 24 44,787 103,640
Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted PRI S RIRITIFR 25 2,821,859 3,410,744
Total current assets MENE EARR 35,630,382 47,082,715
Total assets EEHH 41,030,920 53,575,153
EQUITY E
Share capital [ 27 334,691 334,691
Reserves Ei] 28 1,274,145 4,952,378
Equity attributable to equity holders ZA 2 FREIFE AELZ
of the Company s 1,608,836 5,287,069
Non-controlling interests FERRRER 41(b) 7,648,133 9,060,576
Total equity EnAHE 9,256,969 14,347,645
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A B IR

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

2024 2023
—EWF —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
B e FExT TAT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Borrowings [EE 29 5,388,587 8,093,545
Other payables H fth & - 5KI8 31 206,936 229,080
Deferred tax liabilities FEFRIEEE 30 156,383 204,910
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 — 2,707
Total non-current liabilities ERBBEEE 5,751,906 8,530,242
CURRENT LIABILITIES REIBE
Borrowings (EE 29 16,294,582 15,223,126
Trade and other payables B 5 & H th fE 5 50E 31 7,546,508 9,114,886
Contract liabilities EHaE 32 1,647,646 5,706,814
Lease liabilities HEARE 16 2,649 3,720
Taxation payable FERT 18 530,660 648,720
Total current liabilities mEAEARE 26,022,045 30,697,266
Total liabilities BEHAE 31,773,951 39,227,508
Total equity and liabilities ERREEHRE 41,030,920 53,575,153
Net current assets RBEEFE 9,608,337 16,385,449
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERABERS 15,008,875 22,877,887

He jianbo A &1 i
Director & %

Chen Xingwu FR # &
Director & %




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RV
AR B 25 A ) R
Year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZT_WF+_A=+—BIFE
Attributable to equity holders
of the Company
RRRIRERE AN
Non-
Share controlling Total
capital Reserves Total interests equity
TR AR R
&N @ pEE g R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TR TET
(note 27) (note 28) (note 41(b))
(B =E27) (Fff7£28) (Ft2E41(0))

At 1 January 2023 RN-_ZE-_=%—HF—H 334,691 6,484,838 6,819,529 9,992,569 16,812,098

(Loss)/profit for the year FR(BE),/HEF = (1,015,518) (1,015,518) 489,832 (525,686)

Other comprehensive expense for FREMEES N
the year — (516,942) (516,942) (136,318) (653,260)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income F AR &2 (),
for the year, net of tax WA B = (1,532,460) (1,532,460) 353,514 (1,178,946)

Capital reduction paid to non- Ft 8 R B FEERAR R 2 E =
controlling shareholders of g
subsidiaries = = = (86,617) (86,617) I

Dividends distributed to 1r) /B8 A A E I AR AR 3R 9 I E(T
non-controlling shareholders of Pl =)
subsidiaries — — — (1,198,890) (1,198,890)

At 31 December 2023 RZTZ=F

+=-A=t+—8 334,691 4,952,378 5,287,069 9,060,576 14,347,645
I3
&
=
i
Ll
H
®
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mOmERgmR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z-PUF+_A=+—HI-FE

Attributable to equity holders
of the Company

ARABRESE AEM
Non-
Share controlling Total
capital Reserves Total interests equity
TR IR R
[ 3] meE B R A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTHERT TERT THET THET
(note 27) (note 28) (note 41(b))
(Bt 5£27) (Ff 3£ 28) (Ft=E41(b))
At 1 January 2024 RZT_MFE—A—H 334,691 4,952,378  5287,069 9,060,576 14,347,645
Loss for the year FREE —  (3,520,690) (3,520,690) (227,707)  (3,748,397)
Other comprehensive expense for FREMEES N
the year - (157,543) (157,543) (173,499) (331,042)
Total comprehensive expense for FRAKTREZEX L AE
the year, net of tax — (3,678,233)  (3,678,233) (401,206)  (4,079,439)
Capital reduction paid to non- Wi A R EIERR AR SR 2 A
controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries — — — (868,478) (868,478)
Dividends distributed to non- BLIENEIEZ S E S
controlling shareholders of Pl 3=\
subsidiaries — — — (142,759) (142,759)
At 31 December 2024 RZTZ@mF
+=-A=t+—8 334,691 1,274,145 1,608,836 7,648,133 9,256,969
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
OB eR
Year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZT_WF+_A=+—BIFE
2024 2023
—EWF —E =4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FEx FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHRTRE
ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations EEEFMEERS 34(a) 2,383,362 2,146,711
Income tax paid BEAIETER (123,964) (409,323)
Interest paid EAIFIE (1,208,242) (1,315,888)
Net cash flows generated from RETBHEERSRE
operating activities FE 1,051,156 421,500
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETZHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  WE K&K
equipment 14 (50,154) (56,393)
Proceeds on disposals of property, plant  HEWE - BE KK EE
and equipment IR 505 214
Additions of investment properties NBEIREYE 15 (60,038) (45,457)
Investment in a joint venture R—REERAIZEKE — (385)
Repayment from an associate BRE—XBE QR 20,266 3,801 =
Repayments from joint ventures BREEERT 176,783 207,953 i
Repayments from non-controlling B B8 X R FEFE AR AR BB K ‘E‘[
shareholders of subsidiaries 10,584 1,006,368 Wﬂ
Repayment from a fellow subsidiary —RERKBRAFRER — 2,687
Dividends from an associate REHERRBARE 53,995 —
Interest received B A A 139,753 184,386
Net cash flows generated from RETHRMELERESRE
investing activities FE 291,694 1,303,174
I
&
B
i
Ll
E=)
®
H
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEBRERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z-PUF+_A=+—HI-FE

2024 2023
—ECNE —E =%
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FER FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERE
ACTIVITIES
New borrowings L 18 K 11,383,537 7,989,714
Repayments of borrowings EEEX (12,903,115) (8,978,736)
Repayments to fellow subsidiaries BERTRREWB AR 34(b) (17,477) (2,423,040)
Repayment to a joint venture %/TJ\% ERCR—WNL 34(b) (36,825) —
Repayments to associates B THE QA 34(b) (55,039) (1,012,462)
Repayments to non-controlling BERTHERARIEERRR
shareholders of subsidiaries 34(b) (222,152) (178,459)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BN S &S E N
shareholders of subsidiaries s (8,466) (1,198,890)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHESE 34(b) (3,859) (19,967)
Capital reduction from non-controlling B /8 7~ &) FE 122 AR AR 3R E R
shareholders of subsidiaries &R — (86,617)
Net cash flows used in financing RMETEFTARERERE
activities (1,863,396) (5,908,457)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERRSEEBYRLDFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (520,546) (4,183,783)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHIZHEERBEEEY
of the year 3,410,744 7,701,361
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [ R & 8h ) 57 28 % 58
net (68,339) (106,834)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZASRBATEEY
AT END OF THE YEAR 25 2,821,859 3,410,744
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Targ
BAa

o SV 5 A B

31 December 2024 —ZZPFE+=-—A=+—H

1.

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Minmetals Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
real estate development, specialised construction and property
investment. The People’s Republic of China is the major market
for the Group's businesses.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The Company is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding
company is June Glory International Limited (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands) and its ultimate controlling shareholder is
China Minmetals Corporation (“China Minmetals”) (incorporated
in Mainland China).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section to the annual report.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). In addition, these financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, derivative financial instruments and equity
investments which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS" or
"HK dollar(s)") which is also the functional currency of the
Company, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

2.1
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e,, existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(©)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the equity holders of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

2.1 REEXE @)
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill) liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Going Concern

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$3,748 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024. As of 31 December 2024,
the Group recorded net current assets of HK$9,608 million. The
Group's current portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings amounted to HK$16,295 million, while the Group’s
cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$2,822 million.

As further disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group was in the progress of obtaining waivers
from banks for non-compliance with the financial covenants of
certain facility agreements and caused certain cross defaults of
other bank borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2024.
Taking into consideration the Group’s cash flow projections
prepared by the management, the Group's financial position, the
support from China Minmetals and one of its fellow subsidiaries,
the unutilised credit facilities offered from financial institutions,
and other financial resources, as at the date of this report, the
directors of the Company are satisfied that the Group is able to
meet its financial obligations in full as and when they fall due for
the coming 12 months. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
information has been prepared on a going concern basis.

2.1 REEXE @)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 Bt BHERREESH
AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first REBRRNFEERNI BRI B IREH
time in the current year's financial statements. THEAS TR B BB 1 & 2R o
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and BERMBHRERER EEHELONHE
Leaseback F169 2 1EE] EBE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as BB ER DB ERE
Current or Non-current (the B AERT 7@#%@
"2020 Amendments”) ([ZZE=FF
1&&T 1)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with BB ER B 75 2 3 A
Covenants (the “2022 F15218F] ?F))ﬁi?ﬁﬁ/%
Amendments”) (===
&5 1)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements BB ENER HREFHELH
HKFRS 7 REBMBEHREE

AIE75% 2 BT

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are EARAEE BT B BN ERELE
applicable to the Group are described below: Algy M R B RGIIAT -
(@  Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a @ BAEMBREERE 165 ZIEFT
3 seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in SR — A A E2EEOHE
= a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee REHMEENHERBZEE
g does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that AIRE — AMEA TS RN
2 relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has FIRBEAEEHNEMNERS
o}
z no sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease H-HRAEBEEBEXREREE
<<
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate MRS 2R 65k 2 B B &
occurring from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, PEARIEH NI ZAE
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial NHMERBERS  AZSE
position or performance of the Group. BT AN B A B AR R 3R 3R
WA -
o
w
=
=
-
)
Z
=
-
4
=
&
=
Z
=
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (cONTINUED)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of
a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after
the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or
non-current remained unchanged upon initial application
of the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding the
effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. The
amendments did not have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

2.2
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N 128

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not early adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to adopt these new and
revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the
HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10
and HKAS 72

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
8 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from
HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new
requirements for presentation within the statement of profit or
loss, including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required
to classify all income and expenses within the statement of profit
or loss into one of the five categories: operating, investing,
financing, income taxes and discontinued operations and to
present two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures
about management-defined performance measures in a single
note and introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping
(aggregation and disaggregation) and the location of information
in both the primary financial statements and the notes. Some
requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS
8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of
Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS
18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments are made to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share
and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are
minor consequential amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18
and the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
with earlier application permitted. Retrospective application is
required. The Group is currently analysing the new requirements
and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and
disclosure of the Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRSs. To
be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must be
a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements, cannot have public accountability and must have a
parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which comply with
HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a
listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (cONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on which
a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and
introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The
amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow
characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social and
governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover, the
amendments clarify the requirements for classifying financial
assets with non-recourse features and contractually linked
instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with an adjustment to opening retained profits (or
other component of equity) at the initial application date. Prior
periods are not required to be restated and can only be restated
without the use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the
amendments at the same time or only the amendments related
to the classification of financial assets is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from
the transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate
or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.

23 EEMEHMRERNEEM

B EZER @)

FRMBREENFORRBEYHR
EREANE 7R AR BIB M BB E R
BREMNKILERAH W5 A—RE
ARRREE EERRBERENBR
T RUIEERANEERRZAEBE
XNERGEENT AR - RFETE
BIARHEEBRE - e REAUK
H B USSR FENTBEEENGHR
TRERFIE - 1SN RFETBBEHA
BEERBEUENMBEERA VD
TRETHENRE - ZFEBIITERE
HiEERBEREMEERRIZA B
EZRaTARARRRFENESHT
HAZWENBINEE - ZFEBTAEH
FER - ARG EME B Y BYRE R
A (SRR E DA E D) EITHE -
BEMRBASS - BEAENMELTE
MBI TES - A FFRKERERM
BEREERINERAERMEEE D BE
FAHER] - RSB TEHAEHE
M BRRELENEATE -

BB RAIE0RRE BRI
RIS 28%, 2 (53T 2 E1 B8 81 T 4R 45 22
F105 REBE AR 285 2 EH
RAERABEAARA ALK 2
SENEIEEMERTHT—BHER
fElti o HEBHTAT  HEEREIE
SR BB  ARBER THR
SEBM BRI - BRHFR
TR —BRBOAER - mRXDE
25 SRS L B 1R K 1 25 O
R REATEBREER KB EAT
HABLENERAR « KEBETHR
RiEREF  BBHEREEAE0H R
EB @RI 285 2 BT HOR AL
REMERELEHBAEBR - A
T HEETRE A RS -



2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall
be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of equity,
where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of
simplification or achieving consistency with other
paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In addition, the
amendments clarify that the Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all the
requirements in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor
does it create additional requirements. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that
when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has
been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee
is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and
recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In
addition, the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9
to remove potential confusion. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement in
paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of
HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of
‘cost method”. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test, on
a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all of
the fair values of the gross assets acquired are concentrated in a
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price to the individual identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.
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2.4 EXESTBER @)

EBaHREEWE 1)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an
asset and a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting.
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liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair values.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on
how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior
to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity
interest.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or fair value less costs of
disposal in HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant's ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that
at initial recognition, the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as below:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or a
joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to
the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company that make strategic decisions.

Foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of respective entities of the Group using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

—  Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings; and

—  Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group's interests.

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

—  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of
the reporting period;

— income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss
are translated at average exchange rates (unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint venture or
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the equity holders of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposal
of associates or joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and
liabilities arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

—  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depicts the Group's performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with
a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Existence of significant financing component (Continued)
For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the Group
adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a
significant financing component, the Group applies a discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to
a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange
for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e.
the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an
agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would
not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Contract costs (Continued)

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract (Continued)

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset
if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods
or services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one
year.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application or arising
from business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements
would not differ materially from individual leases within the
portfolio.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; and

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the
end of the useful life. The right-of-use assets are buildings which
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease terms of 3
to 5 years.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory in “property, plant
and equipment’, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were
owned. Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property and inventory are presented within
“‘investment properties” and “inventories” respectively.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
when the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that
stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease incentives from lessor by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration
in a contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the basis of
their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The
sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with
reference to the underlying asset.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by the
Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements as a sale, the Group
as a seller-lessee measures the right-of-use asset arising from the
leaseback at the proportion of the previous carrying amount of
the asset retained and recognises any gain or loss that relates to
the rights transferred to the buyer-lessor only.
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred
revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
included in the “other income”.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repair and maintenance costs are
expensed in the profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to allocate
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 2%-5%
Leasehold improvements Over the remaining period of

the lease
Machinery 5%-25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%-25%
Motor vehicles 20%-30%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Gain and loss on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction
for such purposes).

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets upon application of
HKFRS 16 and subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating
lease income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investment properties (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has been changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any differences between the carrying amount and the fair value
of that item (including the relevant leasehold land classified as
right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained earnings.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. A
leased property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is
derecognised if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the
sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Transfer from inventories to investment properties carried
at fair value

The Group transfers a property from inventories to investment
properties when there is a change in use to hold the property to
earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
inception of an operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and contract costs (Continued)
Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15, the Group assesses
and recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to
the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards.
Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract
costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for related goods or services less the
costs which relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets
capitalised as contract costs are then included in the carrying
amount of the cash-generating unit to which they belong for the
purpose of evaluating impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and contract costs (Continued)
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) other than goodwill is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Inventories represent properties under development and
completed properties held for sale.

Properties under development which are intended to be sold
upon completion of development and properties for sale are
classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets upon the application of
HKFRS 16, properties under development/properties for sale are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on a specific identification basis including allocation
of the related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for the properties less
estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to make the
sales.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
properties for sale upon completion.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)
the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss, except that at initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or fair
value through other comprehensive income as measured at fair
value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the

next reporting period.

financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Investments in equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income are subsequently measured
at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are
not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred
to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”
line item in profit or loss.

2.4 EXESTBER @)

%I A @
HMELE (&)
MBEENDBERERTE (B)

(1)

(i)

BEGH AR R B A
HRERRBHAENWBHEETIE
RERMEET AR LK
J\ FEWATIE — B & E
HAAERBERNET G
- MR 1R 315 RRUE &Y B 75
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁl\f}?ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬂjiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
MPHEEMS - B T —HEH
- FLE WA T I 5 A B
AN FE R B BRI R F LARER o 1
HRERBEZHHETANER
RageE  FHBEEETHHR
ERRE REETEETHHR
ERMER  BREHFRELETN
B AT H B 15 B E R ARE R
BRI =R T LARER

HEERBBEME AR
EiTEZ#m TR

EERBBHEMEERSEAR
@#gZEi”IﬂE’H&ﬁE{%&
AREFE HAAEZEHEL
B W gt K 5 1R 70 Al AR A Ui
RENEBEERFBRE  BA
tERERN G - R BREH T E

MOBELERARE 2B
W EREERE BN o

%Kﬁlﬁﬁwﬂﬂlﬁlﬁi B 1
R EEDTARENRER
TE SRR BRIER S HERTR
A EBOLERA - BEFTA
BaP [EARATHIEBF -



2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including cash and
bank deposits and trade and other receivables), and other items
(lease receivables, contract assets and financial guarantee
contracts) which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment is done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables,
contract assets and lease receivables. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant increase in
credit risk or related parties and collectively for the rest using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EREFTEE @

(CONTINUED)

N 160

Financial instruments (Continued) %I A @

Financial assets (Continued) BB EE (&)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to M EERBEREEMGREEF
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) SRIE N EEITRIERT AR HAMIE R (B)
For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance MAMBEEMIEMS - A&EBGEEE

equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the

Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether

lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i)
it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(¢)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable,
the cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable
in accordance with HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that
are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent
that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when

formulating the grouping:
Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by recognising the
corresponding adjustment through a loss allowance
account, with the exception of financial guarantee
contracts where the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss by adjusting their carrying amount.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at fair
value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash
flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any
fees received, and discounted using the original effective interest
rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset,
after reducing gross carrying amount that has been written off.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets (Continued)

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial assets will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial assets and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual capital instruments, which include no contractual
obligations for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets
or the Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of
distribution and redemption of principal amount indefinitely are
classified as equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including borrowings and trade and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
their fair values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Derecognition/substantial modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a
substantial modification from original terms taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative factors.
If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers
that the terms are substantially different if the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of
the original financial liability. Accordingly, such modification of
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as
non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 10
per cent.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Derecognition/substantial modification of financial liabilities
(Continued)

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments
for cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship, the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives
and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is
highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

For the purpose of determining whether a forecast transaction
(or a component thereof) is highly probable, the Group assumes
that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged cash
flows (contractually or non-contractually specified) are based is
not altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers
whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of
the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

there is an economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument;

the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship; and

the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as
that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge
that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness
requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the
same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging
relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the
qualifying criteria again.

In assessing the economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument, the Group assumes that the interest
rate benchmark on which the hedged cash flows and/or the
hedged risk (contractually or non-contractually specified) are
based, or the interest rate benchmark on which the cash flows of
the hedging instrument are based, is not altered as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Cash flow hedges (Continued)

For the purpose of reclassifying the amount of gains and losses
accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve in order to
determine whether the hedged future cash flows are expected to
occur, the Group assumes the interest rate benchmark on which
the hedged cash flows (contractually or non-contractually
specified) are based is not altered as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in cash flow hedging reserve are reclassified to
profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit
or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively only
when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet
the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This
includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is
sold, terminated or exercised. Discontinuing hedge accounting
can either affect a hedging relationship in its entirety or only a
part of it (in which case hedge accounting continues for the
remainder of the hedging relationship).

For cash flow hedge, any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transactions is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or
loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly
liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
Group's consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

2.4 EXESTBEE @)

B 5 2 3 SE B R

7N HA ] 2 BIR 3T B B HA AN G AE Y
B RENERER  BEEEREMES
WathERERETERAZIABEEH
FRIFRIN - EZIBRAT - HBANDHIE
Ho 2 T R B B IR A M P RERR

EIRi#H
BHMERIHEREARAZHME A
Al -BERRRAEEARKERELR
AR AZ BIR NI E R BB R
BEE LERMZRBEEGFE - EEE
SLERBREAPIBEM AR 2 BREH
AHE BRI RN - YEFERBR TR
15 T8 HA 78 1) 794 755 148 B S <F 2 T oK A o
& o

EAELHE
BEFRBRAEEGE P ERRANE
2 N BB MR (B E 5T B R A P A
MHEARENERZEER - BENEA
B—RAAERRNE R Z MR -
FJRER 2R 3R SRR N ] R AEHURE
RFEE ASERIECHREE - HE
REBRVELR —BATTERRT R F
RN ZNEEMRBENTN
R (RBA GBI - AIRFREREA
BEENBBETSRABAR - ULS WE
BERERTGREIABREELS AT 2E
RIELERIBRIE

ELERARBDERERKERR
BENRMEEARABNERT LR
ZRMAER BN ANKEEEHI TR E
BOBOERE BABERAEIEN
A REREDEERERI - X EE B
BRERMEZAIMRERZEMELZ
BREHRIBREE - REEATHNERN
S M) AT BE 3R AR AT LA R s 2 BE A
Mg - BIRHAFE AT 5 OR 2R B (B S A 2R

M F 3

=

TEEERRAA



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting periods and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting periods, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale, except for freehold land, which is always presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on
a net basis.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or paternity
leaves are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

Group companies participate in various defined contribution
pension schemes. The schemes are generally funded through
payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to present value.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be
a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Contingent liabilities (Continued)

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the Group's financial statements unless the possibility of
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Critical accounting judgement

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors have reviewed the Group's investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group's investment
properties located in Hong Kong are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over
time. Therefore, in measuring the Group's deferred taxation on
investment properties located in Hong Kong, the Directors have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties located in Hong Kong are recovered
entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has
not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of
investment properties located in Hong Kong as the Group is not
subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes of the
investment properties on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Critical accounting judgement (Continued)
Deferred taxation on investment properties (Continued)
With regards to the Group's investment properties located in
Mainland China, the Directors considered that they are held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in these
investment properties over time. Therefore, the Directors have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties located in Mainland China are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
recognised deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the Group's
investment properties located in Mainland China on the basis
that the entire carrying amounts of these properties are
recovered through use.

Key estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing uncertainty to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities are discussed below:

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuer. The
determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions of
market conditions which are set out in note 15.

The Directors have performed internal assessment on the risks of
change in macroeconomic environment through performing
sensitivity analysis in relation to the Group’s investment
properties.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at
31 December 2024 was approximately HK$2,661,098,000 (2023:
HK$2,806,263,000). More details are set out in note 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Construction contracts

The Group recognised income and cost generated from
construction contracts, which were derived from the latest
available budgets of the construction contracts with reference to
the overall performance of each construction contract and the
management’s best estimates and judgements. Estimated
construction income is determined in accordance with the terms
set out in the relevant contracts. Estimated construction costs
which mainly comprise sub-contracting charges and costs of
materials are estimated by the management on the basis of
quotations from time to time provided by the major contractors/
suppliers/vendors involved and the experience of the
management. Because of the nature of the construction industry,
the management regularly reviews the progress of the contracts
and the estimated construction income and costs.

When the actual costs incurred are significantly more or less than
expected, or changes in circumstances which result in revision of
management’s estimates on the percentage of completion, the
effect of such change is recognised prospectively in the profit or
loss in the period of the change.

Deferred taxes

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax assets of HK$335,733,000
(2023: HKS$458,949,000) have been recognised in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position as set out in note
30. The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. The Directors determine the profit
projections of the Group for coming years during which the
deferred tax assets are expected to be utilised. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are more or less than
expected, an additional recognition or a reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a recognition or reversal takes place.

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables and
contract assets

Trade and other receivables with significant increase in credit risk
or amounts due from related parties are assessed for ECL
individually.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables and
contract assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to estimate ECL for
the trade receivables and contract assets that are not assessed
individually. The provision rates are based on debtors' aging as
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The
provision matrix is based on the Group's historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade and other
receivables and contract assets are disclosed in notes 40, 21 and
22 respectively.

Estimated impairment of inventories

The Group tests regularly whether inventories have suffered any
impairment based on the assessment of net realisable value.
Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable
evidence available at the time the estimates are made, and the
amounts the inventories are expected to realise. Significant
management estimates are required in the estimates. Where the
actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimates, such differences will impact on the carrying
amounts of inventories and the impairment loss.
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AT B BT 1S By B A S B IR DA SR TR
ERFENGHE -G AETREEE
BEHEBEAME - MBERNERERSK
BHARRREMGE - AIEBEREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the
executive directors. The executive directors review the Group's

B BER

FTELEARECHERBATES - %
TEERHAEBABITERE - LAFE
13%%@%& PTEEER - HITEEERIEZ

FHRERTEED THIBLLEDH

internal financial reports in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. The executive directors have determined the
operating segments based on these reports as follows:

Real estate Development and sales of residential BEHEER BEREHEEEER
development: and commercial properties A E

Specialised construction: Design, installation and selling of BEEE FEr - RER
curtain walls and aluminum HE R
windows, doors and other inE -~ PN EAM
materials ke

Property investment: Holding of properties to generate YIZERE A€ 78 W 3= R B AR
rental income and/or to gain from SWA - WK
the appreciation in properties’ s BYE
values in the long-term

No operating segments identified by the executive directors have HITESABEEMLLE D HBRAEER

been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the ZERDEBEEETEH -

Group.

Segment revenue and results

DEBMAREE

<
o~
I Real estate development  Specialised construction Property investment Total
= - crasm
5 EHERE HxEs NERE ag
a
o 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
< SE-@E SE-SF SEC@F SFSSF SEC@FE SFSSF SEC@E SEoCF
z HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
< FER TET FER TET FET TAT FET TAT
Revenue 9N
Total segment revenue BAHWA 9,832,285 12307637 716 271,906 53,674 55541 9,886,675 12635084
Inter-segment revenue ABEBA - = - - (3,719) (4345) (3,719) (4345)
Sales to external customers HINEFHE 9,832,285 12307637 716 271,906 49,955 5119 9,882,956 12630739
Results E3
Segment results PRER (2,040,133) 864377 (176,889) (28145 (216,844) (3627)  (2,433,866) 832,605
Unallocated corporate expenses, net APBOERY  FE (191,696) (240,032)
(2,625,562) 592,573
Finance income BHRA 217,336 184386
Finance costs BN (534,689) (477416)
a Share of results of associates AMEBE DR EE (823,337) (209,869)
E Share of results of joint ventures DERELNRIEE 59,678 33,889
=
[a) s e
2 (Loss)/profit before tax BB A (B8 /57 (3,706,574) 123563
S
wv
-
<
-
w
=
Z
=



OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in note 2.4. Segment results represent the (loss)/profit

4.

REPTLER @)

2 EWARFE
EREEETLZE aﬁﬁlﬁéﬁiﬁﬁ‘%z AFfT
MR EE SRR B - D EPEERE

APREERARMX - FEKA - 8

before tax without allocation of unallocated corporate income B RS (hEE AR REERAIER
and expenses, finance income, finance costs, and share of results BB F R (BE18), S H o
of associates and joint ventures.
Inter-segment revenue is charged at prevailing market rates. D80 MR A T IEIR TS (B E
0 egeg e -\ p?
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEERERE
Real estate development  Specialised construction Property investment Total
ERHERRE BEEH NERE @
2024 2023 2024 2003 2024 2003 2024 2003
ZEIME ZZ-=F CBCME “TC=F ZBCMFE ZT-=F SBCNEFE ZE-=F
HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS'000
TERL THEL TER TET TER TAT TER AT
Assets BE
Segment assets DEEE 37,264,382 4949888 79,314 228500 1,872,757 2053128 39216453 51431516
Unallocated corporate assets APBROEEE 1,814,467 2,143,637
Total assets RELE 41,030,920 53575153
Liabilities BfE
Segment liabilities SHEE 30,733,975 38063573 79,262 70875 16,118 20183 30,829,355 38154631
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOMEEEE 944,596 1072877
Total liabilities BEeE 31,773,951 3927508

Segment assets consist primarily of interests in associates,
in joint ventures,
investment properties,
receivables, contract assets, contract costs and operating cash
but exclude items such as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, bank deposits for corporate use

interests property, plant and equipment,

other financial assets, inventories,

and deferred tax assets. Segment liabilities comprise all operating
liabilities but exclude items such as taxation and certain other
payables.

DHEETEZBRENEE QR 2
REERBz2#m WE - BEER
th WEWME EBYHKEE FE
EUWHIR - AREE  RHRARZEE
e BEMrEREREMEEERIES
REMAEZHMBEE FEEREZR
TERRBEEVREESER - DA
BREMAZEARE  ETEEREAR
AT HMEMRA -

M F 3

=

TEEERRAA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFEIER @)

(CONTINUED)
Other segment information Hitp HEHR
Real estate development  Specialised construction Property investment Segment total Unallocated Total
FHERR BXES NERE AHAE K98 2
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZB-mE —B--F C-ZB-ME —T--F -BCNE “F--F CZBCME -E--F ZB-ME “E--F -“BCME —T-oCF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT TR TAR TR Thr THT Thx TER ThR TER TAT
Amounts included in the HEAD PR

measure of segment profit AHEE:
or loss or segment assets:

Interests in associates REHE DR B 1125206 2028924 - = - — 1125206 2028924 - — 1125206 2028924
Interests in joint ventures REERRZER 329,267 333897 - = - — 329,267 333897 - — 329,267 333897
Capital expenditures BARY 108,996 9372 - 34 961 4962 109,957 101368 235 482 110,192 101,850
Depreciation recognised BREAZNE 12,900 25462 #“ 59 1,393 138 14,334 25659 4,052 4711 18,386 30370
Fair value changes on REWELABED

investment properties 16,750 (22474 - — 170294 24758 187,044 2,284 - — 187,044 2,84
Allowance for impairment of FERAERETE

inventories, net 1,741,066 503,034 - = - — 1,741,066 503,034 - — 1,741,066 503,034

Impaiment losses recognised/ B E BERERE
(reversed) under expected T#R/(B5) 2

credit loss model, net BEBRFE 265,585 177321 101,072 (2,707) (@11) (953) 366,246 173661 - — 366,246 173661
Geographical information ih & & R
The Group operates its businesses in two main geographical AEBEZEKFEZEH R M IEME L
areas: g
-
3
= Hong Kong: Real estate development, specialised BB BEHEERE -
e construction and property BEREER
< investment MERE
z Mainland China: Real estate development and PR A B EERK
property investment MERE
In presenting geographical information, sales are presented REV|IMEERE  HEZ 20 ER
based on the geographical locations of the customers. Total FPRHIBMERELE - ERBEELTE
non-current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred tax TEEMBETAREEHEBELE -
assets.
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
aiE HEIR i e
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 203
“BEoNE —ETC=F -B-NE —TC=F “F-NE —TCO=F
HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000
TERT FTHET TERT FHET FTET FTHT
[a) External sales HINEE 3,820,868 328627 6,062,088 12302112 9,882,956 12630739
w N 5 e
= Total non-current assets ERBEELR 1,955,046 2125797 2,857,337 3720798 4,812,383 5,846,595
=
=
[a] o o = pTRIN
z Information about major customer EREXEEFZER
- No revenue from transaction with single external customer is AREBWES —INLEFPRMEFE
| — e e
< amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for both WA B BR109%3k A E o
s years.
Z
=

\—— 180



5. REVENUE 5. KA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA LET -
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFEAIBIHA 9,833,001 12,579,543
Revenue from other sources E At IR I A
Rental and management fee income from REREMENHEE R
investment properties EEERA 49,955 51,196
9,882,956 12,630,739
Revenue from contracts with customers REEZEESHHUWA
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) WAHDEH
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZE-—mE+-—A=+—8
IEFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments 72 development construction Total
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TRz TR TR il
Bl
Types of goods or services B Y= iR E A yé(l
Sales of properties HEYH 9,372,423 — 9,372,423 I
Specialised construction services BERERY — 716 716
Management services B AR 7% 459,862 — 459,862
Total revenue from contracts with RERFELHN
customers DN X 9,832,285 716 9,833,001
Geographical markets EE T 5
Mainland China R R A b 6,062,088 — 6,062,088
Hong Kong BB 3,770,207 716 3,770,923
Total revenue from contracts with RERFEHH
customers WA B 9,832,285 716 9,833,001
Timing of revenue recognition WA TR R
Properties transferred at a point MR K —
in time R 9,372,423 — 9,372,423
Specialised construction services BREEIRTEHE
transferred over time A — 716 716 w
Management services transferred & 12 iR 765 B s R d
over time LEE 459,862 - 459,862 %‘
i
Total revenue from contracts with RERFEHH ,§
customers WA B 9,832,285 716 9,833,001 i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A S R PR R
31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H
5. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5. WA @
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHNKA (@)
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) WAMHEF ()
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HeE—_ZT_=%+=-_A=+—H
IEFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments PaN: development construction Total
B EER BRFEE “EE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEIT FH&T FHIT
Types of goods or services B Y AR A5 Bl
Sales of properties HEWZ% 11,808,005 — 11,808,005
Specialised construction services HEFERK — 271,906 271,906
Management services EE RS 499,632 — 499,632
Total revenue from contracts with REBEFPEHH
customers WA 45 12,307,637 271,906 12,579,543
Geographical markets EE T 5
Mainland China R B A i 12,302,112 = 12,302,112
Hong Kong B 5,525 271,906 277431
% Total revenue from contracts with RERFEHDHK
& customers A 12,307,637 271,906 12,579,543
<
2
z Timing of revenue recognition DON AT
Properties transferred at a point YIER K —
in time BhEEE 11,808,005 = 11,808,005
Specialised construction services BREERGEE
transferred over time Ay P B 2 — 271,906 271,906
Management services transferred 1 PR 75 BE R
over time LEE 499,632 — 499,632
Total revenue from contracts with REZF A LR
customers N L 12,307,637 271,906 12,579,543
o
w
:
S
-
[a]
Z
<
-
wv
-
<
-
w
=
2
=



5. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5. WA @
Revenue from contracts with customers REEZFEHHHRA (&)
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) WAHZEF (E)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from LTRNARKBEES LW A EY
contracts with customers to the amounts disclosed in the HMER TR E SRR AR ©
segment information:
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_T-_HWHF+-A=+T—H
WFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments ok development construction Total
EHERR BERE @
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHER FEx
Revenue from contracts with REEFAHN
customers N
External customers HINE P 9,832,285 716 9,833,001
Inter-segment sales o EBEEE — — —
9,832,285 716 9,833,001
Inter-segment adjustments and 7 AR & f_
eliminations 34 — — — El
I
gy
Total revenue from contracts with REEFAEAOH '
customers L ONE 9,832,285 716 9,833,001
I3
&
=
T
e
E=)
=
H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R T R B RE
31 December 2024 —Z—MF+—-A=+—8
5. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5. WA @
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHUWA 45)
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) WAHZEF (E)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from UTARBEFLAHNI ALY
contracts with customers to the amounts disclosed in the HMER T ECENEER  (8)
segment information: (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BHE_ZT_="F+_H=+—H
IFFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments Al development construction Total
B EERE BERE ks
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHIT F&T FHIT
Revenue from contracts with REEFEHAMN
customers WA
External customers HINEF 12,307,637 271,906 12,579,543
Inter-segment sales 2 EfE S — — —
12,307,637 271,906 12,579,543
Inter-segment adjustments and 7 AR &
g eliminations 85 — — —
=
(@]
& Total revenue from contracts with RERFE R
< customers WA 5 12,307,637 271,906 12,579,543
=z
z
(b) Performance obligations (b) BHEMFE
Information about the Group's performance obligations is FEAEERAHRENHER
summarised below: P
Real estate development EHEERE
For contracts entered into with customers on sales of FHEEPAFIVEBYEHEERN
properties, the Group’s performance does not create an B4 AEBEMNENTEHBRE
asset with alternative use to the Group. Taking into AREBEEMABRNEE - &K=&
consideration of the relevant contract terms, the legal BIEBE NER  EERERE
environment and relevant legal precedent, the Group AN AREBEREHITE
concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable AR EINITREN A E R T P EE
right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant B Y B BB 3R e B L - 2R
A properties to the customer. Revenue from sales of BYEEERNRETIRNIE TY
w properties is therefore recognised when the completed BB EREPR (EFPEEERIY
% property is transferred to customers, being at the point 5150 ) I A B [ B HE A AR
= that the customer obtains the control of the completed T3 B A 7 gg WELR (B 2 BF) 1
S property and the Group has present right to payment and R BETEBRAIMNK -
2 collection of the consideration is probable. Payment in
E advance is normally required.
Z
=



5.

REVENUE (conTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(b)

Performance obligations (Continued)

Specialised construction

The Group provides specialised construction services to
customers. Such services are recognised as a performance
obligation satisfied over time as the Group creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for these
construction services based on the stage of completion of
the contract using input method. The payment is generally
due within 90 days from the date of billing.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations of sales of properties as at
31 December 2024 was HK$3,619,245,000 (31 December
2023: HK$9,514,477,000) and is expected to be recognised
as revenue within two years.

OTHER INCOME

5. WA @
RKEEFELYHWA (&)

(b) EAEE (&)

EXEE
AEERTEFRERHEEIREER
% o A B8 AR 7% BE 2 7 5% B 38 R oK
MEREFPENNEE  REE
EERREREERD/DEXNNE
MEME - ZERERBHKRAR
BEOTEAERERRAET A
R - XA RNRER L A
FEH0H AR B AT -

R-ZE-_WME+-_A=+—HB%H
EHENERTHNELOEED
R BB 53,619,245,00058 7T (=
T-_=F+-_HAH=+—H":
9,514,477,0005% JT.) & T8 B #% 1A
FRERBEA -

6. HfUA

2024 2023

ZEZNF —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Government subsidies BT & B 18,172 18,088

Dividend income i B Uz 7,798 8,658
Management fee income from a fellow WR—KERXMBREZ

subsidiary EREBRA 2,481 2,666

Consultancy fee income from fellow WER ZMEAFZ

subsidiaries B U 2,225 23,056

Others H At 55,471 51,424

86,147 103,892

185 —

M F 3

=

TEEERRAA



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

7.

\—— 186

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

7. BRBiAT (BB EF

2024 2023

—E-MF —E_=F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHER T

Cost of properties sold (i) B & YRR ) 9,197,242 10,156,653

Cost of specialised construction B 63,279 283,849
Direct operating expenses incurred BRI WA 2 B

for investment properties that generated EECEEEERX

rental income 17,133 17,669

Depreciation e 18,386 30,370

Auditor’s remuneration 1% BRAD B & 4,150 4,280
Employee benefit expense (including EERNXH(BEES

directors’ emoluments) (note 9) <) (FI5E9) 266,969 278,993

Allowance for impairment of inventories FERBERE 1,741,066 503,034

Net exchange (gain)/loss P& 5 (W), B85 58 (14,701) 28,859

(i) Included in cost of properties sold are capitalised interest (i)
expenses of HK$1,170,154,000 (2023: HK$706,442,000).

B & N ERARF B1E1,170,154,000
B (Z T = =F : 706,442,000/
JC) ZEAREF B e



8. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 8. MU ARKE
2024 2023
—E-MF —T-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHEx T T
Finance income B U
Interest income from bank deposits HRITEZF B WA 44,486 66,300
Interest income from a non-controlling W — KM B R A2
shareholder of a subsidiary — R IR 2
FEKA 23,408 24,808
Interest income from joint ventures WEEE QA2
M EWA 149,442 93,278
217,336 184,386
Finance costs I
Bank borrowings wholly repayable within ARAFABHEEZ
five years RITHE 799,341 1,074,181
Other borrowings wholly repayable within ARAFEANBHEEZ
five years H MK 409,446 287,618
Interest on lease liabilities HEABRZAE 219 1,213
1,209,006 1,363,012
Less: Amount capitalised as properties W ABE b7 AR
under development (i) REYIEZ () (674,317) (885,596)
534,689 477,416
(i)  Borrowing costs were capitalised at rates ranging from ()  BEEERIZENF310%E635%(=

3.10% to 6.35% (2023: 3.30% to 7.17%) per annum.

T =4 330%E7.17%) B
RFLAE AL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A S R PR R
31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H
9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 9. EERAXZH
2024 2023
—EME —E-=
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Wages, salaries and bonus TE&  He&kiEad 345,184 375,292
Pension costs — defined contribution plans — EBARES KA — FEEH R
(note 33) =Ha8I (M45E33) 47,242 49,761
392,426 425,053
Less: Amount capitalised as properties o AB AL A
under development B ERE (49,630) (65,454)
Less: Amount included in cost of sales W ETAEER AN
T H (41,939) (43,046)
Less: Amount included in selling and B ETAE R EH
marketing expenses ERRNZEHE (33,888) (37,560)
266,969 278,993
There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the W ORI E R AT AR B EREE
3 Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of AR EERAHRIKT -
e contributions.
g
S
=z
z
o
=
=
-
)
Z
s
4
=
&
=
=
=
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9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (continvep) 9. EERF X H @)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM2
The remuneration of each director for the year ended BHE_Z_HWNF+-_H=+—H
31 December 2024 is set out below: IEFE S5 2ME&HII0T

Employer’s
contribution

Salaries and Discretionary  to pension

Name of directors Espns Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total
EBikestal
e FeREM (kg BEHR M
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTET FTEx THERT THERT TERT
Executive directors BITES
Mr. He Jianbo* ] 811 0%% 56 4 - 315 511 73 899
Mr. Liu Bo 2R — 295 485 73 853
Mr. Chen Xingwu BRE R L& — 278 424 73 775
Mr. Yang Shangping BHEEE — 454 424 77 955
Non-executive director FHTES
Ms. He Xiaoli /Rt — 66 88 — 154
Mr. Huang Guoping HETELE — 66 88 — 154
¥
Independent non-executive BYFHITES g
directors [‘(ﬁ‘
Professor Wang Xiuli TEEHER 400 — - - 400 H
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy MR B & 390 — — — 390
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny EOMB L+ 400 — — — 400
1,190 1,474 2,020 296 4,980
I
&
=
Rl
]
)
=
H




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (continvep) 9. EERF X H @)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEM< @)
The remuneration of each director for the year ended HE_ZT_=—F+_-_H=+—H
31 December 2023 is set out below: IEFE - S2F 20T :
Employer's

contribution

Salaries and  Discretionary to pension

Name of directors BEENA Fees  allowances bonuses scheme Total
RAREEE

we HekEM BB AT BEHK HE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TRET TR THET TET TET

Executive directors BITES
Mr. He Jianbo* 1Al G282 55 A = 320 1,029 70 1419
Mr. Liu Bo £l S = 299 978 70 1347
Mr. Chen Xingwu PR E R 5T & = 281 904 70 1,255
Mr. Yang Shangping Bin LA — 461 815 75 1351
Non-executive director FHTES
Ms. He Xiaoli fA/NER L = 67 = = 67
Mr. Huang Guoping EETEE = 67 = = 67

3

e Independent non-executive BYFHITES

% directors

§ Professor Wang Xiuli THREHER 400 = = = 400

% Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy AR B S A 390 = = = 390
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BB L+ 400 — — — 400

1,190 1,495 3,726 285 6,696

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were LM TEEMES P REERA
for their services in connection with the management of RARAEEREREEBIRMUR
the affairs of the Company and the Group. 1% o
The non-executive director’s and independent M ITEERBLIENITE
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were EMe P RESETARTES
for their services as directors of the Company. PR ER (B AR 7S

o Discretionary bonuses were determined by the HIEEABREREG REFKE

= management with regard to the performance of the RAEBEZEXREBET °

§ Directors and the Group's operating results.

e

S During the year, no directors of the Company waived or FRN - WEARAIEZEEHREXR

2 agreed to waive any emoluments (2023: Nil). EREAANS(ZE =4

i ) o

-

=
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9.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (cONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

9.

EEEANZEH @

Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a)
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group

to the Directors as an inducement to join or as
compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

The executive director marked “*" above is also considered

as the chief executive of the Group and his emoluments

disclosed above include those for services rendered by him

as the chief executive.

Five highest-paid individuals (b)

In 2024, no directors were included in five highest-paid
individuals in the Group (2023: three). These directors’
emoluments are disclosed in (a) above. Details of the
emoluments of the remaining five (2023: two) individuals
are as follows:

EENE @@
FRAKEREATAESES
NS ERBRIIMAREE 2 82
B ERBERMEE (T =%
&)

BEM | ZHTEZTRE RS
Bz TR R EXREN
<= B FE B EL R TT IR AR AR IR
RS -

TEBEHFMAL

R-Z_MF BEESFFAKR
SELEREHFMALH (2T
=F=ZR) HEEMERNLEX
@EBFEE -HBpAR(ZT =
FmMB)ALTZMEFEOT

2024 2023
ZE-NF —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
Salaries and allowances e MoRR 6,281 3,156
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 907 395
Employer’s contributions to pension RIKEFHEIE E MR
schemes 302 158
7,490 3,709
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e FHmELLT -
2024 2023
HK$1,000,001-HKS 1,500,000 1,000,001 T2
1,500,000 7T 4 —
HKS$1,500,001-HKS$2,000,000 1,500,001 T2
2,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 87T E
2,500,000 7T 1 1
5 2

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to these individuals as an inducement to join or as

compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

FAAEEHREAZEALX
NS ER/BIIMAREE 2 &
B ERERAE (CT =%
&) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

10.

11.

192

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RECOGNISED
UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL,
NET

10.

RHEEEEREEIE N ER
ZBERRFE

2024 2023
ZE-NF —F_=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
TR FHET
Impairment losses recognised on trade and  FA'E 5 K H b fEULFRIE K
other receivables and contract assets EHEERER
MEERE 366,246 173,661

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 40(a)(ii).

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong. Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of the profits of qualifying
group entities established in Hong Kong have been taxed at
8.25%, and profits above that amount have been subject to the
tax rate of 16.5%. The profits of the group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rate regime have been continued to
be taxed at a rate of 16.5%.

The PRC enterprise income tax had been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year derived in Mainland
China at the rate of 25% (2023: 25%).

Land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds of sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including costs of land and development and construction
expenditures.

11.

(B RT A 5 15 B B s 40(a) () ©

FrE®mEx
BBFBRIIARE BB 2 AT ERH
S AIR165% (Z B =4 : 165%) 251
KEHR o RIBFSH MG - REBK
S H)E B S B E 88 #) 2,000,000 7T

— =T =~ = £ : 2,000,000 7T ) & F %
8.25% KTt REF - AR IR % 2 B8 A& A
#16.5%M T EEET o T ERERFIE
TR AR 2 BB SR & F B 1216.5%
R R o

PEEERMAFRIOINAFERETER
M2 fh A ER TR AR 25% (ZF ==
F 1 25%) ITHEFE -

T EEFHBE L HEEZ R (BT
EWMEB BB AR H (21
THIRR AN « BR MRS L)) BRRER
R 130% 2 60% UL °



11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

1. FIEHEXZ @

2024 2023
—E-mF —T==

HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET

Current tax RVHAR 18
PRC enterprise income tax REMEMEH 15,297 200,267
PRC land appreciation tax R+ b B (B AR (52,922) 120,657
Hong Kong profits tax BEAEFEH 3,391 3,118
(34,234) 324,042
Deferred tax (note 30) EFER IR (M45E30) 76,057 325,207
41,823 649,249

Tax charge on the Group's (loss)/profit before tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average
tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as

follows:

AEEFBRTA (B18), 5 2 5

X BRERERRE

BV ABEAEMRE

™

BERB &M Z N
EwmeBIERZN

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
(Loss)/profit before tax BrFLAT (B518), s (3,706,574) 123,563
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates in the LA E 2 M Rt
respective regions H2HA (777,679) 98,673
Land appreciation tax T IRE (52,922) 120,657
Tax effect of land appreciation tax TR ER 2 B2 13,230 (30,164)
Share of results of associates PaN ay: /N E 205,834 52,467
Share of results of joint ventures DA QRIS (627) (8/472)
Income not subject to tax BART 2 WA (56,460) (32,932)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes TRl HF 2 X 64,128 68,636
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax AR A ARER 2T
losses &8 (25,224) (51,229)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised AT AR ER 2 E
temporary differences =% (70,670) (613)
Adjustment in respect of current tax of BLBT EAE A E BRI IR E
previous period t Y 3R = (2,139) 3,019
Tax losses/deductible temporary differences AR T 75 &8, 0] 40
not recognised T2 e =% 744,352 429,207
Tax charge MIEFA X 41,823 649,249

M F 3

=

TEEERRAA
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13.

N 104

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE — BASIC AND
DILUTED

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

Since there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares, the diluted
loss per share is equal to basic loss per share.

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 1. FREHRX @
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 21.0% (2023: A2 INEFEARER2I0B(ZEZ=
79.9%). The year-on-year change is primarily caused by a change F:799%) c MERFRETIAREAR
in the relative profitability of the Company’s subsidiaries in the Il EPNGINAYIELE 2 =l PR 2
respective regions. BB PTE

12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE

BEETEERNEBE—_Z-_WE+_- A
=+t BLFEMRE(ZE_=F:
=) o
13. REE — EXKRET
R EREE R AQ G RESEE AR
HEIBRR AF RN E 2T LB 2 IEFE
HREEE -

BRI RA E AR 2 BT ER
WEk#gHEREgRENBRAR

2024 2023

- g1 2 —E=F

g HK$'000 HK$'000

& > — . —

S FHERT FHET
<

% Loss attributable to equity holders of KA RIERFB ARG

< the Company 18 (3,520,690) (1,015518)

2024 2023

“EZMEF —E=F

Number Number

of shares of shares

B% 21 A 21

‘000 ‘000

Fi T %

Weighted average number of ordinary shares FRNEETEBK Z

in issue during the year hnE 39 AR 2 3,346,908 3,346,908
o
w
=
=
-
)
Z
=
-
4
=
-
w
=
Z
=
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. YI¥ - RERZE
Movements in property, plant and equipment are as follows: Y- BERREZEBWNT :
Furniture,
L hold land L hold fixtures and
and buildings”  improvements Machinery equipment  Motor vehicles Total
RETHE HE HKE-£EBR
- £ NEEE B B4 L] X
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx Tan TR TR THEL TERT
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z-MF
tZAZ+-ALFE
At 1 January 2024 RZZ=-WE—-A—H 663,998 104 1,897 7,431 4,081 677,511
Exchange differences ERERE (11,70) (17) (6) (170) (59) (11,962)
Additions AE 46,454 1,331 319 1,508 542 50,154
Disposals HE - - (54) (201) (250) (505)
Depreciation nE (13,061) (171) (219) (3,530 (1,405) (18,386)
At 31 December 2024 R=Z-mE+=-A=1+-H 685,681 1,247 1,937 5,038 2,909 696,812
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-EF+=A=1+—-H
Cost AR 824,662 8,381 3,008 40,394 18,081 894,526
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2EERAE (138,981) (7,134) (1,071) (35,356) (15172) (197,714)
Net book amount REFE 685,681 1,247 1,937 5,038 2,909 696,812
Furniture,
Leasehold land Leasehold fixtures and
and buildings”  improvements Machinery equipment  Motor vehicles Total
HELTH HE KA KER
RigFo NERE Hes B4 B Fk)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR TAT TAT Thx ThAT
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-B-=%
TZA=t+-HLEE
At 1 January 2023 RZZ==4-A—-H 644,283 65 2132 10,145 5648 662,273
Exchange differences ERER (72349 (1) ©) (139) (70) (7453)
Additions AE 52,698 1414 36 2058 187 56,393
Disposals HE (3,118) — (10) (182) 22 (3332
Depreciation nE (22631) (1374) (252) (4451) (1662) (30370)
At 31 December 2023 R=ZE==%+=-A=1+-H 663,998 104 1897 7431 4081 677511
At 31 December 2023 R-Z-=%#+-A=t+-H
Cost AR 791,505 39,084 3107 40912 20442 895,050
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2AMERAE (127,507) (38,980) (1210) (33481) (16,361) (217,539)
Net book amount REFE 663,998 104 1897 7431 4081 677,511
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. X BERRE @
(CONTINUED)
(i) At the end of both reporting periods, the Group’s buildings () RWERSHEKE XEEEF
were erected on land under medium-term and long-term DAREENFHERRAREE L
leases in Hong Kong and a long-term lease in Mainland # R E R R EIE S T
China, respectively. FEEe
(i) As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s buildings with iy MZBE-_WMFE+_A=+—H"
carrying amounts of HK$311,989,000 (2023: HK$272,022,000) BRI B 5311,989,0008 7T (=ZZF =
have been pledged as collateral for bank borrowings (note =4 1 272,022,000 C) WIEFE
29(a)). ERERRITER ZER G (K
29@)) °
15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REWF
The Group leases out various properties under operating leases REB KL ERET N HHEZ @YU
with rentals receivable monthly. The leases have an initial terms WEG AEWES - HER/H1Z 134 -

of 1 to 13 years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of N B N R A E 2 HE A R AN R
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the % AAMEHEREEERSE 2
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease BEEEAE HESHNHTESHRERE
contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee'’s R/ SEBARBHERSESDE
option to purchase the property at the end of lease term. BB

-

% 2024 2023

g —EC-E B4

z HK$'000 HK$'000

=z - - S —

= FET THETT
At fair value BARE
At beginning of the year F9 2,806,263 2,774,432
Additions NE 60,038 45,457
Fair value changes on investment properties R IEZE AR Z I EME

recognised in profit or loss N EEE (187,044) (2,284)

Exchange differences ME N ZE (18,159) (11,342)
At end of the year Fr 2,661,098 2,806,263
As at 31 December 2024, investment properties with the fair RZE-_WNF+—A=+—H ARfE
value of HK$317,491,000 (2023: HKS$273,668,000) have been £317,491,0008 0 (Z & = = F :

a pledged as collateral for bank borrowings (note 29(a)). 273,668,000/ 7T ) IR EMHE B ERIER

= RITIE R 2 WP @ (T 5E29()) °

=

-

)

Z

=

-

4

=

-

w

=

Z

=
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15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cONTINUED)

The investment properties were fair-valued at 31 December 2024
by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent valuer (2023:
Cushman & Wakefield Limited). The fair value of the investment
properties was arrived at by considering the income
capitalisation of the properties or, where appropriate, by
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties in the same locations and conditions as direct
comparison. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
periods are as follows:

15. BREWH @)

REMER_ZT_WF+_A=+—H
ZARERBIHEMEBERITERA
Té%ﬂﬁfﬁ(_z__ﬁ BRER1THE
DA -REMENRIABTDERY
%ZH&Z B SEEA B L BRYE
EUERAELRUNERETISERS
ERERLE - EE?&%%"ﬁEH?;’
ARAERAERS LRERR

RBEMEA - AEEREVER AR
BEERERMT :

Fair value

as at

31 December

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2024

ARE

R-ZE-MmE

+=A

£ EZH F=H =+—H

HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET FET THT

In Hong Kong URES — 39,400 1,777,000 1,816,400
In Mainland China LR HR B A 1l — 353,991 490,707 844,698
Fair value

as at

31 December

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023

NIEEN

RZTEZ=%F

+=A

— A F-H EFE=MR =+—H

HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000

FBT FBT FHETT FA&T

In Hong Kong URES — 44,700 1,941,000 1,985,700
In Mainland China LR HR B A 1l = 311,187 509,376 820,563
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FR F—RRE_RARBTEZH

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 (2023: Nil).

jﬁ#ﬁiﬁﬁy(_giiﬁ i) -
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

15.

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

BREVE @
BEAE=BAREBRANARETE
Y

HK$'000
T T
Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 RZTZ=F—H—HBx
BREE 2,467,006
Additions NE 4,959
Exchange differences R (7,296)
Fair value changes on investment properties recognised in RIBERRZIEEMELARE
profit or loss 2H) (14,293)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZEZ=F+=_RA=+—H
—EWOFE-A—HZ
fREE 2,450,376
Additions NE 774
Exchange differences MEH ZER (10,780)
Fair value changes on investment properties recognised in RIEEERZIREMELARE
profit or loss b=k (172,663)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 RZEZWEFE+=—A=+—H
ZBREE 2,267,707

The following table gives information about how the fair values

of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the

valuation techniques and key inputs used), as well as the fair

value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 2 to 3) based on the degree to which the key

inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

FREGMARTRANE DA B2 &
(3 22 7 8 PR ) i LA B B
ABUR) - b RR 1B 52 A B 8 2
REH RO BRRERE AL Hi &
EAREERTHOE(E-REE=
&) -
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REYXm
Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated
tat t of financial positi Fair value hierarchy Valuation techniques and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs
FERUBRRRPAREZRENE DAEER EERHRBRAAYE EXTUBREZGAUE
Property 1 in Hong Kong Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
3% (2023: 3%)
BENF =4 WA EHRRE ZEAALENECFEENTSESRAR
BRUMISEEZN(ZEZ=F : 3%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
1. Reversionary yield; and account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, from
2. Market unit rent of individual HK$36.6/5.ft/month to HK$53.0/sq.ft/month (2023: from
unit HK$40.1/sq.ft/month to HK$53.0/sq.ft/month)
BRBAZER mSENES  RAEETSLRUBY BERAUSE
L EBRRER:R UERAE  mEAGFHIR66ETESET(ZF -
2 ERIENMTSELES =5 ABAGTARIBTESET)
Property 2 in Hong Kong Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
3.25% to 3.5% (2023: 3.25% to 3.5%)
e IEYS E=R LN #5E ZRNENBNELFREEMTSESBAR
B MISEELZ325%E35%(ZFZ=F  325%F35%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
1. Reversionary yield; and account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, from
2. Market unit rent of individual HK$22.0/5qft/month to HK$32.5/sq.ft/month (2023: from o
unit HK$22.3/5qft/month to HK$32.8/sq.ft/month) H
BRBAZER mSENES  RAEETSLRUBY BERAUSE ‘E‘[
1L ERKEE R W ERAE  hEAGTHR20ETENSEL(ZF= Efy
2 ERELSTSENES =5 ABAGTARLIBTENSET) I
Other properties in Hong Kong Level 2 Direct comparison method based on N/A
market observable transactions of
similar properties and adjusted to
reflect the conditions and locations
of the subject property
BEAMME Z-%& BEREBZENAUNEZTSTE  TEA
ERHUIERBARBRANEZ
R E
I
g
=
T
Ll
=
i
H
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. BREWH @)

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated

statement of financial position Fair value hierarchy Valuation techniques and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs
FRUBHRRRPAREAZRENE AAEER EERHERBEAAYE EXTABEZBARE
Property 3 in Mainland China Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental

income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
2.5% (2023: 2.5%)
FE R I3E3 E=8 WA BHEREE ZRUELENECFEEUMSHSMAR
B ABEEEZ 25%(ZTZ=F : 25%)

The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
1. Reversionary yield; and account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, of
2. Market unit rent of individual HK$70.2/5q.m./month (2023: HK$70.7/sg.m./month)
unit
BREABER mSENES RAEETSLRUBY BERAUSE
1L ERRERR NERAE AT HAR0ELT(ZT-=F :§AB
2 (ERIBMMTSELES FhK70757T)

Property 4 in Mainland China Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
4.5% (2023: 4.5%)

REI A 54 =& LN ERREE  ZRUELBNEZ FRENTHES AR
BUMHEEZ4%(ZBZ=F : 45%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
1. Reversionary yield; and account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, from
s 2. Market unit rent of individual HK$46.4/sq.m./month to HK$59.4/5q.m/month (2023: from
5 unit HK$47.5/sq.m./month to HK$60.7/sq.m./month)
S BREABER mSENES  RAEETSLEUEY BERAUSE
& 1 EEkEE RERRE - HE AT K46 4BTEO4BT (2B
Z 2. Iﬂ‘l%ﬁ]fﬁ SEffe =F: BB AGTHRSETEC0THET)
=
< Property 5 in Mainland China Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
3.5% (2023: 3.5%)
B A =& WA & ﬂ{ﬁl K ERAALENECFREUTHAERAR
BUMHEEZIN(ZRZ=F : 35%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
1. Reversionary yield; and account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, of
2. Market unit rent of individual HK$47.5/5q.m./month (2023: HK$47.7/sg.m./month)
unit
BREABER mSENES RAEETSLRUBY AERAUSE
L EBRRER R NERAE SRAEFHRISEL(ZZ-=5 8RB
2 EREUSTSENES ThR477ETT)
[a]
w
E
=
Jr
[a]
=
<
-
n
1
<
=
[
=
Z
=
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REYXm
Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated
tat t of financial positi Fair value hierarchy Valuation techniques and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs
FERUBRRRPAREZRENE DAEER EERHRBRAAYE EXTUBREZGAUE
Property 6 in Mainland China Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
65% (2023: 6.5%)
HEl R %6 =& WA HRAE  ZRABLENE EFEEUTHRSRAR
”“umiﬁfﬁfﬁZw%(_? Z=F 1 65%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
1. Reversionary yield; and account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, from
2. Market unit rent of individual HK$69.1/5q.m./month to HK$168.5/sg.m./month (2023:
unit HK$34.7/sq.m./month to HK$179.9/sg.m./month)
BREABER mSENES  RAEETSLRUBY AERAUSE
L EBRRER:R fBERBE  mEAGTIK6.IBTEIBSBT(ZF -
2 BERBuNSTSELES =5 mBABTHARMIAETEINIET)
Property 7 in Mainland China Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties of
4.5% (2023: 4.5%)
HEI AT E=R LN & aqy % ZEAALENEC FRENTHSESRAR
BITHSEMB45% (ZEZ=F 45%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking into
1. Reversionary yield; and account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, from
2. Market unit rent of individual HK$21.6/5q.m./month to HK$127.4/sq.m./month (2023: from e
unit HK$23.1/sq.m./month to HK$101.4/sq.m./month) iy
BREABER mSENES  RAEETSLRUBY BERAUSE ‘E‘[
L ERRER UERRE  BEAGTHRAGETE274ET(ZEZ By
2 fERIE 4&'}?5 LEUES =F HAEAGTARBIETEINAET) I
Other properties in Mainland China Level 2 Direct comparison method based on N/A
market observable transactions of
similar properties and adjusted to
reflect the conditions and locations
of the subject property
HEI P E A 5 Z-%& BEREBZENAUNEZTSTE  TEA
ERHUIERBARBRZNEZ
GHRALE
Increase in the reversionary yield would result in a decrease in EHEREEES  REVEZAAEBEM
the fair value of the investment properties. Increase in the KemZEMBEESKMIZEMERLY
market unit rent or market unit rate would result in an increase 5 REVMEZ AREBR  RZIMA -
in the fair value of the investment properties, and vice versa.
In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the Eﬁ%ﬂ&’ﬁ%% HARER  KERE
Group uses market observable data to the extent it is available. AT BREE - AEBHNE
The management of the Group works closely with the valuer to i%éﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂii%m S1E - AHIEEE 8
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and key inputs to (B g K 8 52 ) A BUR © @
the model. &
o
T
L
=
i
H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R T R B RE
31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H
16. LEASES 16. HE
The Group as lessee rEBEREAEA
(a) Lease liabilities (a) HEEE
2024 2023
“E-NmEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Lease liabilities payable ENHEESE
Within 1 year 1R 2,649 3,720
1 to 2 years TFEZE2F — 2,707
2,649 6,427
Less: Amount due for settlement after W IERBAEET
1 year shown under ZIFIRENZ
non-current liabilities &8 — (2,707)
Amount due for settlement within 1 year RENEEE TN Z1F R
shown under current liabilities JET 2 & %8 2,649 3,720
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied ERAREEAGEOMETEESE
- to lease liabilities range from 4.8% to 5.7% (2023: from ERFREGE N F48%E57% (=
& 4.8% to 5.7%). T_=F  48%E57%) °
g
;‘J (b) Right-of-use assets (included in property, plant and (b) EFEHEEZE (GIAYX BERK
% equipment) &)
<<
Buildings
BF
HKS$'000
FHET
As at 1 January 2023 R-E—_=F—H—H 22,878
Additions NE —
Exchange differences b W =58 (114)
Depreciation e (13,379)
Disposal HE (3,118)
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZE—=F+=-A=+—8
a T _WFE—-—H—H 6,267
E Additions NE —
g Exchange differences MEH ZE5 (80)
- Depreciation e (3,672)
5 Disposal HE —
E
= As at 31 December 2024 RZZE_MFE+-_HA=+—H 2,515
=




16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

16. A E @)
AEBEERABEA (#)

Right-of-use assets (included in property, plant and (b) EHREEZE (GTAYX BERKL
equipment) (Continued) &) (#&)
The Group leases offices for its operations. Lease contracts AEBHRERDNEAHREE - FT
are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 5 years. Lease terms FIVEHESGHNEBRE BIES
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide FoMETEARNERRHEAE ZIE
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the TR R R A 14 o 7 72 78 B R AT
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable TR RER A&
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and EEAGAZERREESLA
determines the period for which the contract is 1T 2 HAfE -
enforceable.
In addition, the Group owns several office buildings. The o REBEEZERAE
Group is the registered owner of these property interests, F-AEERZEMERER 2
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum M#EEA SEHBHEE M-
payments were made upfront to acquire these property Hﬁlﬁﬁ%x%%%%ﬁﬁ—irﬁ_%?ﬁi
interests. The leasehold land components of these owned ﬁ FRIE - EE R EE Rl £ o B
properties are presented separately only if the payments Exﬁ BEMEZHEE L HFP
made can be allocated reliably. 7 ZL 2EBZT o
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases (c) HEERNERBRAKIERAT :
are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-OE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 219 1213
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {#HEEENEFR S 3,672 13,379
Expense relating to short-term leases HEMEERENER 20,930 20,639
Total amount recognised in profit or loss A8 28 MERHY 48 58 24,821 35,231

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 34(c)
to the financial statements.

(d)

%ﬂgmﬁil/lbﬂj:m gﬁﬁ?ﬁ/\ 7”%
=M 3400

M F 3

=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R T R B RE
31 December 2024 —Z_MF+_A=+—H
16. LEASES (CONTINUED) 16. HE @
The Group as lessor AEBEREHAA
The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) consisting AEERBELCEHELHEEEREY
of 9 commercial properties in Mainland China and 7 commercial  (MaE15) - BREPE A AR 5
and residential properties in Hong Kong under operating lease MERBBN7TEEEREEME - 8
arrangements. None of the Group's properties held for rental HRE BACR DA ZR - AN &R B 3 4 & A E
purposes have been disposed of since the end of the reporting HERBZONYE -
period.
At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments RZB_MF+—A=+—0H  F5£H
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable RN RAEHE - ATmAEP W
operating leases with its tenants are as follows: BRI ARACREIR Y R AR EFIE AT
2024 2023
a1t 2 —E-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Within one year —F N 79,461 71,703
In the second year BE_F 46,861 46,179
In the third year E=F 29,316 28,017
In the fourth year Eegutkes 21,489 16,275
In the fifth year FRE 15,620 11,132
g After five years AFENAE 56,562 39,129
a
g
o 249,309 212,435
=
=z
< 17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. RBBE RN E 2R
(a) Investments (@) BE
2024 2023
ZE-MF —F_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
At beginning of the year F4 2,028,924 2,269,633
Exchange differences W =% (26,386) (30,840)
Dividend received 2R S (53,995) —
Share of results of associates (iii) paK=p: A =W/NEIE 3= (i) (823,337) (209,869)
@ At end of the year Far 1,125,206 2,028,924
s
-
o
z
=
-
9
=
i
=
Z
=




17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17. REEE QT 2 = @)

(a) Investments (Continued) (a) ®&E @)
Details of the Group's associates are as follows: AEEZHERNTFBET
Proportion of Proportion of
equity interest held  voting rights held
Place of by the Group at by the Group at
incorporation and 31 December 2024 31 December 2024
Name of entity Principal activities operation and 2023 and 2023

R=B-MER REZ-MER

—EBZ=F+=ZH =ZEB=-=H+4+=A

=+—HBFXEEFE =+ -BFEERFE

EEEE FEEK 1R AR L I AR it B PR 7 #E 25 Eb RERELE B

BRGEERXEMEREERAR Real estate development Mainland China 50% 40%
(Langfang Wanheng Shengye Property
Development Co,, Ltd.)
("Langfang Wanheng") (i)

BB EERFXEMERZEBRAR FEHEZRE B A i
(TEssH & 1E D) ()
IR ARERBEXBRAR Real estate development Mainland China 51% 40%

(Beijing Minmetals Vanke Real Estate
Co., Ltd) ("Beijing Minmetals Vanke”) (i)

IR ARERBEXBRAR FBHEZRE B A
(HEREBERD ()
REMBEREBEXBRAR Real estate development ~Mainland China 49% 49%

(Tianjin Yijiahe Real Estate Company

Limited) (“Tianjin Yijiahe") (ii) ¥
KT EEABEARAR EHERR P B POt 5
([REEZED ) I
gy
A SR EEBRAR Real estate development ~Mainland China 50% 40% H
(Hunan Greenland Financial City
Property Development Co., Ltd.)
("Hunan Greenland") (ii)
RGNS RIS EXBRAR EHEERE AR B A
([ sz ) Gi)
(i)  These companies are sino-foreign equity joint () FZEATARTP AL
ventures established in Mainland China with ZHINEERE  LEHR
operating periods of 30 years. The Group accounts 306 c AR BE R ZE
for its investments in these companies as associates BESEEEBREETSOH
as it only exercises significant influence over the RETEERTEN - WH
investees by minority representation in the boards of BRZEAR ZHE AR
directors. Pursuant to Articles of Association, the BEE AR - RERFE
Group has the right to cast 40% of the votes at B AEERBHEERE
shareholders’ meetings of Langfang Wanheng, and RNEFBL0%HIZZHE - A
40% of the votes at shareholders’ meetings of ERIERAESERBRAS
Beijing Minmetals Vanke. P B 40%H IR ZHE -
I
&
B
i
Ll
E=)
®
H
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

(a)

(b)

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Investments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

During the year of 2020, the Group acquired 49%
equity interest in Tianjin Yijiahe and 50% equity
interest in Hunan Greenland. The Group accounts for
its investments in these companies as associates as
it can exercise significant influence over the
investees by minority representation in the boards of
directors. Pursuant to Articles of Association, the
Group has the right to cast 49% of the votes at
shareholders’ meetings of Tianjin Yijiahe, and 40% of
the votes at shareholders’ meetings of Hunan
Greenland.

The share of results of associates included the share
of allowance for impairment of inventories made by
associates (net of tax), which amounted to
HK$939,932,000 (2023: HKS$218,093,000).

Summarised financial information of
associates

Summarised financial information of associates of the
Group is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the
associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance

17. REEE N T 2 &= @)
®RE (@)

(a)

(b)

(i)

(iii)

AT _TF AEERE
KIENE T A 49% 8 A% FE K2 58
4% H509% 19 A% #E o B AR
EEMERZWIRE HLRR
EFeLHRRITEERY
ZH WEBRZERARAZ
"EANERI A E R B
BARER  AEBNKZE
BEARERGEHHI9%H
T ERE - DA A A A AR
RS AN LZHE -

DB E AR EEBIEDG
N R FTETF B R ERE
(MKBHE)  ©8A
939,932,000 L (=T = =
£ 1 218,093,00005 7T ) °

BMEQRZMBENBRE

AEBEBERNRZHEERRE
SIE T o THIFBE L E IR
2INBERBNFHHRRAZ
TR IRIEE B M5 S E AR

with HKFRSs. Bl o

Langfang Wanheng BB B 15
2024 2023
—EF —E =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Current assets MEEE 2,259,791 2,615,470
Non-current assets ERBEE 11,289 29,992
Current liabilities mEEE 2,090,048 2,364,520




17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Summarised financial information of

17. REEE N T 2 %= )
(b) BEATRZHBEERBME

associates (Continued) (#)

Langfang Wanheng (Continued) BBy B e (4)
2024 2023
—E-mF —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Revenue for the year REZRA 275,898 —
Loss for the year NEEEE (95,276) (3576)
Other comprehensive expense for the year ZNF[E H fth 2 % (4,634) (4,075)
Total comprehensive expense for the year A% € 2 7 4258 (99,910) (7,651)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial

LB R E B R Ry B e R

information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest IREMBREANMER 2 AEE
in Langfang Wanheng recognised in the consolidated T AR EE 2 ¥ 6R :

financial statements:

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E_=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR FHT
Net assets of the associate B NElz BEFE 181,032 280,942
Proportion of the Group's interest in REBRBHEE S
Langfang Wanheng 1 75 b 50% 50%
2024 2023
—B-NmEF —E=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in N2 B ER Y & B
Langfang Wanheng ZAREE 90,516 140,471

207 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A S R PR R
31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H
17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17. RBEE N B 2 s )
(b) Summarised financial information of (b) BEARZHBEERBE
associates (Continued) (#&)
Beijing Minmetals Vanke IREBER
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current assets MENE E 1,854,199 1,895,573
Current liabilities mENEE 4,449 4,810
2024 2023
=~ 111 - 3 —E-=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Revenue for the year REFZHA — —
Loss for the year NEEEE (585) (4,396)
-
& Other comprehensive expense for the year AN & H th 2 7 (40,428) (27,277)
> Total comprehensive expense for the year 7N € 2 X 4258 (41,013) (31,673)
=z
<<
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial EXOBERBERL T ARS
information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest B RE B RER AR 2 A
in Beijing Minmetals Vanke recognised in the consolidated SERAREE S HE
financial statements:
2024 2023
—EB-mEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Net assets of the associate Bt N a2 BEFER 1,849,750 1,890,763
@ Proportion of the Group's interest in Beijing NS BRIt R AE S R
s Minmetals Vanke 2 Wz Lo A5l 51% 51%
-
o
z
s
]
=
i
=
=
=



17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17. REEE AR 2 @)
(b) Summarised financial information of (b) BERARZHBERBE
associates (Continued) (%)
Beijing Minmetals Vanke (Continued) WREBEER (E)
2024 2023
—E-IEF —T-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THT T T
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in ~ ANEBERIL R AEE R
Beijing Minmetals Vanke M 2 BREE 943,373 964,289
Tianjin Yijiahe XEEEE
2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FTHT T T
Current assets mBEE 7,474,523 8,859,168
Non-current assets IERBEE 29,003 24,609 .
H_
S
Current liabilities mENAaE 4,361,161 3,473,905 {‘@‘
I
Non-current liabilities EmBARE 3,142,365 3,906,244
2024 2023
—ENEF —ET-=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FTHT T T
Revenue for the year REZWA 1,088,812 5,406,617
Loss for the year KREEEIE (1,503,628) (365,569)
Other comprehensive expense for the year N4 & E & [ 57 — (24,463)
Total comprehensive expense for the year NG [E 2 7 H 4458 (1,503,628) (390,032)
&
(<4
=
s
)
g
i
H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H

(b)

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of

associates (Continued)
Tianjin Yijiahe (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest

17. REEE QT 2 = @)

(&)

XREEBEE (H)

(b) BMELARHMBENME

EXHMBEMBEZRXZERA
RIEBHBRERAMERZAE

in Tianjin Yijiahe recognised in the consolidated financial EERREE S
statements:
2024 2023
—E-NEF —ET=%F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FAET
Net assets of the associate BN R 2 BEFE — 1,503,628
Proportion of the Group’s interest in REERKERERZELZ
Tianjin Yijiahe gl 49% 49%
2024 2023
—E-IF —E==F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in ~ NEBR K Z{EZAE
Tianjin Yijiahe w2 BREE — 736,778
Hunan Greenland ] R AR 1
2024 2023
—EIWEF —ET=%F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Current assets mBEE 534,074 848,468
Non-current assets EREEE 62,659 57,801
Current liabilities mENaE 395,318 462,825
Non-current liabilities FEmBARE 18,780 68,671




17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17. REEE QT 2 = @)

(b) Summarised financial information of (b) BERARZHBERBE
associates (Continued) (#&)
Hunan Greenland (Continued) AR ()
2024 2023
—EE —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Revenue for the year REFHA 143,100 54,829
Loss for the year REEEIE (77,247) (53,421)
Other comprehensive expense for the year N4 & E & F 57 H (6,901) (5810)
Total comprehensive expense for the year — ANF[E2ME S 4258 (84,148) (59,231)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial 3B R A RHE B R AR M Y
information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest IREMBREANMER 2 AEE
in Hunan Greenland recognised in the consolidated T AR EE 2 ¥ 6R :
financial statements:
=
2024 2023 g
—E-puE —T-=f b
HK$’000 HKS'000 I
FHET T T
Net assets of the associate B N a2 BEFRE 182,635 374,773
Proportion of the Group's interest in Hunan 7S5 B A4 473t 2
Greenland R Ll 50% 50%
2024 2023
—E-_ME ===
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET T
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in  ZN5E B R A FE A% b A 25
Hunan Greenland Z BRHEE 91,317 187,386
I
&
B
T
L
E=)
®
H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

(c)

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of (c)
losses of an associate because the share of losses of the
associate exceeded the Group's interests in the associate
and the Group has no obligation to take up further losses.
The amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses
of the associate for the current year and cumulatively were

17. REEE N T 2 &= @)

755 B B AR U RE SR A — R B X
AFIREE - A2 R
AT IE % R A S E R
AT MAEELESE
EEE-SEE AEEAEE
RBHABRHELH LD TE

as follows: BREREIT ¢
2024
—E-MEF
HK$'000
FHET
Unrecognised share of losses of the associate for FARERD G E AR EE
the year 1,641,755
Accumulated unrecognised share of losses of RZZEZWNE+=ZA=+—8
the associate as at 31 December 2024 BRI ARER DG E A R EE 1,641,755
18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REERA s
(a) Investments (@ BE
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
At beginning of the year F1) 333,897 341,852
Additions NE — 385
Exchange differences M H ZRR (7,174) (4,347)
Share of results of joint ventures (i) DihEE R RIFEE) 59,678 33,889
Reversal of the deferred income generated  #fi#5 T~ i7 o B 28 34 Fl| 8
from the elimination of downstream I & KD MEE
unrealised profits in excess of B3 E U A J [
the investment (57,134) —
Dividends B — (37,882)
At end of the year Fax 329,267 333,897




18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REE QT Z2fHE @
(CONTINUED)
(a) Investments (Continued) (a) BE @@
Details of the Group's joint ventures are as follows: AEBZEERRFBOT
Place of incorporation Proportion of equity interest
Name of entity Principal activities and operation held by the Group
BEREE TEXK B S % 45 it 26 AEEFH R AR A
2024 2023
—E-_QmEF —ET=4F
BERENEREHERERRAR] Real estate development Mainland China 34.1% 34.1%
(Gekuangli Nanjing Property
Development Co., Ltd.) (“Gekuangli”)
BREANEREHEREFRAR] EiEREE AR Ay 3
(IEmER 1)
ARENEEMERZEBRAR Real estate development ~Mainland China 39.8% 39.8%
(Nanjing Kuanglijin Property
Development Co,, Ltd.) ("Kuanglijin”) (c)
RN EERERRA R FiEER AR A3,
(MEF£1)©
BMNZEEMEREZEBRAR Real estate development Mainland China 10% 10%
(Guangzhou Anhe Real Estate
Development Co,, Ltd.)
(“Guangzhou Anhe”) (c)
BMEZEBEHEREZEFRAR FEEEE R B A i
(TEMZAE D © b
Hi,
HEEZEXFAEBRAR Real estate development Mainland China 50% 50% ‘E‘[
(Hunan Kuangmeng Property v
Development Co., Ltd.) I
("Hunan Kuangmeng”)
MEEEEXRAEERAA EiERE AR A 3
(DHrmmeE )
IERERIN B EERAR] Real estate development ~Mainland China 40% 40%
(Beijing Kuangrongcheng Real
Estate Co., Ltd) (c)
IERBERBEFXFARAF FiEER B A3
MRIAMEMEEFR AR Real estate development Mainland China 34.1% 34.1%
(Nanjing Yuexin Decoration
Management Co,, Ltd.)
R REMERER AR FEiEER AR A3,
These companies are joint ventures established by the ZERANEE R A E
Group and other investors in Mainland China. The Group fth 3% & & Bk 3L Al B
accounts for its investments in these companies as joint REEBBEEREHIRETIT
ventures as it exercises joint control over the investees EHREES (B AEREE AR —
through its voting rights, as unanimous consent is required HRAE)  HHEHBERZEZEARZEK
for the relevant activities. BARINBEERT - @
&
=
i
Ll
H
®
H




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REE A Az 1|
(CONTINUED)
(a) Investments (Continued) (a) RE @)

(i)  The share of results of joint ventures included the (i) DHEERREEBESG
share of allowance for impairment of inventories EENRMEEERBEREE
made by joint ventures (net of tax), which ($0BR FE18) 21,274,0007% 7T
amounted to HK$21,274,000 (2023: HK$46,021,000). Z T = =4 : 46,021,000

TT) °
(b) Summarised financial information of joint (b) EEQARAIZHMBERBE
ventures

As at 31 December 2024, none of Group's joint ventures RZE-ZWNF+=—A=+—H

were individually material. AEBEVEENMSERNE &

NG
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=4F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FEx FHT
The Group's share of profit for the year REEEERE R R T 2,544 33,889

The Group's share of other comprehensive 7%= B FE {5 R FEFZ E A

.
g expense for the year ZHEZ M (7,174) (4,347)
5
i The Group's share of total comprehensive ZNEE B fE(h A F[E 2 M
% (expense)/income for the year (X H)/ WAz (4,630) 29,542
<<
(c) The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of (c) AEEBEXR JJ:EEEZJ\QTIE%:FG%
losses of certain joint ventures because the share of losses ANRIWMER  BERESHZES
of those joint ventures exceeded the Group's interests in NI ol 5775’\$'§ EIpN
those joint ventures and the Group has no obligation to AR MR - A EI &
take up further losses. The amounts of the Group's BEAE#E—FEE AEEX
unrecognised share of losses of those joint ventures for the FERBFRERDEZEZEE
current year and cumulatively were as follows: NEBENSENT
2024 2023
—E-E —Eo=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FHET
i
s Unrecognised share of losses of FARERDHEEE
é joint ventures for the year Al EE — 40,558
S
E Accumulated unrecognised share of losses WA +—=H=+—HZ&:t
E of joint ventures as at 31 December RNERDEAERTA]
= &8 — 56,046




19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

19. ZBHEMEHEKRSERARE
ATBCMBEE

2024 2023
“E-NmEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHET
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong REB LT RAE 5
At beginning of the year F 1) 179,119 401,428
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in other REM RS ER 2
comprehensive income ARER(EE) 55,515 (222,309)
At end of the year Far 234,634 179,119
The Group's equity securities investment is measured at fair value REBRRE R BOBRAEFKRE R
at the end of the reporting period: NABEE

Fair value as at

ARE
31 December 31 December Valuation technique
Financial assets 2024 2023 Fair value hierarchy and key input
—S-mE —Eo=4 HERMEEERA
MBEE +=ZHA=+—-H +t=ZA=+—H ARE#HKH &
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHIT
Financial assets at fair value through other 234,634 179,119 Level 1 Quoted prices in an
comprehensive income — Listed equity active market
securities
FRAMEPEBEERANLEGE M E—& AV BB T 3% B B b8

BE — LHRAFES

The equity securities investment has been designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income, which, in the
opinion of the Directors, resulting more relevant information for
the Group’s financial instruments based on how the Group
manages its equity instruments. Dividend income recognised
during the year related to those investments held at end of the
year was HKS$7,798,000 (2023: HKS$8,658,000). There was no
transfer of the cumulative gain or loss within equity during both

years.

BAE

BAZEHKRECRERAEBEMEZE
WHEARENE MEBRBEER
AEERBEEEERATANAR @ B
LR HENP I TEMBBEER - TN
REFRMFANZERERTBNR
B WA E7,7980008 T (ZF = = F :
8,658,000/ 7T © 1A M & F JZ £ #E 2= #8E
EEY 2 RS ETE -

M F 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A S R PR R
31 December 2024 —ZT-NF+=-fA=+—H
20. INVENTORIES 20. 78
2024 2023
—E-mF —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Properties under development located in 7P H B A B 25 R
Mainland China (i) LES() 10,079,451 17,106,899
Properties held for sale — RIEHENME —
located in Mainland China iz PR B A 3 10,188,165 8,194,647
Properties held for sale — RIELHENYE —
located in Hong Kong URES 4,431,578 8,300,243
14,619,743 16,494,890
24,699,194 33,601,789
(i) Properties under development (i) BERDBPYE
2024 2023
3 —E-F —T==
c HK$'000 HKS'000
0 Tt it
S
z Land use rights + I fE AR 6,096,942 11,345,397
Construction costs AR 3,982,509 5,761,502
10,079,451 17,106,899
As at 31 December 2024, inventories held by subsidiaries RZZE_NME+=—A=+—8H"
with carrying amounts of HK$4,264,846,000 (2023: MBAAMKAEEREMAEAR
HK$13,514,995,000) have been pledged as collateral for 4,264,846,0008 L (ZE - =4 :
bank borrowings (note 29(a)). 13,514,995,000% 7T ) K7 E E & #
e BEITIE R 2 & H R (M E
29(a)) °
[a]
w
=
2
-
[a]
=2
<<
-
|
<
&
S
=
s




21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER

1. ANRE - BEFREMER

RECEIVABLES IH
2024 2023
—E-MmEF ZE=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T T
Trade receivables, net (b) B 5 RUWGKIAE - FE(b) 157,224 188,061
Deposits Ze 112,502 129,074
Prepayments (c) TR IR 504,582 542,416
Prepayments for land cost (d) ¥ 1+ + H K A (d 138,784 141,817
Amounts due from associates (note 37(b)) JE Ui Bge & R B EIE
(BEE37(b ) 897,814 938,144
Amounts due from joint ventures (note 37(b)) FEH A & A RFNIE
(FFEE37(b ) 1,961,830 2,365,977
Amounts due from non-controlling FE U B 8B A B SEEAR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries (note 37(b)) FKIB (M aE37(0)) 3,099,609 4,163,243
Others Hh, 294,113 352,775
7,166,458 8,821,507

(@)  The carrying amounts of prepayments, trade and other

(@) TFEMNKE B REMEKRKIA

receivables are denominated in the following currencies: ZEEETIA T ERSER
2024 2023
—E-OF —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
HKS BT 23,110 54,460
Renminbi (‘RMB") ARBTARKD 7,143,348 8,767,047
7,166,458 8,821,507

M F 3

=

TEEERRAA



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

(b)

21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The aging analysis of trade receivables based on due date
for rental receivables, date of properties delivered to
purchasers and billing date of construction services
certified is as follows:

21. ANRIE - EGREMEK

FRIE ()

(b)

RRWESIHAE WEXIMNT
EXMBEHMEREZERBEH
RERMBS 2B REKIALZ
BRie T

2024 2023
—E-IF ZTZ=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Within 90 days 90 H A 79,844 131,902
91 to 180 days 91HZ180H 13,986 13,621
181 days to 1 year 181 HE1FE 23,025 8,505
1 to 2 years 1 ZE25F 39,745 24,935
Over 2 years 2F A E 55,033 49,020
211,633 227,983

Less: Allowance for impairment W BERE (54,409) (39,922)
157,224 188,061

Movements in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

BE 5 EUTIREL 2R ERE
ZEHmT

2024 2023

“E-mEF T =F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FHET

At beginning of the year F9) 39,922 43,677

Exchange differences ME H =50 (431) (209)
Allowance/(reversal of allowance) for VERI=EE L=

impairment, net (BEEmE) - T8 14,918 (3,274)

Written-off 8 — (272)

At end of the year Fax 54,409 39,922

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 40(a)(ii).

As at 31 December 2024, prepayments included prepaid
other taxes and other charges of approximately
HK$429,705,000 (2023: HK$447,862,000).

B 5 N E At B WK IR 2 BUE R A
A IS BB FE40(a) (i) ©

RZEZWNFE+=ZA=+—H -
TE S FRIB B FEIE N H B I K H
1th B FB #9429,705,00058 T (ZE —
=4F : 447,862,000/8 TC) °



21.

22.

PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(d)  Prepayments for land cost represented payments to Bureau
of Planning and Natural Resources of PRC for the
acquisition of land in Mainland China and the amount will
be reclassified to inventory upon issuance of land use right
certificates.

(e)  The other items within trade and other receivables do not
contain past due or impaired assets.

ENFE-ESREMER

FRIE (|)

(d)  FERF £ bk A HE 5 R B A U B
TN TFHRBEEEREAE
RBZFIE Mtk A RER
BEIMERAERERET ERTE

Eo

© EBZRHEMEWRFIARNZEMIEA
BYTEEAHNEREEE -

CONTRACT ASSETS 22. EHNEE

2024 2023
—F-mF —F_=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FABT
Contract assets arising from: RKERTHRIENEGNEE :

Construction services ERERTE 120,734 140913
Retention receivables e R E & 48,949 50,169
Total FEEL] 169,683 191,082
Impairment BE (101,286) —
Net carrying amount BRAVFEE 68,397 191,082

As at 1 January 2023, contract assets amounted to approximately
HK$144,360,000.

The contract assets from construction services primarily relate to
the Group’s right to consideration for work completed and not
billed because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional, typically
upon the issuance of billing certificates.

Retention receivables are included in contract assets until the
end of the retention period as the Group’s entitlement to this
final payment is conditioned on the Group’s fulfillment of its
quality warranty obligation. As at 31 December 2024, the amount
of retention receivables expected to be recovered after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period was nil (2023:
HK$33,223,000).

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the
Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

R-ZT-_=F—FA—HB GHEEZSE

58 5 #9144,360,00078 JT °

RERBNENEETIZSRAEER]
EEKITRZUMKEZEN(EHRE
FEMAREB N RKBO RGNS - &
REBEHERE) ANEERNENKARE
U CBERELEREC R BEER
SR FKIA °

ERREESFAGHNEE  EEREH
HERIE BANEERDZERENZD
AN AEEERETERERTAIK
- R=_ZF-_MF+=-_A=+—H" &
B A sk B R+ — @ A& W e K e
WHREEABZBEL(ZTE=-=F:
33,223,00078 7T ) °

AEEBRSANEESEARDE
X EI%$%@%%% SR IE R
BHRERSEES
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31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. CONTRACT COSTS

23. S RA

Contract costs relate to the incremental sales commissions paid/
payable to property agents whose selling activities resulted in
customers entering into sale and purchase agreements for the
Group's properties. Contract costs are recognised as part of
selling and marketing expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the period in which revenue from the related
property sales is recognised.

24. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS,

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F

HK$’000 HKS'000

FHET FA&ET

Sales commissions HEHE 68,707 222274

BRRESREN BN YERIZHE
BEERS ZFAENHEELHESE
HEPIVAEBASENENEEH
@ ARRATIR B EHEEMFR
SnERAEEFEBRERARRRHE
MEHBER—RED -

24. ZRFIR T RB|ITEK

The carrying amounts of restricted cash are denominated in the
following currencies:

RESTRICTED
2024 2023
—EF —E =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Restricted cash SR HI3R & 44,787 103,640

XRHIRE 2 REETIATIIEESIRR

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on
the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest
at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

2024 2023
—EC-OE —F-=

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHET FATT

HKS BIT 34,117 94,074

RMB AR 10,670 9,566

44,787 103,640

RITREREBE ARITERNEETF
A - R RRENA B - AREEIRIRAD
RrIR & & 2PN RMRNENTERE
FoNF-—RE=ER  ARFZEHE
HF SN R ER BRI B - RITAEBR AR
FRE AR EELCEBEERL
ZERTT e



24.

25.

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED

(CONTINUED)
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting
period is the carrying amount of cash and bank deposits.

The restricted cash represents (i) regulated pre-sales proceeds of
properties, which will be released according to the completion
stage of the related properties; (i) performance deposits for
construction projects; and (jii) guarantee deposits for the benefit
of mortgage loan facilities granted by banks to the purchasers of
the Group's properties.

24. IRFBERBITER@

REBEMRBRAZZ&EREERRA
B RRITHERZE@E -

XRHEBSEOZXRENYERER
| BIRA R AR AR BUE R G
BERAZEARIES  RNCERT
RITERSTKEMEER 2 RBERR
BRI ZERER

25. FERFRERBITERK

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS,
UNRESTRICTED

2024 2023
—E-IF —T-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Cash at banks R17IR % 2,821,841 3,410,733
Cash on hand FHEIRE 18 11
Cash and bank deposits He RIRITTFERK 2,821,859 3,410,744

The carrying amounts of cash and bank deposits are

Be RBIFERZEEETIATIIEE.

denominated in the following currencies: HIBR -
2024 2023
—E-ImF —ET=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T T
HKS T 540,203 200,539
RMB AR 2,169,162 3,195,413
uss ETT 112,494 14,792
2,821,859 3,410,744
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting P3R4 HA ARz ESEERR A

period is the carrying amount of cash and bank deposits.

THRBA
R RRITERZKEE -

21—
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31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

26. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

26. HttHEE

2024 2023
—EME —E-=
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHTT
Derivatives under hedge accounting ETHPEHEEN
FTET R
Other financial assets B BEE
Cash flow hedges — Interest rate swap (a) REMEE P —
F & 4= B (a)
Matured within twelve months =& A A 2| Hf — 2,409
Matured after twelve months R+ =& A 1% 2 & 106 —
106 2,409
(a) Cash flow hedges: (a) BREREHH .

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the
following interest rate swap contract designated as highly
effective hedging instruments in order to manage the
Group's interest rate exposure in relation to the bank
borrowings on a floating interest rate basis. The Group
entered into interest rate swap contract in which the
Group would receive interest of one-month HIBOR and pay
monthly interest at a fixed rate based on the notional
amount of HK$0.8 billion (2023: HK$1.0 billion).

There is an economic relationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument as the terms of the
interest rate swap contract match the terms of the
expected highly probable forecast transaction (expected
payment date of the bank interests). The Group has
established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging
relationships as the underlying risks of the swap contract is
identical to the hedged risk components.

RBERR AEEEUTESE
TEAIEFTHRZE T ERF X
EHAEL  UWEEBAEEIRZEH
F =5 B A SR 1T 2 5RFT E Y A
KR o RIRAE EET LAY H K
BHEH AEEZR—@RES
BITREFRBWEFAE - WRIE
HESBEEBL(ZE=_=
10188 7T) & A 1% B E F R84S F
B o

o

WRERIEE BER T AZEEFHAE
REBE RANXEHAHN
fFRETEHSE R Al BE B £ 2 TR
R 5B &R (BRITH BRI
B 8) MR - = HI A AR HERE
[l A% S R B O R - A
SECHHEPBERRE - 1808
P o



26. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 26. Ef&ﬂ?fﬁ%ﬁ%(%@

(a) Cash flow hedges: (Continued) (a) REREHH :
31 December 2024 —E-HmFEF+-/A= 7" H
Notional amount Maturity Swap
EREH ZH A = 1
Other financial assets
Hib B 15 & E
HK$800,000,000 July 2026 From floating rates to fixed interest rates
800,000,000 7T —EZRFEA FH B 3 = [E] 5E | &
31 December 2023 —E-=F+-HA=+—H
Notional amount Maturity Swap
EREH == = 1
Other financial assets
Hib 15 & E
HK$1,000,000,000 January 2024 From floating rates to fixed interest rates
1,000,000,0007% 7T —ZE_MFE—A B B 3R = [E] E | R
During the year, fair value loss of HK$2,303,000 (2023: fair RAFE - AR EEE2,303,0007%8
value loss of HK$28,861,000) has been recognised in other T(ZE-_=ZF: AAEEIE p»
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. 28,861,000/ 7T) B 7 E fib & M Uk g
mAMER - W= R o I
v
I
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. BRA
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
IR & e A% £ Gkl
‘000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
TR TR F A% FHET
Authorised: JERE
Ordinary shares of BREE0IAT
HKS$0.1 each LA 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRES
Ordinary shares of BREE0.IET
HK$0.1 each B E
Balance at beginning and FY R F RS &
end of the year 3,346,908 334,691 3,346,908 334,691 %
Ll
=
®
H
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—T-MF+=—A=+—8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

28. RESERVES

28. &S

Capital Investment  Cash flow
Share Contributed redemption revaluation hedging Revaluation Other  Exchange Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
gANE  SEEG  RSNE
RARE RARH e ffE  HWRE EMHE  HERE EXRE  REEA X
HKSO0D  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOOD
FAT  TET AT TAn  TEr TR TR TAr  TAL AR
(@) (b) ©
(@ (b) (©
Balance as at 1 January 2023 RZEZ=5-f-B2
it 475172 515336 9 (s 3120 46509 (96140 (316173 341274 6484838
Fair value loss of financial assets at fair BREMPAMRRAL
value through other comprehensive EHEZ B EERME
income EZRAEER = = = (222,309) = = = = - (222,309
Fair value loss on hedging instruments in -~ B &REH HRHHRTA
cash flow hedges ZRAREER - - - - (28861) = - - = (28861)
Currency translation adjustments EX#Z = = = = - - - (265,772) - (265,772)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - = (1015518)  (1015518)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 RZF==%
TZA=t—-HZA# 4275172 515336 769 406,956) 2409 46,509 (296142 (1581945) 2397226 4952378
Fair value gain of financial assets at fair ~ FBEMEEREEAR
value through other comprehensive B2 HBEENE
income 2 R fElkE - - - 55,515 - - - - - 55,515
Fair value loss on hedging instruments in -~ A& REHHMERTIA
cash flow hedges ZRREEE - - - - (2,303) - - - - (2,303)
Currency translation adjustments EiHRE - - - - - - - (210755) - (210,755)
Loss for the year FEEE - - - - - - - —  (3,520,690) (3,520,690)
Balance as at 31 December 2024 RZZE-mF
+oASH-BzER  sus2 515336 769 (351441) 06 46509  (296142) (1,792,700 (1123464) 1,274,145
(@  Contributed surplus mainly represents the excess of the fair @ EBEHAKITEELRIFRKE
value of shares in Minmetals Land Investments Limited Minmetals Land Investments
acquired by the Company over the nominal value of the Limited iR 7 2 2 /¢ B #8 i AR 2 7]
new shares of the Company issued pursuant to the share RIR AR () X3t s AT R AR D 2
exchange agreement. ROEE 2 Z5E -
Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, contributed surplus BREBREQAGE  BHEKA
is distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition HARTRE - BETINBERT
that the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or RARTREEIRSKE RS D
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or KRB (VAR RBEEER
would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as EHDEREBRELZNEHE
they become due, or (i) the realisable value of its assets B A RREEZ ] ZEIHE
would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities, BEHEMEREEE  BETR
issued share capital and share premium account. N R B A7 4 (B BR 2 A8 o
(b)  Other reserve represents the differences between the (b) HtbFEEREIFERRREERAE

amount by which non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of consideration paid or received when
the Group acquired or disposed of partial interests in
existing subsidiaries.

SHEAEERBLHERFH
BRAAMEOERFENHE K
MRENARBEZHNER -




28. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(@

28. & 1E @

As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, the

Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in
Mainland China are required to appropriate a portion of
their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior year losses) to
the statutory reserves at the rate of 10%. The appropriation
as at 31 December 2024, amounting to approximately
HK$1,211,790,000 (2023: HK$1,228,217,000), was included in
retained earnings as at 31 December 2024.

(0

FRB AR B AR E - AR A A
B Nt X 7 K i 2 BB A R A
15 8B 7 R 6 18 8 ) (E%ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬂiﬁ
BRIBALZERE HLEB
10% e RZZE_WHFEF+=—_A=+—
%9 /51,221,790,00078
1,228,217,00078%

B BEREX

T(ZEZ=%F:
L) BEBERZE_NFE+ A
=+—HHRBAMZA -

*JEAEP

29. BORROWINGS 29. fERK
2024 2023
—E-MF —E_=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHER T T
Non-current JERED
Bank borrowings, secured (a) RITE - BEMR@) 926,986 924,678
Bank borrowings, unsecured (a) RITEF - EHER ) 380,665 1,794,175
Guaranteed bonds, unsecured (b) BRES  EEKIF (D) 2,325,828 2,339,862
Bonds, unsecured (c) B - |EH (0 — 2,203,356
Loan from the ultimate controlling $Aﬂﬁi S Hxﬂxﬁz
shareholder of the Company, unsecured B mEHR
(note 37(b)) (lfﬁ?w ) 1,254,218 —
Loans from non-controlling shareholders of ~ —Z i B A A1 FEIERL A%
a subsidiary, unsecured (note 37(b)) RZER - EER
(B &E37(b)) 500,890 831,474
5,388,587 8,093,545
Current mE
Bank borrowings, secured (a) RITIEF - AEA (@) 870,140 1,824,752
Bank borrowings, unsecured (a) RITREF - EHER ) 11,920,603 10,953,783
Guaranteed bonds, unsecured (b) BRES  EEKIF (D) 51,341 —
Bonds, unsecured (c) B - |EH (0 3,300,346 45911
Loan from an intermediate holding —iEF‘ﬁTW NP4
company, unsecured (note 37b)) B mIEA
(lfﬁ?37 ) — 2,346,710
Loans from non-controlling shareholders of ~ —Z i /B A A1 FEIERL A%
a subsidiary, unsecured (note 37(b)) RZER - EER
(Bt 3E37(0)) 152,152 51,970
16,294,582 15,223,126
21,683,169 23,316,671

225 —/
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29. &K (&0
(a) Banking facilities (a) HITHLE
The Group's aggregate banking facilities, including bank R-ZE_WNE+A=+—8H"
borrowings, as at 31 December 2024 amounted to AEBEZIRTTRE LT (BIEIRTT
approximately HK$18,217,395,000 (2023: HK$22,535,313,000), f& FR) % £18,217,395,0007%8 7T (=
of which approximately HK$4,088,625,000 (2023: T =4 122535313000 7T) -
HK$6,996,467,000) was unutilised. As at 31 December 2024, H e RE) A RLE 49 734,088,625,000
the collateral for the banking facilities was as follows: BIL(ZZE == : 6,996,467,00078

) RZEZWMEF—A=+—
A AKEERESRGRITER

B2ERmT
(i)  Inventories held by subsidiaries with carrying () BRI A %4,264,846,00078 JT
amounts of approximately HK$4,264,846,000 (2023: —EF = =4 :13,514,995,000
HK$13,514,995,000); BLIZHBARFAEZTF
i=g
(i)  Property, plant and equipment with carrying (i)  BRE B 49311,989,0007% 7T
amounts of approximately HK$311,989,000 (2023: ZE =4 : 272,022,000/
HK$272,022,000); TT) ZME - BB RS
(i) Investment properties with the fair value of (i) A 1EA317,491,000% 7T
HK$317,491,000 (2023: HK$273,668,000); and (ZE =4 : 273,668,000/
&* TL) ZIEME K
a
g (iv)  Corporate guarantees given by the Company. (v) ARABEZRABIER -
=
=z
z
=)
w
=
=
-
o
=
=
-
4
=
-
w
=
Z
=




29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Guaranteed bonds

(b)

0

On 22 July 2021, the Group issued the guaranteed
bonds (“2021 Guaranteed Bonds”) with a principal
amount of US$300,000,000 bearing interest at the
coupon rate of 4.95% per annum. The 2021
Guaranteed Bonds will mature on 22 July 2026. The
2021 Guaranteed Bonds are guaranteed by the
Company and have the benefit of a keep well deed
from China Minmetals, the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company. Upon the occurrence
of a change of control triggering event, the
bondholders will have the right, at the bondholders’
option, to require the Group to redeem all, but not
some only, of the outstanding 2021 Guaranteed
Bonds at 101% of their principal amounts, together
with accrued interest. If the Group would be obliged
to pay additional tax amounts in respect of the
2021 Guaranteed Bonds as a result of any change in,
or amendment to, specified tax laws or regulations,
all outstanding 2021 Guaranteed Bonds may be
redeemed at the Group'’s option, in whole but not in
part, at their principal amounts together with
interest accrued up to but excluding the
redemption date.

The effective interest rate of the 2021 Guaranteed
Bonds was 5.10% as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

29. & F @)

(b) EREZ

(i)

R—_ZE-—_—F+tA=-+=
B AEBEZHTERES
([ZZ2=—FEREFH])
N & £ %8 300,000,000
7‘1 %@ia’“ﬂ“??%zt%%
—E - —FRERESBR=

/\Etﬁ +=—HEZ

e —T-—FHERESF
HARBER > ARERA
ACIE$S %Hﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂiﬂlﬂﬁ%
REH TR - RAR
ez %lJTE“MKﬁ%?)—’?Z%ﬁ
% BEFFEAARREE
BEXAAKEEDZH
(MIEED) RMEBHWN—F =
—FEREF 2101485 E
[l EETHB o finl B E RS
ERBEREHRER - &
HAKEZAR - “:-iﬁ%‘
REZFSEIMNIIA
(STEMIEE D )ﬂﬂaiﬁﬁ’]i
T FREREFVTEASE
BEERED  BEERR
RATERBEEZETBIEE
Bl B8z REFFE -

R-F-_WER-_FT_=F
+=A=t+-8 ==
FRRESOERTE A
5.10% °
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31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

(c)

29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Bonds

0

On 8 June 2022, the Group made an application to
Market
Institutional Investors, for the issuance of domestic

the National Association of Financial

directional debt financing instruments that were
applied for non-public issuance to specific investors.
On 16 August 2022, the application had been
approved. On 21 September 2022, the Group issued
this unguaranteed bonds (2022 Bonds”) with a
principal amount of RMB800,000,000 bearing interest
at the coupon rate of 4.6% per annum. The 2022
Bonds will mature on 19 September 2025.

The effective interest rate of the 2022 Bonds was
4.71% as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

On 24 February 2023,
application to the Shanghai Stock Exchange for the
issuance of non-publicly traded corporate bonds for
domestic professional investors. On 4 April 2023, the
application was approved. On 15 June 2023, the
Group issued unguaranteed bonds with a principal
amount of RMB1,200,000,000 (the “2023 Bonds") at a
coupon rate of 46% per annum with a maturity
date on 15 June 2027. The 2023 Bonds included an
option for the issuer to adjust the coupon rate and
an option for the investors to sell the bonds back to
the issuer at the end of the second year. The 2023
Bonds have been reclassified to current liabilities as
at 31 December 2024.

the Group made an

The effective interest rate of the 2023 Bonds was
466% as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

29. B @)

(c)

&3
()

RZEBE-_—_FxANB" &
%lﬁ¢lﬁﬁﬁﬁ 5% 5
AHERERR - BITER
Eﬁfﬁﬂ‘%?ﬂﬁlﬂ FR&E[A
BEREEEAAET - R
“E__FNATAB #Z
TR A ——
FLAZ+—H  KEEH
17 7N & 800,000,000 7T A R
EHEERES (22 ==
FEF])  EEFMNER
46% ° — T - —FFEHHER
—E_RFNAATNAAE
H o

RIE_NER—FT_=F
+=—A=+—H8 &=
FEFNERFEE471% °

RZZEZ_=F=-A= +@
A AEBREEFESR
Frie i FR &3 ﬁ%m%%&
BEBTEAHEENAR
B -MN_TE_=FMAM
H ZHEECDERE RN
E—=ZFXA+HA A&
& 2 17 K € 71,200,000,000
TARBHERERES (=
T =FEH])  ZEEFF
T%%% FEEA-ZT =
+ERNA+HRB ZE =
FEFRAEERERTA
ARZEEAE  BREESF
%E% F4 %F“&ﬁ%
TABEES - KT =
¢+ A=+—8"
CFBEHFEEFHIBARD
BfE-

=

R-ZT-_NFER— ?__i
+=—A=+—8"
FEFNERFIEE466% °

=



29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Bonds (Continued)

(c)

(i)

On 18 March 2024, the Group issued unguaranteed
bonds with a principal amount of RMB600,000,000
("2024 Original Bonds") bearing interest at a coupon
rate of 46% per annum. The 2024 Original Bonds
will mature on 19 March 2025.

The effective interest rate of the 2024 Original Bonds
was 4.92% as at 31 December 2024.

On 25 April 2024, the Group issued unguaranteed
bonds with a principal amount of RMB400,000,000
("2024 Additional Bonds”) bearing interest at a
coupon rate of 4.6% per annum. The 2024
Additional Bonds will mature on 19 March 2025.

The effective interest rate of the 2024 Additional
Bonds was 4.98% as at 31 December 2024.

29. B @)

(c)

&5 ()

(i)

R_ZT-_mE=A+/\8 -
REEEE1TAE A600,000,000
TTAREH & F%E%U:
T_MFEREES]) ¢

FEF R E46% o 727@¢
REEEER T -_AF=
A+ BRHE -

R-E-_WNE+-A=+—
B —ZE_NERAEHN
BERF R E492% o

RZZE-_NMEFMNA=—+H
H AXEEBBETAE A
400,000,0007T A R ¥ 1 £ &
REHF(ZZEZWFHEINME
%)  ZEFFEEA6% °
_7_E¢$%ﬁﬁkﬁ_
E-_RAF=A+ BRI

E~:$_E$%%ﬁ%%
B FIE 5498% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B R B R
31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H
t A
29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29. & (&0
(d) The maturity of the Group's borrowings is as follows: (d) AEBERZEHBROT :
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Bank and other borrowings 1T R EH M E K
Within one year —FR 12,942,895 15,177,215
In more than one year but no more —FEEMF
than two years 1,989,878 1,195,873
In more than two years but no more MEZE R F
than five years 742,972 2,354,454
In more than five years AFNE 329,909 —
16,005,654 18,727,542
Guaranteed bonds and bonds EREFRES
Within one year —FR 3,351,687 45911
In more than one year but no more —FEME
than two years 2,325,828 881,343
< In more than two years but no more MEERF
g than five years — 3,661,875
S
= 5,677,515 4,589,129
=
z
=)
w
E
S
-
=)
z
=
-
q
=
-
w
=
Z
=



29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29. &K (#0)
(e) Bank and other borrowings totalling HK$12,734,267,000 (e) 12734267000 T (ZE_=%:
(2023: HK$17,890,009,000) are interest-bearing on a floating 17,890,009,0007% 7T ) 2 #R1T7 K& E At
interest rate basis. The weighted average effective interest BRIBEZBH XS - RIS H
rates at the end of the reporting period were as follows: BB ZMEFAERMNERNT :
2024 2023
—E-QNE —E-=fF
HK$ RMB us$ HKS RMB Us$
BT AR Eye BT ARE e
Non-current R
Bank borrowings RITER N/A N/A N/A N/A
TER 3.61% TER TEA 4.06% TEA
Loan from the ultimate AR A BRI R
controlling shareholder of ZER N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
the Company TER 3.24% TER TER TER TER
Loans from non-controlling —RIBRAGEER N/A N/A N/A N/A
shareholders of a subsidiary BRZER TER 6.18% TER TER 6.18% TER
Current Vo)
Bank borrowings WITER N/A N/A
6.2% 4.11% TEAR 7.05% 430% NiEA
Loan from an intermediate —RERERREZ N/A N/A N/A N/A
holding company R TER THEH 7.49% NER NER 7.49% o
Loans from non-controlling e NGIE N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A HE[*
shareholders of a subsidiary REZER TEA 6.18% TEAR TEA MERA TER M
I
(f)  The fair values of borrowings approximate to their carrying (f) ERZAABEREEREBERS -
amounts. The fair values are determined based on ARBENEEHRBSREERE -
discounted cash flows.
(g) The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are (g) AEEEBERZREEBEIATIE
denominated in the following currencies: KB -
2024 2023
—E-MF —E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET AT
HKS BT 8,785,371 11,271,120
RMB AREE 10,520,630 7,358,979
Uss$ ETT 2,377,168 4,686,572
21,683,169 23,316,671 E
%
i
Ll
H
e
H

231 —



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H

29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(h) Certain secured bank loans were advanced to the subsidiary

(i)

of the Company, Hunan Kuangxiang Real Estate Co., Ltd,
amounting to HK$701,935,000 with maturity dates from
21 September 2027 to 31 October 2027 are subject to
certain covenants that require its debt-to-asset ratio not to
exceed 75%, its current ratio not fall below 1.0, and its
long-term investment amount not exceed 30% of its net
assets. The Group considers there are no indications that it
will have difficulties in complying with these covenants.

A secured bank loan was advanced to the subsidiary of the
Company, Kuangjin Property Development (Suzhou) Co,,
Ltd., amounting to HK$225,051,000 with a maturity date of
6 April 2027 is subject to certain covenants that require its
debt-to-asset ratio not to exceed 70% and its current ratio
not fall below 1.0. The Group considers there are no
indications that it will have difficulties in complying with
these covenants.

An unsecured bank loan was advanced to the subsidiary of
the Company, Hunan Kuangdai Property Development Co,,
Ltd., amounting to HK$380,665,000 with a maturity date of
8 January 2044 is subject to certain covenants that require
its debt-to-asset ratio not to exceed 75%, its current ratio
not to fall bellow 1.0, and its long-term investment
amount not exceed 30% of its net assets. The Group
considers there are no indications that it will have
difficulties in complying with these covenants.

The Group was in the progress of obtaining waivers from
banks for non-compliance with the financial covenants of
certain facility agreements with bank borrowings
amounting to HK$9,878 million, which also caused cross
defaults to other bank borrowings amounting to HK$1,762
million as at 31 December 2024. Non-compliance with the
financial covenants and causing cross defaults give the
banks the unconditional right to demand repayment at
any time. In accordance with HKAS 1, the non-current
portion of the aforementioned borrowings, which have not
been given waivers before 31 December 2024, amounting
to HKS$S8,174 million have been reclassified to current
liabilities as at 31 December 2024. As at the reporting
date, the Company has not received any loan repayment
notice from banks to repay the aforementioned
borrowings.

29. B @)

(h)

(i)

ARABZ TR HHARBREEES
RARIE TERBERRITER
£ %8/5701,93500008 7T - ZIEAE B
—E-A+FAA-F+—HE-E
—t+tFt+A=+—H BB
THlE TR HEEEELX
NERR75% « HRBItEENEE
B0 URERBIEESETS
BREEEFEMN30% - AEER
ARUTENSRERNETEETZEHR
wHEEHRH#-

RARZFRAESHE GRM)
ERAR—SEFEMRITER
4 58/5225,051,0008 7T © BIHAR A
—E_LFMANE EEEST
TatE FRFE: EABEEEL R
TEERT70% @ AR E mB) R
BEMO- NEBR AT ETR
BARECETZERA I EEE
7R 2 o

KRN E 2 F B ERE M E
FEARAR —EEKFRITE
X & %A 5380,665,00078 7T 0 B HA
BAE-—ZTMMNFE—ANR - #E
B NETR#H: HBEEE
Lt R R E SR 75% « ERBIE R
BERI0 URERBEESRE
TNERBAEEEFEMN30% - AE
ERATENRBETNEEETZ
EZLFEITESHRE -

REBERKREETE TRE D
B B RS 2SR () 4R 17 BN 15 EA
% ZTAERBRASRBITER
987818 B 7T + W B E17.62{848 7T
MEMBITERR - _MF+
“A=+—BHBEXXELH - H
RAREEEBTH B W EHRRZIX
B RITBERERERGFEK
B o BEBERB S ERFE 15
&R A8 74EE TR IER
oM —_E_NE+ A=+
— BRI MARERE  ZERER
R-_ZE-_WFE+-_A=+—H&
FoEARBAGE -RNFEEAH
B AREWEZEERITERE
EFiERNEZBEA -



30. DEFERRED TAX 30. IEZLEBIE
2024 2023
—E-mF —ETo=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHEx T T
Deferred tax assets RIEFIAE E 335,733 458,949
Deferred tax liabilities BT IEEE (156,383) (204,910)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the FAELERIBEERBENESHNAT -
year are as follows:
Deferred tax assets EEHEEE
2024 2023
—E-MmEF T =F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T T
Tax losses MIEEE
At beginning of the year F7 28,156 24,637
Exchange differences bE i =% (337) — _
Recognised in the profit or loss RIS R (4,775) 3,519 i
Bl
I
At end of the year FR 23,044 28,156 [ﬂ
Temporary difference on accruals and contract JEFFEBRA M AN AEZ
liabilities BB 2 58
At beginning of the year F4 372,634 633,114
Exchange differences MEH =58 (6,376) (7,304)
Recognised in the profit or loss RigsER (110,484) (253,176)
At end of the year Fx 255,774 372,634
Others Efh
At beginning of the year F1 58,159 97,056
Exchange differences b H ZE (1,244) (1,126)
Recognised in the profit or loss RigsER — (37,771)
At end of the year Fx 56,915 58,159
I
&
B
T
L
E=)
®
H
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30. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

30. iE 3 F 38 (@)

Deferred tax liabilities EEMREAE
2024 2023
—E-EF —T-=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Fair value gain AR ERE
At beginning of the year F 1] 111,670 119,390
Exchange differences bE i =% (1,889) (1,591)
Recognised in the profit or loss RiERTER (28,018) (6,129)
At end of the year FIR 81,763 111,670
Accelerated tax depreciation IRFRIEITE
At beginning of the year F4 33,563 32,119
Recognised in the profit or loss R ER 2,926 1,444
At end of the year FI 36,489 33,563
Undistributed retained earnings R IRIREBE & A
At beginning of the year F4 17,238 94,664
Payment during the year FAL (6,706) (146,954)
Recognised in the profit or loss RIBRER (1,786) 69,528
At end of the year FR 8,746 17,238
Others Efh
At beginning of the year F4 42,439 70,322
Exchange differences =% (730) (819)
Recognised in the profit or loss RiER R (12,324) (27,064)
At end of the year Fax 29,385 42,439

In respect of HK$492,753,000 (2023: HK$787,033,000) temporary
difference associated with undistributed retained earnings, the
Group has not recognised deferred tax liabilities of
HK$24,638,000 (2023: HKS$39,352,000), as the Directors currently
intend not to distribute the retained earnings outside Mainland

China in the foreseeable future.

AROEKREBERANOBEREZER
492,753,000 L (=& = = F :
787,033,000%7C) * HRNESFREFWEE
A B R R AGR B 2 F) 5K A B i
B N @ N SN 3l A U U]

B 124,638,000 T (=T = =

39,352,000/ 7T) ©



30.

31.

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward
to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefits through
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had unrecognised tax losses in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$3,386,157,000 (2023: HK$2,208,948,000) which
can be carried forward against future taxable income and have
no expiry date, and unrecognised tax losses in Mainland China of
approximately HK$1,864,399,000 (2023: HKS$1,232,145,000) which
will expire at various dates up to and including 2029.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$3,071,198,000 (2023: HK$1,773,407,000)
that have not been recognised as deferred tax assets as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

30. iE FE B IE (a)
MEEHEEERRACEEHEBEET)
VAR BTS2 R B 1] gE B B R 2R B3R
RaFERZBERAR R MNF
+ZA=1+—8 AEBREBALE
L\Mﬁﬁﬁf&%ﬁ%‘a‘%ﬁéu&zkzxﬁﬁMM‘“E&
1B #)7/53,386,157,000/8 7 (— T — =4 :
2,208,948,00077t) + BEXWMEERE - M
RN ES 2 RERBBEEELO A
1,864,399,000 T (=T = = F
1,232,1450007%87C) * REEZZE - NF
(BFEZF) L2 TRBHEIE -

RMEKR - AEBEAERBETH
TH & B R AT 3R R Ry 2= 85 4 3,071,198,000
BT (2B =4 :1,773,407,000/87T) -
A AT KAl BE A FE sR B i 71 7] ) A8 m] #0
e B 2= LS o

BEZRHEMENRIE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T T
Trade, bills and contract payables (b) B  ZEBRIEHENTIED) 1,854,384 2,012,465
Retention payables EHRE S 5,740 27,941
Accrued construction costs, other accruals fEFTEEEBR - EMfETER
and other payables T E i & 5 IR 4,424,053 5,451,350
Rental deposits received BEREeZESE 12,291 14,149
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary FE AT — K [ KB B A R SR IA
(note 37(b)) (BT EE37(b)) 132,641 153,399
Amounts due to non-controlling FEAT T /B A R FE 12 IR AR 3R 5k I8
shareholders of subsidiaries (note 37(b))  (Ff#E37(b)) 175,492 398,764
Amounts due to associates (note 37(b))  FETEEE R B FIA (HHEE37(0)) 903,952 979,949
Amount due to a joint venture B —REERRIFIEA
(note 37(b)) (Bﬁa?ﬂ ) 18,375 56,406
Deferred revenue (c) TEIEWA () 226,516 249,543
7,753,444 9,343,966
Less: Deferred revenue, amortise after B ERBABETZ
1 year shown under non-current T2 B8 2 IRAEW A
liabilities (206,936) (229,080)
Amounts due for settlement within 1 year RENBEE N2 1FRNEMNZ
shown under current liabilities k) 7,546,508 9,114,886
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31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (cONTINUED)

(@) The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are (a)
denominated in the following currencies:

TGRSR

31. EZ REMENSTE @
B 5 RN Ay EEET

2024 2023
—E-IF —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
HKS BTT 518,901 756,792
RMB AREE 7,234,543 8,535,690
USss$ ETT — 51,484
7,753,444 9,343,966
(b) The aging analysis of trade, bills and contract payables of (b) AEBE S ZEBERAENEMNRK
the Group based on invoice date is as follows: HEREZHHZRESTHT
2024 2023
—EIMEF —ET=%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET AT
Within 90 days 90H A 887,832 1,161,379
91 to 180 days 91HZ180H 87,377 210,182
181 days to 1 year EEESEES 349,378 202,729
1 year to 2 years 15 E 25 169,758 261,710
Over 2 years 2F A E 360,039 176,465
1,854,384 2,012,465

(c) Deferred revenue (c) EZEWA

As at 31 December 2024, included in deferred revenue was
a government subsidy of HK$224,180,000 (2023:
HKS$246,701,000) towards the cost of construction of its
assets. It transferred to other income on a systematic basis
over certain period when the related assets commence to
use.

RZE-_NWFE+=—HAH=+—8"
AABEERANASRNHEEE
3 ER K AN B & B)224,180,00078 TT
ZE =4 :246,701,000/8 7T ) °
EEBEERRKREAR  ERE
THME R GEEEEE S H i
A e



32.

33.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

32. fNAE

2024 2023

—E-F —T-=F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHEx T T

Sales of properties SHEMH 1,647,646 5,706,814

As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$11,415,551,000.

The Group receives the considerations in advance from sales of
properties to customers. The advance receipts result in contract
liabilities being recognised until the customer obtains control of
the completed property.

During the year, HKS$5,504,374,000 (2023: HK$8,862,389,000) of
revenue recognised relates to brought-forward contract liabilities.

PENSION OBLIGATIONS

The Group participates in a defined contribution pension scheme
and a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") scheme for the eligible
employees in Hong Kong. Before 1 December 2000, a defined
contribution pension scheme was provided to certain eligible
employees employed by the Group. The Group ceased the
contributions since 1 December 2000, upon introduction of the
MPF scheme.

Under the MPF scheme, the Company and each of the Hong
Kong subsidiaries of the Company make monthly contributions
to the MPF at 5% of the employees’ cash income as defined
under the MPF legislation. Contributions by both the Company/
Hong Kong subsidiaries and their employees are subject to a
maximum of HK$1,500 per month per employee and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. The Group’s contributions to the
pension scheme and MPF scheme are expensed as incurred.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the
Group contributes to a state-sponsored retirement plan for its
employees in Mainland China as determined by the local
government. The Group is required to contribute to the plan at a
certain percentage of its employees’ salaries as specified by the
local government, and the Group has no further obligations for
the actual payment of the pensions or post-retirement benefits
beyond the annual contributions made.

R-ZZE-_=F—H—H &{aEzse
#8 5 #911,415,551,00058 7T, ©

AEERAEFHEMRBARKE - 8
WHRBHERANEE EEFFPE
BEEKRMERES

F R BRI A A 5,504,374,00078 TT
(ZE =4 : 8862,389,0006 7T ) ¥ M 4
HEEARHNANEE-

33. EKE&EE
AEEALEEAEIKES S ETHM
HEKSHBRBHEAES (B
S8l —TEEE+-F -0
A AEEAEREYETAAKES
BB E MR TRAS B - Bk
BESHBIE  AEEA-_TTTF+
—A—REBEILEBMRE -

REBERESHE ARABAREARAREE
AHBARAEARREEBRERESRE
PIEBEZBR WA ZSHELBRESH
Ko ARA/ BENBLRAREEEZ
FARRERYBEAIEE 150087 -
BElkeB o BIMRBERLEE - &~
KB ZRAREE B KRES A BEFIR
RS o

REBETFBEAMOERRTE  AEERSHE
HEAMESREMBARERNBERE
BRRETBIE R - NREE AR TS
BT 2 RER—ELLHIE B T T & [RZ%
AEIER - AREHERBNMNERS
SRR AR N T AR H 6 2 R
—FEK-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5RO B R M
31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H
34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 3. MEHESRERMEFE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before tax to cash generated (a) BREEAT(E5R), 5 F B AC & 255
from operations: FrEER & 2 ¥R
2024 2023
—E-mF —Eo=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET
(Loss)/profit before tax B E AT (E518), i A (3,706,574) 123,563
Finance income B UL A (217,336) (184,386)
Finance costs BE TS B AR 534,689 477,416
Depreciation e 18,386 30,370
Fair value changes on investment REMERNRERE
properties 187,044 2,284
Impairment losses recognised under BEEEEEERIET
expected credit loss model R EEE 366,246 173,661
Allowance for impairment of inventories 17 & B B B 5 1,741,066 503,034
Share of results of associates DREEE QR A 823,337 209,869
Share of results of joint ventures DA ERRIHEE (59,678) (33,889)
. Operating (loss)/profit before working EBEECEHA LS
g capital changes (B51#8), &7 (312,820) 1,301,922
}7 N
& Decrease in inventories FERD 7,294,735 6,463,832
& Decrease in prepayments, trade and other FEfI3KIE - B 5 R E A
> receivables B i 2 T 98,410 37,892
< Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BREERD (35 ) 21,613 (46,722)
Decrease in contract costs B KK AR 151,846 12,641
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 I H fth fE 1 5UIE
VR (950,884) (644,806)
Decrease in contract liabilities and AHEERELTERA
deferred revenue Ve (3,991,576) (5,564,556)
Decrease in cash and bank deposits, ZRHIR & RRITENR
restricted Ve 58,853 620,674
Exchange adjustments PE 5 B 13,185 (34,166)
Cash generated from operations REXBREERS 2,383,362 2,146,711
a
w
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 3. MEBRERERM T @)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) METBHFELEEBZHE
financing activities
Non-cash changes
FELED
1 January Financing Exchange Other Interest 31 December
2024 cash flows (i) adjustments  changes (ii) expense 2024
g S 13 MERS g1 -3
-A-8 M) ERHE H25) MEMX +t=A=+-8H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
THR TR F#x TR TR FHx
Guaranteed bonds ERES 2,339,862 - (15,849) 1,815 51,341 2,377,169
Bonds &% 2,249,267 1,098,449 (69,689) 3,958 18,361 3,300,346
Bank and other loans BIREMER 18,727,542 (2,618,027) (100,766) 14,026 (17,121) 16,005,654
Amounts due to a fellow B —REZH B
subsidiary UNGIE: ] 153,399 (17,477) (3,281) - - 132,641
Amounts due to associates  [EFEEEA A AIFIA 979,949 (55,039) (20,958) - — 903,952
Amounts due to non- I A AlFEE
controlling shareholders AR AR R FRIE
of subsidiaries 398,764 (222,152) (8,528) 7,408 — 175,492
Amount due to a joint ER—RaERA
venture A 56,406 (36,825) (1,206) - - 18,375 &
Lease liabilities HEER 6,427 (3,859) (138) — 219 2,649 5
24,911,616  (1,854,930)  (220,415) 27,207 52,800 22,916,278 I
i
«
B
s
]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34. GERERERME @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) METHELEEBZHE
financing activities (Continued) (&)
Non-cash changes
R E
1 January Financing Exchange Other Interest 31 December
2023 cash flows () adjustments changes (ii) expense 2023
—Zo=E BERSE —E-=F
—A—H ME() ERAE  HmEEi) FeERM%T +=ZA=+—8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TET THT THT FAT THT THT
Guaranteed bonds ERES 3,306,199 (981,000) 14,663 = = 2,339,862
Bonds &% 893,197 1,333,080 (22921) = 45911 2,249,267
Bank and other loans RORAMER 20,109,371 (1341,102) (63,705) 2978 — 18,727,542
Amounts due to fellow ENRANE AR
subsidiaries B 2,613,562 (2,423,040) (37,123) — — 153,399
Amounts due to associates  FEfT B & A RIFIA 2,021,119 (1,012462) (28,708) = — 979,949
Amounts due to non- eI B A AlFEE
controlling shareholders FR AR R 3RIE
of subsidiaries 585,540 (178,459) (8317) — — 398,764
Amount due to a joint ERN—Ra8RA
g venture TR 57,219 = (813) = — 56,406
e Lease liabilities HEAR 28914 (19967) 62 3651) 1213 6427
(@]
&
= 29,615,121 (4,622,950 (147,006) 19,327 47,124 24911616
(i)  The cash flows from bank loans and other borrowings () REFRTEFRREMERZ
make up the net amount of proceeds from ReMEBKERREMRE
borrowings and repayments to borrowings in the KPEFAERIBEREERE
consolidated statement of cash flows. SRZFEE o
(i)  Other changes include amortisation of front-end fee iy HuEeaEsr8R{TER
of interest-bearing bank borrowings. Al B 2 B o
o
w
=
=
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34. MERERERNTE @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERSRLEHE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the RERSRERANEERSR
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: LABEET
2024 2023
—B-mEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHT
Within operating activities KEEFN 20,930 20,639
Within financing activities BEEZEBA 3,859 19,967
24,789 40,606
35. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES 35. I ER
As at 31 December 2024, guarantees given to banks for RIZB_MF+ZA=+—0H #®ET
mortgage facilities granted to certain purchasers of the Group's AEEMEER 2 IRIBEE Mis TIRIT
properties amounted to HK$4,681,307,000 (2023: HK$7,051,266,000). 2 EIRE4681,307,0008 T (ZE ==
Such guarantees will terminate upon the earlier of (i) the & 1 7,051,266000/ 70) ° % FERE R
issuance of the property ownership certificate which will THSRPEBHEERIE: (VEZWEMSE
generally be available within one year after the purchasers take BE(—RREREEEEDERZ —F &
the possession of the relevant properties; or (ii) the repayment of MR & 3k (i) EREMIRIBR - ZEE g
mortgage loans by the purchasers. After taking into account the ZEMENETFERBENLEX - & M
net realisable value of the related properties and the low default ERBMBERENEERARBES R I
rate, the Directors consider that the fair values of the financial LHAROAABELTEK -
guarantee contracts at initial recognition and subsequently at the
end of each reporting period are not significant.
I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A S R PR R
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36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36. EAEIE
The Group had capital commitments as follows: REBBEREAENT :
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Contracted but not provided for: BETHBE R B -
Expenditure in respect of property, plant @YX - WER
and equipment B plba 140,942 196,061
Expenditure in respect of investment EHREMEZHZ
properties 133,454 167,667
274,396 363,728
Capital commitments mainly include contractual obligations to BERAFREFTEZDREER  BEIRED
purchase, construct or develop property, plant and equipment ¥ BMEMREIAEES  RESBCER
and investment property or for repairs, maintenance or BYMENEHNET -
enhancements.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's certain HE-Z-_NWFE+-_A=1+—HI%F
. inventories transferred to property, plant and equipment and B BEEEBEERARASEMRER K
g investment properties when there was evidence of a change in SENETHEEEREYE BEMRK
& use. Therefore, the corresponding capital commitments HUARIEEEEHE - At - HEMNE
& decreased accordingly. RAEEITRET AR
5
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
China Minmetals, which is controlled by the PRC government.
Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed below or in other notes
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group also
conducts businesses with entities directly or indirectly owned or
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the
PRC government (‘government-related entities”) in the ordinary
course of business. In establishing its pricing strategies and
approval process for transactions with other government related
entities, the Group does not differentiate whether the
counter-party is a government-related entity or not. The Group is
of the opinion that it has provided, in the best of its knowledge,
adequate and appropriate disclosure of related party transactions
in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has entered into various transactions, including sales,
purchases, borrowings and other operating expenses with other
government-related entities during the year in which the
Directors are of the opinion that it is impracticable to ascertain
the identity of the counterparties and accordingly whether the
counterparties are government-related entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BEE S X F @)
(CONTINUED)
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed in notes 8, BB RS SRR MIRES ~ 9~ 21 K31 FTRFiL Ay
9, 21 and 31 to the financial statements, the Group had the RS RSN ANE B EHEFH H R AL
following material transactions and balances with related parties, HER—REBFPETIEARGR
which were carried out in the ordinary and normal course of BRI ¢

business of the Group:

(a) Transactions with related parties (a) EERAE A 2R 5
2024 2023
—E_E —E==
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE&T FHT

Construction costs to fellow subsidiaries 45 TR &K B A&l 2
for real estate development projects ()  FSHEZEIEEZE

Ip#N() 1,107,977 2,002,688
Management fee income from a fellow — YEX—ZK B XM EB A A
subsidiary (ii) 2 B 1R B IR (i) 2,481 2,666
Consultancy fee income from fellow WERR ZHI B R R 2
subsidiaries (ii) =S ON(D) 2,225 23,056
Rental and management fee income from WERE ZWE A F 2
3 fellow subsidiaries (iii) M & KB R BN 42,277 38,089
= Interest expenses on lease liabilities with a A1 — X [& & Fff B A &
i fellow subsidiary (iv) YRz HEBENE
= (v 214 376
% Interest expenses to a fellow subsidiary (v) [[—ZR [& X & A &)
XA ZF B W) — 3,791
Interest expenses to an intermediate m—XEBIZER AR
holding company (v) TR ZFEZ V) 103,173 1,967
Interest expenses to the ultimate MR Bl E AR AR AR SR
controlling shareholder of XA 2 A B3 H (v)
the Company (v) 4,678 =
Interest expenses to non-controlling EETENGIES 2
shareholders of subsidiaries (v) S ZFBZ W) 47,969 68,917
Interest income from a fellow W ER — =R [A) Z Bt B A
subsidiary (viii) 2 F B A (viii) 8,496 27,288
Interest income from joint ventures (x) WER&E & QR ZFIE
WA ) 149,442 93,278
Interest income from a non-controlling W —RHBRAZ
@ shareholder of a subsidiary (vii) —HIEERR R 2
= Rl B4 A (vil) 23,408 24,808
-
)
Z
s
4
=
&
=
Z
=




37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
Balances with related parties

(b)

37. BBt A R Z )
(b) ERRFEER 2 &ER

2024 2023
—E-F —Eo=4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHT
Construction payable to fellow ENRRMBARZ
subsidiaries for real estate development — FEHIEZEREIAR EE
projects (i) 2RI () 2,298,235 2,602,368
Lease liabilities with a fellow H—REARMELE 2
subsidiary (iv) HE B &GV 2,649 6,171
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary (vi) B —ZRE XK B A A
FRIA (Vi) 132,641 153,399
Amounts due to non-controlling FE A HT B 2 R FE T IR
shareholders of subsidiaries (vi) % B FXTE (vi) 175,492 398,764
Amounts due to associates (vi) J& 1~ Bt % N &) FRIE (vi) 903,952 979,949
Amount due to a joint venture (vi) ERN—REERT
FRIA (Vi) 18,375 56,406
Amounts due from non-controlling L Bf 28 =) FEAE
shareholders of subsidiaries (vii) J% B8 3K 78 (vii) 3,099,609 4,163,243
Amounts due from associates (ix) JE W & A 7//&15 (ix) 897,814 938,144
Amounts due from joint ventures (x) FEUA & A R FIE(X) 1,961,830 2,365,977
Current deposits placed in a fellow FER—R H%W%
subsidiary (viii) A a2 & BAF 3R (viii) 1,417,612 1,524,472
Loans from non-controlling shareholders  —ZR K & 2 &) JEZE A%
of a subsidiary (xi) IR 2 B (x) 653,042 883,444
Loan from an intermediate holding —XERERAFZ
company (xii) B 3R (xii) — 2,346,710
Loan from the ultimate controlling PiN/NE RS 2 Sl ) S W
shareholder of the Company (xiii) B 2 (xiii) 1,254,218 —

(iii)

Construction costs to fellow subsidiaries for real
estate development projects were based on terms
mutually agreed by both parties.

Management fee income and consultancy fee
income and receivables from fellow subsidiaries of
the Company were based on the terms in the
agreements entered into between the parties
involved.

Rental and management fee income received from
fellow subsidiaries of the Company was based on
the terms in the agreements entered into between
the parties involved.

() HEHEBRBERGTRER
BB R R ISR AR TR &
77 KR TE 2 (RREE e

(i) ERARAFIRRMEBAGZ
EEEBWARZAEBWAT
BEBEET AR %18
ek 2 IEREEE ©
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
Balances with related parties (Continued)

(b)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

The Group has entered into a lease agreement for
the use of an office with a fellow subsidiary for three
years in 2022, based on terms mutually agreed by
both parties.

Interest expenses to fellow subsidiaries, an
intermediate holding company and non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries were based on terms in
the agreements entered into between both parties.

The amounts due to a fellow subsidiary,
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

Except for the balances of HK$572,541,000
(31 December 2023: HK$655,347,000) bearing
interest at 3.85% per annum, the amounts due from
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries are
interest-free as at 31 December 2024. The balances
are unsecured and repayable on demand.

The interest rate of the current deposits placed in a
fellow subsidiary which is a non-banking financial
institution ranges from 0.35% to 1.15% per annum.
The balance of current deposits was included in
cash and bank deposits.

The amounts due from associates and a fellow
subsidiary are interest-free. The balances are
unsecured and repayable on demand.

Except for the balances of HKS$1,412,611,000
(comprising a principal of HK$1,762,905,000 and an
impairment allowance of HK$350,294,000) bearing
interest at 8.8% per annum (31 December 2023:
HKS$1,649,842,000 (comprising a principal of
HKS$1,814,674,000 and an impairment allowance of
HKS$164,832,000) bore interest at 8.8% per annum),
the amounts due from joint ventures are
interest-free at 31 December 2024. The balances are
unsecured and repayable on demand.

37. BBt 5 R B m)

(b)

SERAE T 2 HEER ()

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

AEFHE—RERNERF]
R-E-—F% %T?%H)E
F2RAEHERS

%%H,\HT%EZ{\%¥k°
RRRMBAR - —KEM

2l NI PNCIEIE)
BRSNS 2 F B H TR %
BRART T RIS Z B %
ZARRETE -

FEH—%W/?WJ%"ﬂ i

NEFEERBCR - BEQ
T&/\“”TZ 7QEPEE:S i}
B 2ERAREREE -

F_Z_EEWL A=+—

o [ 4 #2572,541,0007% JT
_7__¢Jr A=+—
H : 655,347,000/ 7T ) IR 4 Fl|
F3.85%5 2 I - FE UK B
ﬁi#% AR RIE AR
BB hERPRARE
SKIEE ©

GFER—XBARKBAA
CGERTTS BgiE) 2 /R8T
REEBRFERNE035%F
1.15%&T B o JE 317 TR 64 58
FFARE RRITIER -

EH&ZHS%%@T&-%W?W

RBZFEARRE ° R
ﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ&/,\hﬁﬁdaia

#:=—m¢+—ﬂ:+—

Bk &5 8R1,412,611,00078
JT (ﬁ FEA 4 1,762,905,00078
JC X R (B B 15350,294,00078
JC) IR FE R E 8%t BN (=
T _=f+-_A=+—H:
1,649,842,0008 7T (BIEAE
1,814,674,0007% 7T K& 5 (B #
1%164,832,00078 7T ) 1% F 7
E88%aT B) ' [EAZE R
RIREARRS ° %ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁﬁiﬁ
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
Balances with related parties (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

At 31 December 2024, the loans from
non-controlling shareholders of a subsidiary were
unsecured, bearing interest at 6.2% per annum
(31 December 2023: 6.2%) and repayable within 1
year to 3 years.

At 31 December 2023, the loan from an intermediate
holding company was unsecured, bearing interest at
7.5% per annual and repayable within 1 year.

At 31 December 2024, the loan from the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company was
unsecured, bearing interest at 3.24% per annual and
repayable within 2 year.

Key management compensation

37. BEE H X5 )

(b) EREREER Z &6k (|
(xi) EA_7_E¢+ B= +—
C — KRB A R FEIERR
%ZE%’K%ET&W E%IJ"
Be2w(—E-_=F+_H
=+—H :62%) RAME
E3IFREE -

(xii) EA Eo=FF+ZA=1+—

C—RERERARIZE

Tz%?ﬁﬁﬁ FHEE75%
NARIFAEE

iy RZZE_mFE+=—A=+—
B RNRARSKERRR 2
ERAEER  FHEH
3.24% BB 2FREE °

(0 TEEBAEZEM

2024 2023

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHEx T

Salaries and short-term employee benefits % & & 52 B (& & 1& 7 4,684 6,411
Pension costs — defined contribution BRREKAE — E8E

plans HEHE 296 285

4,980 6,696

The Guaranteed Bonds were guaranteed by the Company

and have the benefit of a keep well deed from China
Minmetals, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company.

(d) EREHFBHARFER TX=HE
RARE &K AL R A B A
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

As at 31 December 2024

Financial assets

38. BERETWHMBITA

=

NRE R -

EZHMBITA

BHIREEN

—|T :
RZE-_WNFE+—_A=+—H

MBEE

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive

income
EBEMZEKE
BAREFEZ
MEEE
Financial assets at
fair value through Equity Financial assets at
profit or loss investments amortised cost Total
BERBEREAARE R ATIIR
SECHMBEE BRAERE BREE e
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTER TER FTER
Financial assets at fair value FEREMEEKER
through other comprehensive NAEFEZ
income HBEE — 234,634 — 234,634
Other financial assets H A B 758 B 106 — — 106
Trade receivables 2 5 WA — — 157,224 157,224
Amounts due from associates JE Uk Bt X R FRIR - — 897,814 897,814
Amounts due from joint ventures FEUA & 1A B FIE — — 1,961,830 1,961,830
Amounts due from non- FEUHT A ﬂ???@ﬂﬁ
controlling shareholders of LEEer]
subsidiaries — — 3,099,609 3,099,609
Financial assets included in BEREMFER
prepayments and other H At FEUGRIB AR
receivables MBEE — — 308,140 308,140
Deposits Ee - - 112,502 112,502
Cash and bank deposits, R HIR € RRIT
restricted FR — — 44,787 44,787
Cash and bank deposits, TREB RS RIEBIT
unrestricted & - — 2,821,859 2,821,859
106 234,634 9,403,765 9,638,505




38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2024

38. BRI B P HEB T AE @)

RZE-_WNF+=—A=+—H

Financial liabilities MgEaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R 8 R A B BR
ZHKAaE
HK$’000
FER
Borrowings E 21,683,169
Trade, bills and contract payables B5  EBERENENRIE 1,854,384
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary FE — KB KB A FIFRIA 132,641
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of JE 1T B 8 2 ) FE AR AR SR FR IR
subsidiaries 175,492
Amounts due to associates JE 15 Bt 2 R RI SRR 903,952
Amount due to a joint venture B —RE&E R RIIA 18,375
Financial liabilities included in other payables BIER E M FE A RIB A Y
MBaE 4,238,621
29,006,634

ZE - HFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. WERETWEKETA
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=F+=-_A=+—H
MKEE

Financial assets

Financial assets

at fair value
through other
comprehensive

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

income
FEREM P E RS
BRAEREZ
s EE
Financial assets at fair
value through profit Equity  Financial assets at
or loss investments amortised cost Total
BBREREANE RE SRR AR 2
FTEZHMBEE A& M EE e
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Financial assets at fair value BREMEZARREZ
through other comprehensive DREFHEZ
3 income MBERE — 179119 — 179119
E Other financial assets Hiu i EE 2,409 — — 2,409
g Trade receivables Z 5N FE = — 188,061 188,061
; Amounts due from associates JIE e Bk &8 A R F0E = — 938,144 938,144
% Amounts due from joint ventures UL A & A 7? 1H = — 2,365,977 2,365,977
< Amounts due from non- FEUHT B A R SRR
controlling shareholders of AR R IA
subsidiaries — — 4,163,243 4,163,243
Financial assets included in BIENENFRIE R
prepayments and other H it W RIBAH
receivables BEE = = 356,583 356,583
Deposits He = = 129,074 129,074
Cash and bank deposits, STRHBE R
restricted RITER = = 103,640 103,640
Cash and bank deposits, TREBHIHRE R
unrestricted RITER = = 3,410,744 3,410,744
2,409 179,119 11,655,466 11,836,994




38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2023

38. BRI B P HEB T AE @)

RZE_=F+=-_A=+—H

39.

Financial liabilities MgEaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
TR B SH R AN B BR
ZWBAaR
HK$'000
FHT
Borrowings R 23,316,671
Trade, bills and contract payables B5  EBERENENKIE 2,012,465
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary FE — KB KB B2 FIFRIA 153,399
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of JE A< i /&8 X ] FE 12 IR AR PR R 1B
subsidiaries 398,764
Amounts due to associates FE Bt 2 R RI5RIR 979,949
Amount due to a joint venture B —REE R RIHIA 56,406
Financial liabilities included in other payables BLIE P E M FE ST I A Y
MBAaE 5,268,031
32,185,685

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs
approximate their fair values. The fair values are estimated using
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flows.

The financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income represent equity securities listed in Hong Kong. As at
31 December 2024, equity securities amounting to
HK$234,634,000 (2023: HK$179,119,000) was measured at fair
value and based on quoted market prices of an active market
(Level 1) at the end of the reporting period.

30. R TEZ A AREBERAAE
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BREMEENEZEALBHEZTH
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39.

40.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Other financial assets represent interest rate swap contract
designated as highly effective hedging instrument in order to
manage the Group's interest rate exposure in relation to the
bank borrowings on a floating interest rate basis. As at
31 December 2024, fair value of other financial assets amounting
to HK$106,000 (2023: HK$2,409,000) was measured at the present
value of future cash flows estimated based on the applicable
yield curves derived from quoted interest rates at the end of the
reporting period and contracted interest rate discounted at a rate
that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties and
categorised in Level 2.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2023: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT

(a) Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow
interest-rate risk, fair value interest-rate risk and equity
securities price risk for financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income), credit risk and liquidity risk.
These risks are managed by the Group's financial
management policies and practices as described below to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance.

(i)  Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities.
Majority of the subsidiaries of the Group operate in
Mainland China, with most of their transactions
denominated in RMB, functional currency of the
respective group entities. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from the exposure of
RMB against USS. It has not hedged its foreign
exchange rate risk.

39.

40.

HEIEZARBERAAE
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40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

In addition, the conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the exchange rate, and rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.

Cash flow interest-rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest-rate risk arises from
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
on restricted and unrestricted bank deposits and
borrowings issued at variable rates. Other than the
concentration of interest rate risk related to the
movements in Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
and the loan interest published by the People’s Bank
of China, the Group has no significant concentration
of interest rate risk.

The Group maintains a close relationship and
communicates regularly with its finance providers to
explore financing alternatives to monitor and
mitigate interest-rate risk. The Group has entered
into interest rate swaps to hedge against its
exposures to changes in cash flows of its certain
interest payments of borrowings (see note 29).

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for
non-derivative instruments at the end of the
reporting period. No sensitivity analysis has been
presented for bank balances as the Directors
consider that the fluctuation in interest rates on
bank balances is minimal.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest-rate risk (Continued)

If interest rates on HK dollar-denominated
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, (i) post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 would
have been HK$3,616,000 (2023: HK$16,683,000)
lower/higher in respect of the finance cost charged
to the profit or loss; and (ii) properties under
development would have been increased/decreased
by approximately HKS$63,261,000 (2023:
HK$77,808,000) for finance cost capitalised into
properties under development.

If interest rates on RMB-denominated borrowings
had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, (i) post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2024 would have
been HKS$17,112,000 (2023: HK$19,207,000) lower/
higher in respect of the finance cost charged to the
profit or loss; and (ii) properties under development
would have been increased/decreased by
approximately HK$18,493,000 (2023: HK$12,462,000)
for finance cost capitalised into properties under
development.

If interest rates on US dollar-denominated
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit
for the year ended 31 December 2024 would have
been Nil (2023: HK$19,579,000) lower/higher in
respect of the finance cost charged to the profit or
loss.

(a)

(i)

0. EBEAZRERE @
B LB N & (@)

ﬁv'fﬁ/ﬁﬂ/fﬁ“ (4%)
ReEmEMNERR (&)
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HE-_Z-_WMF+=-—A=+
—HIEFEEBEF AEENRN
2 RN 2 BREL A& 5 F S
e ’J\/i 3,616,000 7T
—F = = F 16,683,000/
A E S
0,/ A 4963,261,0005% 7T
— =T~ =4 :77,808,000/8
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40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Fair value interest-rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates
primarily to the guaranteed bonds issued at fixed
rate.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
the financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair
values at the end of each reporting period.

Equity securities price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk
because of investments held by the Group and
carried at fair value on the consolidated statement
of financial position. The Group's equity securities
price risk is concentrated on equity instruments
operating in property development industry sector
quoted in the Stock Exchange. The Group will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.

If the market value of the equity securities held by
the Group increased or decreased by 10% and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's
equity would increase or decrease by approximately
HK$23,463,000 (2023: HKS$17,912,000) as at
31 December 2024.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk primarily arises from deposits
with banks, trade and other receivables, contract
assets and guarantees provided in respect of
mortgage facilities (note 35).

The credit risk on deposits with banks is limited
because the counterparties are banks with sound
credit ratings assigned by credit-rating agencies.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

In respect of trade and other receivables and
contract assets, individual credit evaluations are
performed for those debtors with significant
increase in credit risk or related parties. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s financial
position, past history of making payments and take
into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. For the rest which
consist of a number of customers with common risk
characteristics, the Group uses aging to assess the
impairment. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers. Monitoring procedures
have been implemented to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade and other receivables and contract
assets at the end of the reporting period to ensure
adequate provision for impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts.

Trade receivables are collectively assessed based on
provision matrix as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
within lifetime ECL, except for those with significant
increase in credit risk which are further assessed
individually. As at 31 December 2024, the gross
carrying amount of trade receivables assessed
collectively was HK$129,084,000 based on provision
matrix.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (cCONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided
HKS$9,118,000 (2023: HKS$14,966,000) and Nil (2023:
Nil) impairment allowance for trade receivables and
contract assets respectively, based on the provision
matrix. In addition, as at 31 December 2024, the
Group provided HKS$45,291,000 (2023:
HK$24,956,000) and HK$101,286,000 (2023: Nil)
impairment allowance for trade receivables and
contract assets, respectively, with significant increase
in credit risk which were assessed individually.

Except some certain related parties with significant
increase in credit risk which were assessed
individually, the credit risk on other receivables is
limited because most of the counterparties are
related parties with sound credit. For other debtors
or related parties, the impairment allowance was
immaterial for both years.

The Group has assisted in arranging bank financing
for certain purchasers of property units and
provided guarantees to secure obligations of such
purchasers for repayments. If a purchaser defaults on
the payment of its mortgage during the term of the
guarantee, the Group is able to retain the property
sales proceeds received from the purchasers and sell
the property to recover any amounts paid by the
Group to the bank. The management considers the
credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided
to property purchasers is limited because the
facilities are secured by the properties and the
market prices of the properties are higher than the
guaranteed amounts.

40. XBEBREERERE @

(a)

B 7 B A & (&)
(i) 1=E R ()

R_ZT-_WFE+_A=+—
A AEBREBEERES
st E S EKFIERENE
= B4 159,118,000/ L (= &
— = F 1 14,966,00078 7T) &
T(ZEZ=F:F) 1l
S RZEZWF A=
+—H R EERBREE
N EZERFENE S
ERFERENEE A&
B 5 Al 5 R OB E B E
45,291,000 T (Z 2 = =
£ 124,956,000 7T) &
101,286,000 L (Z & = =
FT)o

BRER D BARE 7 S B AR
BRI FHE R AIRIE SN - B
B HL b FE W IR Z (F B R
HREER  RAERZTH
REREEZRST - Hftp
R HE A KRR B 5 2 1B B
B RMEFEHTEK -

AEECDHYAETYEE
N2 BRLZHRITRE I
HBERZEERHIRHEE
R WEREEFRBEAER
B|MR - RAKER{RE
BERWI 2 MEHEMRSF
IR - WK E AEE
AEERNTRITZEHE -
EEERARRAEXEERHEN
MBREROEERRER -
AREHERE T HYESE
R BEEMENTESR
EREE-

M F 3

=

TEEERRAA



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk on loans
to related parties and amounts due from related
parties, but the exposure is considered limited as
most of the counterparties are at a good financial
position except some certain related parties.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk on trade and other receivables and contract
assets, with exposure spread over a number of
customers.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks, which
are mainly state-owned banks and with high credit
ratings in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

40. XBEBREERERE @

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BEEREZE @
(i)  Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) 1EEEE R EFE (E)
(Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging == R R FRER (E)
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2024 NZZBE-_WE+—_A=+—
H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A BH
FEER 2HEHCEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-& E-R E=H 1L k)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER
Trade receivables* B 7 R — - — 211,633 211,633
Amounts due from associates JE I 1 B0
— Normal** = e 897,814 — — — 897,814
Amounts due from joint ventures  EYRA & A RIFUE
— Normal** — EE* 255,699 — — — 255,699
— Doubtful** — REE* — 2,128,349 — — 2,128,349
Amounts due from non-controlling 4B B 22 I FEH2 A%
shareholders of subsidiaries RR B
— Normal** — FE* 3,099,609 - — — 3,099,609
Financial assets included in BERERTER
prepayments and other H it FEYGRIER M
receivables HBEE
— Normal** — E&E* 308,140 - - - 308,140
— Doubtful** — R - — 15,887 — 15,887
Deposits e
— Normal** — EE= 112,502 — — — 112,502
Contract assets* AHNEE - - - 169,683 169,683
Cash and bank deposits, restricted 2[R %3 & R RIT7F 5K
— Not yet past due — K@ 44,787 - - - 44,787
Cash and cash equivalents RekALEEY
— Not yet past due — REH 2,821,859 - - — 2,821,859
7,540,410 2,128,349 15,887 381,316 10,065,962
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A S R PR R
31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H
o .
40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND 0. KEREZERERE @
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BHFEREBEEE @)
(i)  Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) 1EEREREREEFFE(E)
(Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging =R R R FERAER (E)
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+_A=+—
H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 ATEER ‘
FEBE 2HBRHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
-5 -5 E=85 % BE
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAT AT TAT THT TAT
Trade receivables* B Z W = = = 227983 227,983
Amounts due from associates JE I 1 B 5ROR
— Normal** — EE* 938,144 = = = 938,144
Amounts due from joint ventures  FEMRA & A RIFUE
— Normal** — [EE* 396,669 — — — 396,669
— Doubtful** — REE* = 2,144,59% = = 2,144,59%
- Amounts due from non-controlling 4B B 22 B FEH2 A%
§ shareholders of subsidiaries RR B
E — Normal** EM** 4,163,243 — — — 4,163,243
g Financial assets included in BERERTER
« prepayments and other Hfth IR IE R 49
; receivables HEEE
Z — Normal** — EE* 364,069 — — — 364,069
— Doubtful* — REE — — 15,887 = 15,887
Deposits e
— Normal** — EE* 129074 = = = 129,074
Contract assets* AHNEE = = = 191,082 191,082
Cash and bank deposits, restricted R FRE RETTER
— Not yet past due — R 103,640 — — — 103,640
Cash and cash equivalents RekAEEEY
— Not yet past due — REH 3,410,744 — — — 3410744
9,505,583 2,144,596 15,887 419,065 12,085,131
& For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies * REIEBRBERENE
the simplified approach for impairment. B AEEERMETE
HAE
a s The credit quality of the financial assets included in * fisi 51 A TE A5 R I8 B L fth FE Uk
e prepayments and other receivables is considered to be HEM B EEREI AW
= “‘normal” when they are not past due and there is no EENMKRTUBEES VR
a‘ information indicating that the financial assets had a HREEREL N BEEE
E significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. BRBERIES] - TH - B
: Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is BEEFEEERARIR
= considered to be “doubtful”. iRl e
&
=
=
=



40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii)  Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of credit
facilities. Management aims to maintain flexibility in
funding by keeping credit lines available.
Management monitors the rolling forecasts of the
Group's liquidity reserve (comprising undrawn
borrowing facilities (note 29(a)) and cash and bank
balances (note 25) on the basis of expected cash
flow.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities at amortised cost into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the
end of the reporting period to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including both principal and interest). To the extent
that interest rates are at variable rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of each reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial
instruments. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted contractual net cash (inflows)
and outflows on derivative instruments that settle on
a net basis. When the amount payable is not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by
reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of
the reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the
Group's derivative financial instruments is prepared
based on the contractual maturities as the
management consider that the contractual
maturities are essential for an understanding of the
timing of the cash flows of derivatives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R T R B RE
31 December 2024 —ZT-NF+=-fA=+—H
40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND 40. IEEREEREE @
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) MEEEE @
(i)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (iii) TEE LA (E)
Between Between Total
Within 1and 2 2and5 Over undiscounted Carrying
1 year years years 5years  cash flows amount
RER
—£R -EmE MELE LENLE RERELE RER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL TER TERL TR TET
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-RE
+ZB=t-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities  3EATA BT & &
Borrowings EES 17,353,313 4,776,842 619,102 485113 23,234,370 21,683,169
Trade and other payables BHREMERTE 6,093,005 - - — 6,093,005 6,093,005
Amounts due to a fellow EN—RAZHBAR
subsidiary FE 132,641 - - - 132,641 132,641
Amounts due to non-controlling ~ FEfSHIE 2 73?
shareholders of subsidiaries Y 175,492 - - - 175,492 175,492
Amounts due to associates JERS ﬁ#*é’a 903,952 - - - 903,952 903,952
Amount due to a joint venture  FEff— Zf\ﬁ%’/} TW,E 18,375 - - - 18,375 18,375
Financial quarantee contracts Eﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ! &l 4,681,307 - - — 4,681,307 4,681,307
§ 29,358,085 4,776,842 619,102 485113 35,239,142 33,687,941
=
o)
& Between Between Total
g Within 1and 2 2and 5 undiscounted Carrying
Z 1 year years years cash flows amount
< REEE
—FR —EMF MERLF HEness BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T THIT FTET TET
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=%
+=A=t-8
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ FEHTEF K EE
Borrowings B 16,279,460 2,445,626 6,334,855 25,059,941 23316671
Trade and other payables BHREMENTE 7,280,496 = = 7,280,496 7,280,496
Amounts due to a fellow BN —RAZKELA
subsidiary B 153,399 — — 153,399 153,399
Amounts due to non-controlling  FEf B B 22 B JF IR AR
shareholders of subsidiaries BRE A 398,764 = = 398,764 398,764
Amounts due to associates FERT B R B FUR 979,949 = = 979,949 979,949
a Amount due to a joint venture ER—RAZARIZIE 56,406 — — 56,406 56,406
= Financial guarantee contracts Eﬁ BEREH 7,051,266 — — 7,051,266 7,051,266
2
g 32,199,740 2,445,626 6,334,855 40,980,221 39,236,951
s
2
&
-
s




40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued)
The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group
could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based
on expectations at the end of the reporting period,
the Group considers that it is more likely than not
that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is
a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities
are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The total equity and borrowings of the Group represents
the capital structure of the Group. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including current and
non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position) less cash and bank
deposits.

40. XBEBREERERE @

(a)

(b)

B3 B B H & (@)

(iii) EEEL R (FE)
P BBEREN 2SR
RERR S HREHBRIE
B ANEBIRBELZEER A
MEDERSBEEMNNES
TR REBERESHARNE
B AEERE - BARE
2 HE S SRIE R AT e 1R
Ko R - BFEEERY
BREBGIENR S5 HEZ(E
B8 A] B IR R I F0E
o BEEfhEr g E o

EARFENS AN RS
SR 0 R (R -
B 3EOTA B B
HETANSERE S -

EXE R EE
AEBEREARAZBRIRER
SESERLEZREN  BUHAK
R R E R A A BER A A
X ARERRERCENE
B WREEEKA -

AEE 2w MERBERRA
SEZERER RBEFIFE
BARE  AEERGHTHK
R HEEENRDET

HEMRAEX -3 AEBEABE
LERERERERZERE - ZL
RIR B FERR AR S BT
g B FERETERE (BELF
BMBARRKRD 25 RE M IE
mEE ) BIR & KR 1T RET

St

ﬁo

M F 3

=

TEEERRAA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H

40. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND 40. I EREZERERE @
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Capital risk management (Continued) (b) EXREEEE @

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are REZEZWNEFR =T =F+=

as follows: A=+—Bza@ELxRmT :
2024 2023

—E-MEF —F==

HK$000 HK$'000
FB FBT
Total borrowings BRAEEE 21,683,169 23,316,671
Less: Cash and bank deposits B R RIBITHER (2,866,646) (3,514,384)
Net debt B F 5 18,816,523 19,802,287
Total equity iR 9,256,969 14,347,645
Gearing ratio BELE 203% 138%

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. TEH B A BFE
SUBSIDIARIES

<
o~
5 (a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024: (a) A=ZZE—_mME+=-—_A=+—H "
5 TEMBERAIE -
&
—
% Percentage of equity interest
z BAREERY
2024 2023
—BopE k- St 2
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued share capital/ held by held by held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation paid-up capital (note (i) the Company the Company the Company  the Company Principal activity
Bl Bid & G
il PR EMAL/EXBE CRORE/MRBRARE (MG A2XABF A0XABF ARABE ADRAHE FERE
Best Pearl Development Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment
1,000 shares with no par value
SRERARAT R 1000 7T nEkE
1000k B E
BREEEERMERRARLA Mainland China RMB778,013,150 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Boluo County Bihua Property Development
Company Limited “Boluo County Bihua') i)
BELRZRHERRERAR(RERE) ) HEAL 778013150 AR BHEERR
LREEEE (IR ERAA Mainland China RMB12,001,000000 - 100 - 100 Provision of management senvice
(Minmetals Shengshi Guangye (Beijing) Co, Ltd.) and investment holding
a ARBERE (LR ARAT TERY 12001000000 AR % REERRHERERER
E Bright Circle Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment
s 10,000 shares with no par value
3 BhERAR ik 100007 NER
= 1000REHEE
5 Eastrend (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
w 2 shares with no par value
= 2 (B8)BRAT & 7 ER)
m MREEE
=
Z
=




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024:

41. TEMEQXRFHE @

() R—=—_mWHE+—-_A=+—H"

TEMBRRIIK : (B)

Percentage of equity interest

RAREAA L
2024 2023
“EopE 3
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued share capital/ held by held by held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation paid-up capital (note (i) the Company the Company  the Company  the Company Principal activity
E&A Gk E&A i
HEAREE HMAY/EXBE CRORS/BRRAREMEG) A038F A0AKF ARABE ARARE TERE
BUTRERHEREARAR Mainland China RMB520,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Foshan Kuangsheng Property Development
Co, Ltd)
BUTBEEHEREERAR RERY 520000000 AR BHERR
Excel Capital Global Ltd. British Virgin slands Uss1 100 - 100 — Fund raising
1 share of US$1 each
Excel Capital Global Ltd. RERZES 1% £5
\REREEIXT
Expand Lead Limited British Virgin slands Us$1 100 - 100 — Fund raising
1 share of USS1 each
AHERAR ABRRES 1R g%
\REREEIXT
Great Way Properties Limited Hong Kong/Mainland HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
China 2 shares with no par value
BHEXERAR B/ AN 2WET NER
WREEE
BN RERHEREARAR Mainland China RMB120,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangyue Property Development
Co, Ltd)
ENTRERHERTERAR PR 1200000007 ARH FHERR
BRUEERERAR Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 = 100 Real estate development
(Kuangjin Property Development Nanjing Co, Ltd)
BSBEARARLA PERE 1000000007 AR FHERR
BEUEHREARAR Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Kuangmei Property Development Nanjing Co, Ltd)
BXHEBRERAR PEA 1000000007 ARH FHERR
BHRt EEEHERSERARA Mainland China 15555000000 - 50 - 50 Real estate development
(Langfang Kuangshi Jiye Property Development
Co, Ltd. *Kuangshi Jiye") (i) & (iv)
BUBHEZEHEREERAR (BEEE)) hEAR 550000008 FHERR
(i) B (iv)
Linkcheer Limited Hong Kong HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with no par value
EEBRAR ik WET NER
WREEE
Luck Achieve Limited British Virgin Islands/ Uss2 - 100 - 100 Securities Investment
Hong Kong 2 shares of USS1 each
ZRARAA ABRIER/ PEIH HHR
B WEBRAEIXT
Massive Leader Limited Hong Kong HKS1T - 100 - 100 Real estate development
1 share with no par value
ERARAA &R 1%L FHEXR
1REmE
Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong) Engineering Hong Kong HKS1 - 100 = 100 Design and installation of curtain
Company Limited 1 share with no par value walls
nERA(FE) TRERAR R 1%L Rt REEBE
1REmE
Minmetals Land Capital Limited British Virgin Islands US$10 100 - 100 — Fund raising
10 shares of USS1 each
NBRREAERAR ABRRES 10%7 E
0RERARIXT
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31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. TEM B D RFE @
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(@) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024: (a) R—T-_MFE+-_A=+—8"
(Continued) FEMBRFNNE : (B)
Percentage of equity interest
RAREAA L
2024 2023
“EopE 3
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued share capital/ held by held by held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation paid-up capital (note (i) the Company the Company  the Company  the Company Principal activity
EEA [k E&A [
HEAREE HMAY/EX8E CRORS/BRRAREMEGN) A038F A0A%F ARARE ARARE TERE
Minmetals Land Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$990 100 - 100 — Investment holding
Hong Kong 99 shares of US$10 each
Minmetals Land Investments Limited “BRLES/ 990% T RELER
R WREBRAGI0XT
TRERREEE AR ERAA Mainland China RMB3,261,072,609 - 100 - 100 Provision of management sevice
(Minmetals Land Investment Management (Beijing) and investment holding
Co, Ltd)
ARERRAEE (IR ERAR R 3261072609 ARH REEBRBRRELR
APt E (RE) REERAR Mainland China RMB280,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Wuhan) Development Co, Ltd)
IRLE (RE)REARAR HRENY 2800000007 AR FHERR
ARER (EN) BEEEEERARA Mainland China US5100,000000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Yingkou) Hengfu Properties
Co, Ltd) (i)
ARER (E0)EEEXERAN PERL 10000000055 7T FHERR
HEEREHERZARAA Mainland China RMB600,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Hunan Kuangdai Property Development Co, Ltd)
HERREREREERAR PERL 6000000007 A R 1 FHERR
ONFEM Finance Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1,000 100 - 100 — Provision of financing for group
Hong Kong 1,000 shares of USS1 each companies
ONFEM Finance Limited ERELRER/ 10007 REALTRERE
ik 100 ERARIXT
Oriental Dragon Construction Limited Hong Kong/Hong HK$10,000 - n - 71 Investment holding
Kong and 10,000 shares with no par value
Mainland China
RARRERAR &E/BERTE 1000037 RARK
it 10000 R &
Texion Development Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment
50,000,000 shares with no par value
STERERAT &R 50000000772 NER
50000000 EE(E
Top Gain Properties Limited Hong Kong/Mainland HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
China 2 shares with no par value
EREXERAR /AN 2T NER
WREEE
Virtyre Limited Hong Kong HKS20 - 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with no par value
Virtyre Limited B 20ET NERE
WREEE
RERERHEREARAA Mainland China RMB350,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Wuhan Runling Property Development Co,, Ltd)
RERERBEREARAR PERL 3500000007 AR FHERR
ENBERHERZERAR Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51 — 51 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangrong Property Development
Co, Ltd)) (‘Guangzhou Kuangrong") (i) & (viii)
ENEREHERZARAR (RNER]) FERL 100000007 AR FHEXR
(i) B (vii)
BRtERRERAT Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Kuangzhong Property Development Nanjing
Co, Ltd)
BPHERRERAR PEAL 1000000007 ARH BHERR
HEBEEEERAT Mainland China 15545000000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Hunan Kuangxiang Real Estate Co, Ltd) (i)
AEBAERERAH () RERL 4500000057 BHERR




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)

(@) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024

(Continued)

41. TEMEQXRFHE @

() R—=—_mWHE+—-_A=+—H"

TEMBRRIIK : (B)

Percentage of equity interest

BAREAA L
2024 2023
—ZoME —3-=f%
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued share capital/ held by held by held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation paid-up capital (note (i) the Company the Company  the Company  the Company Principal activity
E&A Bim Eia ke
il PR EMAL/ XY CDRORA/MRRARE(KEH)) 40785 ALREE  ALREKE ALAEAE EEER
BENTREEHEREARAR Mainland China RMBI,851,000,000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangmao Property Development
Co, Ltd) (‘Guangzhou Kuangmao') (ii) & (vi)
EMTRERLERRERAR HEA 1851000000 AR 8 FHERR
(TRMRR D) i) R
AITRERLEREERAR Mainland China RMB00,000,000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Shenzhen Kuangrun Property Development
Co, Ltd) (‘Shenzhen Kuangrun’) (i) & (ix)
MITEREERSERAR (RIIEH]) HERL 9000000007 A FHERR
(i) B (ix)
ENTHREREERAR Mainland China RMB2,275,086,151 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangyu Investment Co, Ltd)
(“Guangzhou Kuangyu") (iii) & (vii)
ENTBRERABRAR (RMEE) (kvi)  FEAE 2275086151 TARE FHEXR
ENTRBEREREARAR Mainland China RMB2,181,280,000 - 459 - 459 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Pincheng Real Estate Development
(o, Ltd) (‘Guangzhou Pincheng’) (iii)
ENTRAEtEREERAR (EMRH) G  EAR 2181280000 AR FHERR
RARBREXERAT Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Chengdu Shengkuang Real Estate Development
Co, Ltd)
RBEREXFRAF PR 50000000TC AR FHERR
RABRELARAA Mainland China RMB200,000000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Chengdu Kuangyi Real Estate Development
Co, Ltd)
KBREEXERAF PEAL 2000000007 A% FHERR
TRHERERARERAA Mainland China RMB612,244,900 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land Hunan Development Co, Ltd)
IRLENEREERAR HERL 612244900 AR K BHERR
RHHE (H8) BEERAR Mainland China RMB8,000,000 - 51 = 51 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Xiangtan) Development Co, Ltd)
nEE () REERAR PERL 8000000 AR FHERR
TBHE R%) BEERAR Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51 — 51 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Taian) Development Co, Ltd)
IRLE (RR) REARAR ERL 100000007 AR BHERR
REHARHEREERAR Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51 = 51 Real estate development
(Taian Runling Property Development Co, Ltd)
FREARHERZARAA RENY 100000007 AR FHERR
ESE @) BRAR Mainland China RMB2,197,250,000 - 55 - 55 Real estate development
(Kuangjin Property Development (Suzhou) Co, Ltd)
(*Kuangjin')
BEE (SM) ARAR (B3)) FERL 21972500007 AR BHERR
HEREEHEREARAA Mainland China RMB400,000,000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Hunan Kuangya Real Estate Development Co, Ltd)
(*Kuangya')
HERERLERSERAR (K] HEAY 4000000007 A R B FHERR
KHEREZERAA Mainland China RMB20,408,200 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Chengdu Xiangkuang Real Estate Co,, Ltd)
(*Xiangkuang’) (v)
RBEREXERLAD(FE)V RER 20408200 ARH RUHELR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. TEMEBE A TFEE @

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(@) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024: (a)
(Continued)

E/\4=,
FTEMRBA

meE+—A=+—H8"
Ao (&)

EERB LRI T ZAKENE

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,

in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the NS $§%$E.E’J¥z &&

results or assets of the Group. To give details of other E-EEZRREINTNEMKERAR

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in RIFE BEBRLE-

particulars of excessive length.

(i)  The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise (i) BREBAEFHAIN Fﬂ—rﬁxf”ﬁ
stated. None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital PEEERR - BEZ

(ii)

in issue at any time during the year ended
1 December 2024.

These are BB B)EABE B established in
Mainland China with operating periods ranging from
15 years to 40 years.

(ii)

mE+— A E+*EIJJ:$F§*
REMERE - ZHBRRL
BRITEMNEERAE -

ZEBRFPRAMAY 2 A
BIRAANBERE  EEH
BISFETAFRE -

(i)  These are MINAE B E established in Mainland (i) E%%?%J\E’\‘:P.WWWIZEP

China with operating periods ranging from 20 years INEEBRE  EEHR20F

g to 30 years. EI0FERFE -

a

% (iv)  Although the Group owns 50% equity interest in vy BEAXANEEHEEEM L

= Kuangshi Jiye, it has control over Kuangshi Jiye by 50%fx 1 - B E R A Rt

z holding 60% of the voting power over the board of EEFET o0 HERY
directors of Kuangshi Jiye and the board of directors HEREGIE MEEER
is the highest authority, which require simple = - BIFEEEE)
majority votes of the directors on making decision WARFEZEGRYHES
on relevant activities. R o

(vy  On 11 January 2022, the Group acquired 51% v R-E-_—F—H+—8"

interest in Xiangkuang, with approximately REE WS B ES 1%
HK$65,623,000 paid by cash at the acquisition date. RUCEE B AR & S 1+ Z’]
On 16 January 2022, the Group and non-controlling 65,623,000 L c R =T =
shareholder had agreed to convert their loans into —F—A+8 AEER
investment cost in Xiangkuang which amounted to FEBRRRERERES S
HK$875,726,000 (including HK$429,106,000 FERR L Bl 8 B SR e2in A
contributed from non-controlling shareholder) in BENERENE &8 A

a accordance with the respective shareholding. 875,726,000/ 7T (B #& JE 15

[ 5 Q

s A% A% 2R & HH & 429,106,000

- o

Z

=

-

4
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=

Z
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. TEMEB A TFHEE @

SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)

(@) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024: (@) R=ZE-_WF+=-A=+—8H "
(Continued) FERBRRTIK : (B&)
(vi)  During 2024, Guangzhou Kuangmao implemented a Vi) RZEZWF - EMBESRR

(vii)

(viii)

(x) During 2024, Minmetals Land Investment () REZZZNF - AEERE fff
Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd. implemented a capital EERE (IbR) BRARRE g
reduction amounting to RMB1,710,580,000 pursuant RERARE EHENERZRE E(l
to the resolution adopted at the shareholders’ 1,710,580,0007C A R #& o H
meeting.

I
<
=
i
Ll
H
®
H

capital reduction amounting to RMB450,000,000, of
which RMB220,500,000 was paid to a non-controlling
shareholder according to the portion of shares.

During 2024, Guangzhou Kuangyu implemented a
capital reduction amounting to RMB171,671,049 of
which RMB84,118,814 was paid to a non-controlling
shareholder according to the portion of shares.

During 2024, Guangzhou Kuangrong implemented a
capital reduction amounting to RMB990,000,000 of
which RMB485,100,000 was paid to a non-controlling
shareholder according to the portion of shares.

(vii)

(viii)

& 450,000,0007T A R #E - H
IR BRI (D BE ) — B FEIE
% A% B 3% +220,500,0007C A

RZZTZOF - EMBEER
E171671,049T A REE - H
AR RS {7 10 BB A — 7 FE4%
B B% 3R 3 484,118,814 A

RZZTZF - EIMNTEERR
#990,000,0007T A R ¥E - H
AR BRI (7 10 BB A — % FE4%
P& P& BR 3 +4485,100,0007T A
R#& -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. TEMEBE A TFEE @
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEERFERBREERD
that have material non-controlling interests FEEMBARIZFE
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned TEREJNAEEEFEAFER
subsidiaries of the Group that have material RE#EZZIEZEMB AR ZFF
non-controlling interests: 15 :

Place of incorporation Proportion of equity interest
and principal place of  held by non-controlling  Proportion of voting rights held  Profit/(loss) allocated to  Accumulated non-controlling

Name of subsidiary business interests by non-controlling interests non-controlling interests interests
EMARIR FERRREZFERE FRRRRERE BEERRREZSE 2

WEARERE TEERMH REAA RREAL A/ (F8) RitFERRRER
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
“BCmE “R-ZF CB-MFE —F-=F —BomE  -BoZF
+=A +=A +=A +=A +=A +=A
=t-8 =t—A =t-8 =t-BA ZEB-mf Z-T-=f =t+-H =r=Fl
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000

FEL FHL FET TRL

Kuangshi Jiye Mainland China 50% 50% 40% 40% 16 (1,497) 384,164 392,543
Wt E % AR
Beijing Wanhu Mainland China 49% 49% 40% 40% (17,479) (13,677) 1,453,637 1,503,008
EREM AR
Guangzhou Kuangrong (i) Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% 792 7,202 27,392 588,456
EMBERG AR
Guangzhou Kuangmao (ii) Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% 4,597 238,641 1,024,048 1,324,051
MBI () A3
;\r‘ Shenzhen Kuangrun (iii) Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% (29,638) 246,281 657,083 766,177
54 R i) HERA
E Minmetals Land Hunan Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% (58,660) 56,731 1,328,260 1,416,364
g AEHE GELE
Dj Guangzhou Kuangyu Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% (24,383) 8,282 1,420,612 1,569,073
= EhEs AR
% Kuangjin Mainland China 45% 45% 45% 45% (71,140) (7,226) 983,498 1,076,638
=< BY HE R
Xiangkuang Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% (33,363) (43314) 347,824 389,772
BB By
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 1,551 (1,591) 21,615 34,494
AAFEREREROERIEESANE
N
(227,707) 489,832 7,648,133 9,060,576
(i)  During 2024, Guangzhou Kuangrong made dividends () RIZE-_OF - EMNESLK
distribution with total amount of RMB48,000,000, of B 48 ¥8 /548,000,0007T A B
which RMB23,520,000 was paid to a non-controlling R B - AR IR GH D
shareholder according to the portion of shares. R —RFERBRREXZ A
These dividends had approved by the shareholders’ 23,520,000 A R ¥ - 22 &
A meeting. % 8 B ER R A HE -
E
=
Jr
[a]
=
<
-
wv
-l
<
[
w
=
=
=




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41, TEMEREFE @
SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEEARFERBERERN
that have material non-controlling interests FEEME AR ZF1E @)
(Continued)
(i) During 2024, Guangzhou Kuangmao made dividends (i) MZZEZNF - EMNEXIK
distribution with total amount of RMB72,000,000, of % 8 % /372,000,000 A K
which RMB35,280,000 was paid to a non-controlling BERE - ARiRBR GO D
shareholder according to the portion of shares. A —BIFERBKRE XA
These dividends had approved by the shareholders’ 35,280,000t AR - 2 &
meeting. f% B E B R AR g R -
(i) During 2024, Shenzhen Kuangrun made dividends iy MZE—F - FIEHK
distribution with total amount of RMB120,000,000, of % 4858 /5120,000,0007T A R
which RMB58,800,000 was paid to a non-controlling RS - AR GO 7
shareholder according to the parties of shares. These A —BIFERBKRE XA
dividends had approved by the shareholders’ 58,800,000 A R ¥ - 2 &
meeting. R EBERERE RS -
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the AR AEEEAEFEBRIFZERRK
Company's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling R <M BRI E R
interests is set out below. The summarised financial ZHINWAT - L THBERLE
information below represents amounts before intragroup RAEERNEIEA 2S5 -
eliminations. 5
i
Bl
Kuangshi Jiye Bt EE [‘(l
I
2024 2023
—EC-ME —E-=4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Current assets MENEE 1,599,708 1,640,794
Non-current assets ERBEE — 1
Current liabilities mEEE 831,380 855,709
Total equity e HER 768,328 785,086
I
&
B
i
Ll
H
®
H




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. TEMBAAFE @
SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEERFERBREERD
that have material non-controlling interests F2EMB LR ZFHE @
(Continued)
Kuangshi Jiye (Continued) Wt B2 (4E)
2024 2023
“E-mEF —EBE=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Revenue for the year REZRA 46 —
Cost and expenses for the year RNEFLKARZ M 14 2,994
Profit/(loss) for the year REERF,(EE) 32 (2,994)
Other comprehensive expense for the year N4 [E H fth 2 57 (16,790) (11,336)
Total comprehensive expense for the year A% E 2 M 4258 (16,758) (14,330)
g Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating & & /EEELR &
S activities mA O i) 88 214 (20,777)
-
z Net cash outflow from investing activities % & & E)E £ & 7
h B — —
Net cash inflow from financing activities ~ BIEEEELIR S RA
FEE — =
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BERACRE)F
EE] 214 (20,777)
o
=
S
2
z
s
]
=
i
=
Z
=




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41, TEMEREFE @
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EBERFERBREERD
that have material non-controlling interests FE2EMB LRI ZFE @
(Continued)
Beijing Wanhu It REH
2024 2023
—B-oNEF T =F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T T
Current assets ENE E 3,121,029 3,208,917
Non-current assets FERBEE 2,195 2,243
Current liabilities mENBE 156,618 143,796
Total equity e AR 2,966,606 3,067,364
2024 2023
—B-NEF ZE=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 il
FHET T T ‘E‘[
v
I
Revenue for the year REZHA (7,019) —
Cost and expenses for the year AF E AR K S 28,653 27,913
Loss for the year RNEFEEE (35,672) (27,913)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AN [ H fth 2 5 (65,086) (58,010)
Total comprehensive expense for the year A€ 2 M S 4258 (100,758) (85,923)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating #&&/EEELR &
activities O,/ A FEE (138) 1,772,975
Net cash inflow from investing activities & JEEEEHR S RA
FER — =
I
s . (4
Net cash outflow from financing activities B & EENELIR S M o
B — (1,777,440) ﬁ
E=)
Net cash outflow IR &7 R (138) (4,465) )ﬁ
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31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests
(Continued)

41. TEME QX RFHE @

(b) EAEEARFERKRRERMN
FEENME LR ZFHE @

Guangzhou Kuangrong M 5
2024 2023
—B-NEF —E=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Current assets MENE E 88,139 1,236,366
Non-current assets FEMENE E 10 28
Current liabilities k=R 32,247 35,463
Total equity ERER 55,902 1,200,931
2024 2023
—B-NEF —E=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR FHT
Revenue for the year REFZUA 3,745 23,139
Cost and expenses for the year IF E KA K S 2,129 8441
Profit for the year REERF 1,616 14,698
Other comprehensive expense for the year AN [E H fth 2 5 ) (2,655) (23,269)
Total comprehensive expense for the year A€ 2 7 4258 (1,039) (8,571)
Net cash outflow from operating activities A& EEE LIRS M
R (11,732) (1,185)
Net cash outflow from investing activities % & & E)E £ & 7
FEE — _
Net cash outflow from financing activities B2 & EEE LR M
R — =
Net cash outflow IR m HFEE (11,732) (1,185)




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)

(b)

41. TEMEQXRFHE @

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EBERFERBREERD
that have material non-controlling interests FE2EMB LRI ZFE @
(Continued)
Guangzhou Kuangmao BEMEE
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR FHT
Current assets ENE E 2,330,476 3,061,409
Non-current assets FEMENE E 40,929 45338
Current liabilities mEN B & 281,511 404,602
Total equity e AR 2,089,894 2,702,145
2024 2023
—B-NEF —E=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FTET FHT
Revenue for the year REZHA 167,579 2,840,395
Cost and expenses for the year AF E AR K S 158,197 2,353,373
Profit for the year AN 5 A 9,382 487,022
Other comprehensive expense for the year AN [ H fth 2 5 (49,351) (147,913)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for AFE2E (X H),/
the year LNt (39,969) 339,109
Net cash inflow from operating activities & &/EEE LR S RA
R 46,438 5,993
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & EEELIR S M
R (6) (14)
Net cash outflow from financing activities B & EEELIR S M
R (17,278) (448,804)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BERACRE) FE 29,154 (442,825)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)

(b)

41. TEME QX RFHE @

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEEARFEZERBERERHN
that have material non-controlling interests F2EMBE QR ZFE @)
(Continued)
Shenzhen Kuangrun R
2024 2023
—B-oNmEF “E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Current assets MENE E 1,479,449 1,756,357
Non-current assets FERBEE 310 597
Current liabilities iEB=RiT 138,774 187,435
Non-current liabilities EmEBBE — 5,892
Total equity e 1,340,985 1,563,627
2024 2023
—E-NmEF —E=F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHER FHT
Revenue for the year REFZHA — 3,860,034
Cost and expenses for the year IF F KA R S 60,485 3,357,420
(Loss)/profit for the year RNEE (B18), % F (60,485) 502,614
Other comprehensive expense for the year AN [ H th 2 57 (30,636) (18,684)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for AFEE2E (X H),/
the year N (91,121) 483,930
Net cash outflow from operating activities A4 EBEEE & RmH
R (54,589) (165,404)
Net cash inflow from investing activities R EEEELTRSRA
R 60,857 134,850
Net cash outflow from financing activities B EEBELE S RHE
F R — _
Net cash inflow/(outflow) WERACRE) FE 6,268 (30,554)




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (coNTINUED)

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b)
that have material non-controlling interests

(b)

(Continued)

41. TEMEQXRFHE @

BEEEARFERRRERMN
F2ENBLEZFRE @)

Minmetals Land Hunan F R E
2024 2023
—E-MF —ET=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FAT
Current assets MENE E 3,176,459 4,355,625
Non-current assets FERBEE 680,428 788,196
Current liabilities ViEE=RiT 861,887 1,828,750
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE 284,266 424,532
Total equity AR 2,710,734 2,890,539
2024 2023
—E-mEF T =F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT T T
Revenue for the year AEZHA 739,469 1,388,551
Cost and expenses for the year ANF E AR R S 859,183 1,272,774
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (F18)aF (119,714) 115,777
Other comprehensive expense for the year ZNF [ H fth 2 % 1 (60,091) (40,764)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for AFEE2E (X H),/
the year WA B (179,805) 75,013
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating & & /EEEALR &
activities R,/ RAFE (253,424) 6,569
Net cash inflow from investing activities R EEZELTRSRA
R 144,914 11,993
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing Bl E /EBELR &R
activities A G F 9,121 (128,307)
Net cash outflow B2 i a e (99,389) (109,745)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5RO B R M
31 December 2024 —ZT-NF+=-fA=+—H
41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. TEMBEBRAFFE @
SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEEARFEZERBERERHN
that have material non-controlling interests F2EMBE QR ZFE @)
(Continued)
Guangzhou Kuangyu I 1 2
2024 2023
—ZE-IF —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Current assets mENE E 4,944,164 5,856,582
Non-current assets ERBEE 19,921 28,280
Current liabilities mEEE 1,824,242 1,425,623
Non-current liabilities FERBAEE 500,890 1,536,920
Total equity R 2,638,953 2,922,319
% Equity attributable to owners of the RNARIHEE NEIGHER
& Company 1,218,341 1,353,246
% Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou & M B2 JE 5 % A% 51
> Kuangyu T 1,170,563 1,313,885
z Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou  E/MNTEEH B A F1FEE
Kuangyu's subsidiary R A% 3R A 2 250,049 255,188
o
=
S
-
[a]
=2
S
|
<
o
s
=
s




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (coNTINUED)

(b)

41. TEMEQXRFHE @

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEEARFEZERBRRERHN

that have material non-controlling interests F2EMBE QR ZFE @)

(Continued)

Guangzhou Kuangyu (Continued) BEMEE ()

2024 2023
=111 - 3 —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
(Loss)/profit for the period attributable to: A~ A £ fE(G
(&), m A -
The owners of the Company RAREER A (25,488) (11,419)
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou &N A& 2 FE 12 IR AR 38
Kuangyu E (24,489) 3616
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou & /HAEEEH B A Rl Ik
Kuangyu's subsidiary % A% 3R 2 106 4,666

Other comprehensive expense for the year AN & H fth 2 7 (45,404) (101,730)

Total comprehensive expense for the year A€ 2 X 4258 (95,275) (104,867)

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive AT ALREIE &

(expense)/income attributable to: (B518)wFk2E| ‘E\[
(), WAMBEE [ﬂ
The owners of the Company RAREER A (45,969) (61,381)
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou  J& N A& 22 3F 42 IR A% 51
Kuangyu Eam (44,167) (44,511)
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou & /HAEZEH B A A JE#E
Kuangyu's subsidiary % AR 3R 2 (5,139) 1,025
Net cash inflow from operating activities & & EBEALIR R
R 420,615 717,397
Net cash outflow from investing activities REEBEELE S RHE
FEE (13) (4)
Net cash outflow from financing activities B & EBELE & RE
R (478,346) (878,916)

Net cash outflow e FE (57,744) (161,523) -
“
=
i
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B 5 R A B

31 December 2024 —Z=PUF+=-A=+—H

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)

(b)

41. TEME QX RFHE @

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEEARFEZERBERERHN
that have material non-controlling interests F2EMBE QR ZFE @)
(Continued)
Kuangjin V-9
2024 2023
—ZE-IF —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fh FH
Current assets mE & E 2,833,025 4,340,037
Non-current assets ERBEE 479 53,882
Current liabilities mEN B & 422,902 1,598,945
Non-current liabilities FERBAEE 225,051 402,446
Total equity R 2,185,551 2,392,528
2024 2023
—E-IF —T==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Loss for the year REZEBE (158,089) (16,058)
Other comprehensive expense for the year A4 [ H th 2 7 (48,888) (34,596)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ZNF € 2 X 4258 (206,977) (50,654)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating AL &/EEEALIE &
activities A (i) # 58 53,344 (81,739)
Net cash outflow from investing activities RE/EEELR SR
R (52) (54)
Net cash outflow from financing activities EiEEBEEE & RE
R (63,323) (84,142)
Net cash outflow Be R FEE (10,031) (165,935)




41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (coNTINUED)

(b)

41. TEMEQXRFHE @

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEERFERBRRERN
that have material non-controlling interests F2EMBE QR ZFE @)
(Continued)
Xiangkuang EiE
2024 2023
=111 - 3 —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHETT
Current assets MENE E 1,745,167 3,125,459
Non-current assets SEMBNE E 103 82
Current liabilities ik B=RiT 1,035,425 2,302,225
Non-current liabilities EnBEE — 27,863
Total equity W ERa 709,845 795,453
2024 2023
ZEZMEF ==
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT T T
Loss for the year/period REE/HEER (68,088) (88,396)
Other comprehensive expense for the AEE /HEEMMER
year/period X (17,520) (12,139)
Total comprehensive expense for the AEE /HEEES T
year/period FRk (85,608) (100,535)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating #&&/EBELR &
activities O,/ TN FEE (145,097) 647,151
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & EEEER SR L
JRER — =
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing Bl E /EBELR &
activities O ),/ A FEE (73,431) 20,793
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be Ord),/ RAFERE (218,528) 667,944
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

B

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 5 A MY ik

31 December 2024 —Z-pUFE+-A=+—H

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the

(a)

42. KRB ZBHBARR R FER

&
(a) AATZMBEMRRE

Company
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TAT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IEREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRARZEKE 820,096 820,040
Other financial asset Hi B g & E 106 —
820,202 820,040
Current assets MEEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries E’%H&Mﬁ%ﬂﬁj?ﬁﬁ 8,645,369 9,623,070
Loans to subsidiaries BERTHEA 10,973,673 9,674,307
Other receivables H th Uk 5RIR 6,524 5,597
Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted Txﬁﬁ%”fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
TR 244,804 675,618
19,870,370 19,978,592
Total assets BEMETE 20,690,572 20,798,632
EQUITY s
Share capital f& 7 334,691 334,691
Reserves s 5,094,646 5,124,508
Total equity e HEE 5,429,337 5,459,199
LIABILITIES =0
Current liabilities mEEE
Borrowings (R 10,973,673 9,674,307
Amount due to an intermediate holding &t —R/E B A
company GIE/ &= 228 77
Amounts due to subsidiaries JFEAS BT /B R Bl 3R IR 4,233,816 5611,914
Accruals and other payables JE 5 R I8 Fo B h FE -
IR 53,518 53,135
15,261,235 15,339,433
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Borrowings & — —
Total liabilities =N 15,261,235 15,339,433
Total equity and liabilities EmkEER 20,690,572 20,798,632
Net current assets mEEEFE 4,609,135 4,639,159
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERTDEE 5,429,337 5,459,199




42, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42, AT 2 BRI R B
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY xR (@)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Statement of reserves of the Company (b) AT ZREERE
Capital
Share Contributed redemption Retained
premium surplus reserve earnings Total
B
ROBE BHBR% HEoMHE KRERA pekec)
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T FET FHT T
(note 28(a))
(BfsE28(a)
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-—ZE-_=%—A—H
ot oo 4275172 491,773 769 442,033 5,209,747
Loss for the year FEEE = = — (85,239) (85,239)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+—-#
=t+—RZ&#% 4275172 491,773 769 356,794 5,124,508
Fair value change of other HBEE
financial asset DAREEE — 106 — — 106
Loss for the year FERBR - - —  (29968)  (29,968) il
E‘[
|
Balance at 31 December 2024 R-ZZE-_NF+=A [
=t+—Rz&H% 4,275,172 491,879 769 326,826 5,094,646 'l
43. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 43. # BB H{E
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue KR ERERZZE_AF=A=++H
by the board of directors on 27 March 2025. BEESHAEWRETRR -
T
&
=
T
e
E=)
e
H




GLOSSARY OF TERMS

v 52

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

EARFERA - BRXESBMEN - THIFEBEE N TEE

"Brightway Asset”
[FRBEE]

“Bye-laws”
[ERAA]

284

“23rd Metallurgical” The 23rd Metallurgical Construction Group Co., Ltd. of Minmetals*
[BfE—+=)al HE-T=0EREEFGRAF

"AGM” annual general meeting of the Company for 2024
[RERBEFRE ] AAB—_Z_NEERRBFARE

"Aloum Enterprises” Album Enterprises Limited

B EREEBRAA

"Board” the board of directors of the Company

[Exg] RRRZERSE

Brightway Asset Management Limited
REBEEEERBRAA

the amended and restated Bye-laws of the Company

ARRRIERT B ZZHA

"CG Code” the Corporate Governance Code
[xRERTAI dERERTA

&

5 “China”, "Mainland China” or “PRC" the People’s Republic of China

S [ B ) sk [ A B P it REARAME

é ‘China Minmetals" China Minmetals Corporation

< ['eh B % | FEAREESRA A
“China Minmetals Group” China Minmetals and its subsidiaries
[FEAOEEER] SAlERaR ) Yr el )N
"CMCL" China Minmetals Corporation Limited*
[ AR D hE ARG BR LD
"CMN” China Minmetals Non-Ferrous Metals Company Limited*
[HEAERD ] IEAEELBRMNARRAT
“CMNH" China Minmetals Non-Ferrous Holding Company Limited*
[hiEAEER] IEEEEBIERARRAR

a

= "Company” or “Minmetals Land” Minmetals Land Limited

2 (A AT ] S ERE ] A ERRAT

S

S

4

<<

i

=

=

=



"

“Condo Hong Kong”
[T EE]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

"GFA
[ mEmE iR

“Group”
[A&EH]

“Guangzhou Kuangmao”

[ & MM X

”HKs"

iyl

“Hong Kong” or "HKSAR”
[&E]

"June Glory”
[June Glory]

"

“Liaoning Industrial Park

EEEXE
“Listing Rules”
[ EmR AL

“Minmetals Cheerglory”
R

“Minmetals Finance”

[ i 81 7% |

“Minmetals HK"
[BERE]

“Minmetals Land Holdings”

[ o7 3 E 42 i

“Minmetals Properties Hunan”

[RREY R ]

Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong) Engineering Company Limited

hREmM (FE) TIEARAF]

director(s) of the Company

ARBIZE=R

gross floor area

fRIBE A

the Company and its subsidiaries

ARRRNEMERF]

Guangzhou Kuangmao Property Development Co., Ltd.*

BMNTREXFEHEREARAF

Hong Kong dollars

BT

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

PEEBRRITRER

June Glory International Limited
June Glory International Limited

Minmetals (Liaoning) Industrial Park Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*

hiE(BB)EXRERBRAF

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited
ERBMERIMBERARESF LHHRL

Minmetals Cheerglory Limited
ABEERBRAF

Minmetals Finance Co., Ltd.*

hiEEEVBERETAR

China Minmetals H.K. (Holdings) Limited
PEAEEBERAERADR

Minmetals Land Holdings Co., Ltd.*
ARt EE R AR AT

Minmetals Properties Service (Hunan) Co., Ltd.*

TEMERS i) BRAF
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
il 4

“Minmetals Real Estate”

[(REEX]

‘MMG"
[AREER]

“"Model Code”
[ %<7 Al

“NAV”
[EEFE]

"RMB”
AR

‘SFO"
[78 75 & A& 15451 |

“Share(s)”

[ A&7 ]
“Shareholder(s)”
[A&% 2

“Share Option Scheme”
[RE AT 2 )

“Shengshi Guangye”
[ EE]

“Shenzhen Kuangrun”

[RYIE R

“Shenzhen Runtou”

RYIE® ]

"sq.ft.”
[FFHR]

usq.m'lr

[ 55K

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bt 22 A

286

Minmetals Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
hiEEXBRAR

MMG Limited
hIEERBR AR

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers

EHETAEFETEZRRZNIEESTA

net asset value

BEFE

Renminbi

AR

Securities and Futures Ordinance

&5 R A E 1R

the ordinary share(s) of par value HK$0.1 each of the Company
ANATBREEIBITZ ERER

the shareholder(s) of the Company
ARB 2R

the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 7 June 2013

ARRRZZE-=FRNALBRANZBRETS

Minmetals Shengshi Guangye (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*
FRETEZEQER)BRAF

Shenzhen Kuangrun Property Development Co., Ltd.*

R TR A B B AR A

Shenzhen Runtou Consulting Co., Ltd.*
RYNTEIRERERAF

square feet

EHR

square metres

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMARSMARRDF



"Texion”
[>T

USss”
ES

"Xiefeng”
(152 ]

0"

[%]

* For identification purpose only

* EERFE

Texion Development Limited

EITERARA R

United States dollars

eV

Ningbo Yinzhou Xiefeng Corporate Management Co., Ltd.*
ERTHMBECEERFRAR

per cent

Bk
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

ABOUT CHINA MINMETALS CORPORATION

A1 e T 4 A R 2

Founded in 1950, China Minmetals is one of the largest State-owned
conglomerates that operates globally with core business in exploration,
mining, smelting, processing and trading for metals and minerals,
finance, real estate, and mining and metallurgic technology. China
Minmetals was ranked 69 among the US Fortune world top 500
enterprises in 2024.

China Minmetals has, in recent years, actively participated in
commercial estate development, construction and installation business
after it has a footing on the residential development and industrial
estate business. Accordingly, it has equipped with considerable
resources and has residential and commercial estate development in
the Pan Bohai Rim region and the eastern and central part of China.

China Minmetals through its Hong Kong subsidiary, Minmetals HK,
holds approximately 61.88% equity interest in Minmetals Land. Upon
the approval of inclusion of property development and operation to
the core business of China Minmetals by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council, China
Minmetals announced its intention to transform Minmetals Land into its
listed real estate flagship. Through gradual asset injection and
consolidation of its real estate resources, China Minmetals aims at the
listing of its real estate business and turning Minmetals Land eventually
into a leading real estate development corporation which creates
better returns to its Shareholders, employees and the society.
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18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

B3 Tel 1 2613 6363
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B H Email : info@minmetalsland.com
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